Agenda
For enquiries on this agenda, please contact:
Jean Cousens, Senior Democratic Services Officer
Tel: 0208 547 5023/ email:jean.cousens@kingston.gov.uk
Published on Tuesday 5 February 2019

Children's and Adults'
Care and Education Committee
Date:

Wednesday 13 February 2019

Time:

7:30 pm

Place:

Council Chamber, Guildhall, Kingston KT1 1EU

Members of the Committee
Councillor Margaret Thompson (Chair)
Councillor Diane White (Vice Chair)
Councillor Stephanie Archer, Councillor Mark Durrant, Councillor Sam Foulder-Hughes,
Councillor Ed Fram, Councillor Maria Netley, Councillor Munir Ravalia,
Councillor Anita Schaper, Councillor Chris Stuart, and Councillor Annette Wookey,
Advisory members: Jane Marwood (representing Southwark CE Diocese) and
GP Advisory members, Dr Naz Jivani and Dr Pete Smith.

Everyone is welcome to attend the meeting
This agenda is available to view on: www.kingston.gov.uk
You can also access this agenda through the Modern.gov app or by scanning the QR code
with your smartphone.

2

3

Agenda
1.

Public Question Time

A period of up to 30 minutes for public questions on matters relevant to the Committee’s
remit which are not related to items featuring on the agenda. Advance notice of
question is preferred but not essential.
2.

Apologies for Absence and Attendance of Substitute Members

3.

Declarations of interest

Members are invited to declare any pecuniary interests and any non-pecuniary interests
(personal interests) relevant to items on the agenda.
4.

Petitions

5.

Minutes

To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 22 November 2018.
6.

Home to School Travel Policy for Children with Special
Educational Needs and Disabilities

Appendix A

To consider two travel options within the existing Home to School Travel Policy for
children with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND) ie collection points on
selected school routes; and targeted independent travel training. To agree a minor
amendment to the existing policy in relation to an enhanced Parent Pay offer to those
parents and carers who organise their child’s own transport to and from school.
7.

Kingston Adult Education

Appendix B

1 - To transform the existing Council-operated Kingston Adult Education service in the
short to medium-term, in order to ensure key outcomes are met and to make the service
operationally more efficient and flexible.
2 - To scope and understand the potential for provider(s) to deliver adult education for
Kingston in the medium-term, with Committee approval to undertake a scoping exercise
of potential providers and opportunities.
8.

Fostering Allowances

Appendix C

To align fostering fees across Richmond, Kingston and Windsor and Maidenhead as
part of the successful registration of the Independent Fostering Agency.

4
9.

Older People's Accommodation: transforming bed-based care
for Older People and those with dementia and complex needs

Appendix D

To report progress on the development of a specialist dementia nursing home for older
people to be built, subject to planning approval, by the Council in Brown’s Road,
Surbiton, KT5 8SP and authorise further work to develop the options for a Council
Owned trading company to operate the home.
10.

Kingston & Richmond LSCB Annual Report 2017-18

Appendix E

To receive the Local Safeguarding Children’s Board (LSCB) 2017/18 Annual Report to
be presented at the Committee meeting by the LSCB Chair, Chris Robson.
11.

Admission Arrangements 2020/21 for all community schools
and co-ordinated admissions schemes

Appendix F

To fulfil the statutory duty for the local authority to approve school admission
arrangements
12.

Urgent Items authorised by the Chair

13.

Exclusion of the Press and Public

The following resolution is included as a standard item which will only be relevant if any exempt
matter is to be considered at the meeting for which the Committee wish to resolve to exclude the
press and public:
To exclude the public from the meeting under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act
1972 on the grounds that it is likely that exempt information, as defined in paragraph x of Part I
of Schedule 12A to the Act, would be disclosed and the public interest in maintaining the
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.
In the event of exclusion being agreed, members of the public and press are to withdraw to the
Reception on the ground floor of the Guildhall to await re-admission to the Chamber.

5

Welcome to this meeting.
The following information explains the way some things are done at the meeting and some of
the procedures.
Information about the Children's and Adults' Care and Education Committee
The Committee is made up of your local elected Councillors and is responsible for making
decisions about local services, which can be tailored to the local area.
Accessibility





All meetings have access for people who may have mobility difficulties. If there are stairs,
a lift or stairlift is available. Disabled parking spaces are available on site.
Toilet facilities will be easily accessible from the meeting room.
For people who are deaf or have hearing impairments, there is an induction loop
(depending on the building, this may only be available in the first 2 or 3 rows).
A large print copy of the agenda can be requested in advance.

Emergency evacuation arrangements - If the fire alarm sounds, please leave the building by
the nearest exit. If you require assistance please remain seated and an Officer will assist you
from the building.
Webcasting of the meeting - This meeting will be webcast live on https://kingston.publici.tv/core/portal/home and a recording will also be available to watch back a few hours
afterwards. Recordings are accessible for a period of 12 months. Members of the public sitting
in the public seating area will not generally be in direct camera shot but we cannot always
guarantee this, so please note that, by attending the meeting, you are consenting to being
filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound recordings for webcasting and/or
training purposes.
Filming - Residents and journalists/media wishing to film meetings are permitted to do so but
are asked to give advance notice of this and respect any concerns expressed by people on
being filmed.
Information for members of the public - Details on access to the meeting, asking questions,
speaking on items, call in and other information are just after the list of items.
There is a Question Time of up to 30 minutes from 7.30pm – 8pm.
Running order - Items may be taken in a different order depending on the interests of the
members of the public present at the meeting. Please fill out a green form, available at the start
of the meeting, if you would like to request that a particular item is heard earlier.
Contact for further information - about Council Committees and meetings please contact:
Jean Cousens, Senior Democratic Services Officer, Tel: 0208 547 5023/email
jean.cousens@kingston.gov.uk

6

More meeting information
Public participation during the meeting - During the course of the meeting, the Chair, at
his/her discretion, may allow contributions, on items listed on the agenda. To attract the
Chair’s attention please raise your hand.
Do you want to ask a question or are you here for a particular item? - There are some
green slips on the chairs and there are more copies. These can be used to ask a question
or to ask for an item to be taken earlier in the meeting. Please fill in the relevant part and
hand this in to the Committee Secretary at the top table.
Question time - Questions may be submitted in writing before the meeting or handed in at
the start of the meeting on the green forms provided. For enquiries please contact Jean
Cousens, Senior Democratic Services Officer, Tel: 0208 547 5023/email
jean.cousens@kingston.gov.uk
Where a full reply cannot be given at the meeting, a written reply will be sent to the
questioner, members of the Committee and the local press. The Chair may disallow any
question which, in his/her opinion, is scurrilous, capricious, irrelevant or otherwise
objectionable.
Speaking at meetings - Speaking at a meeting can be a daunting prospect and every
effort is made to make this as easy as possible. Speech friendly arrangements will take
account of people who may have a speech impairment, e.g. they may have a stammer. If
you have any individual requirements or feel that standing or addressing the meeting may
present a difficulty, please let us know beforehand. Arrangements will be made to help you
as far as reasonably possible.
Phrases used at meetings - Like all organisations, the Council has its own ‘jargon’. On
the agenda and during debates you will see/hear the following phrases:

Interests - Councillors must say if they have an interest in any of the items on the
agenda. Interests may be personal or pecuniary. Depending on the interests declared, it
might be necessary for the Councillor to leave the meeting. The detail on interests is in Part
5A of the Constitution - Members’ Code of Conduct.

Call In - Most of the decisions made at the Committee, except on decisions on
planning applications/ planning enforcement/tree preservation orders and any licensing
applications, can be called in for review by a minimum of 100 people who live, work or study
in the Borough or 9 Councillors. A Decision Notice will be published on the Council’s
website soon after the meeting with details of the decisions and the call in period expires
10 working days after the meeting. Decisions are not, therefore, acted upon until it is clear
that they are not going to be called in.
The call in means the decision will be reviewed by a meeting of the Council’s Scrutiny
Panel. The Panel at this meeting cannot change the original decision. It may decide that no
further action is necessary, in which case the decision will be implemented or will refer the
issue back to the decision making Committee (or, exceptionally, to a meeting of the Full
Council) with its views and a request that the decision is reconsidered taking account of
these views.
Minutes - The minutes briefly summarise the item and record the decision. They do not
record who said what during the debate.

A1
Children’s and Adults’ Care and Education Committee
13 February 2019

Appendix A

Home to School Travel Policy for Children with Special Educational Needs and
Disabilities
Report by Director of Children’s Services
Call-in deadline 5pm on Wednesday 27 February 2019 (ten working days after the
meeting)
Purpose
This report proposes the implementation of two travel options within the existing Home to
School Travel Policy for children with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND).
These are: collection points on selected school routes; and targeted independent travel
training. The report also proposed a minor amendment to the existing policy in relation to an
enhanced Parent Pay offer to those parents and carers who organise their child’s own
transport to and from school.
Recommendations of the Portfolio Holder for Children’s Services
To resolve that 1.

subject to consideration by the Director of Children’s Services, in consultation with the
Portfolio Holder, of the responses from the targeted consultations referred to in
paragraph 12, collection points are implemented on selected routes to improve
efficiency and, wherever possible, reduce journey times for pupils;

2.

targeted independent travel training is implemented for young people with SEND to
promote independence, life skills and their future employability;

3.

an enhanced parent pay offer is implemented which supports families to arrange
transport between home and school for their own child, by increasing the payment rate
from 47 pence per mile to £1 per mile where appropriate and agreed.

4.

it be noted that agreement to the recommendations above would create a stand-alone
SEN Transport policy for the RB of Kingston upon Thames, replacing the existing AfC
SEN Transport policy which covers the LB of Richmond also.

Benefits to the Community:
Implementing these travel options will enable the Council to better promote children’s and
young people’s skills and independence, whilst operating a home to school travel service that
operates within the financial resources available.
Key Points
A.

The Council has a statutory duty under the Education Act 1996 to provide free home to
school transport, where necessary, for pupils with SEND who are of compulsory school
age (aged 5 to 16), where their nearest suitable school is beyond two miles (if they are
under the age of eight) or beyond three miles (if they are between the aged of eight and
16). 410 children and young people are currently in receipt of SEND transport in
Kingston under the eligibility criteria in the current SEND transport policy.

B.

The Council set out its approach and eligibility criteria for the provision of home to
school transport in its Home to School Travel Policy for pupils with SEND, which was
approved at the Children’s and Adults’ Committee on 16 March 2016. The policy is
attached to this report as Annex 1. The policy included the options to implement

A2
collection points on selected school routes, independent travel training, and an
allowance for those parents wishing to transport their own child to and from school.

C.

There has been significant financial pressure on the budget for home to school transport
since 2014/15. There are three main reasons for this: the implementation of the Children
and Families Act 2014 which extended the eligible age range of children and young
people with SEND for educational support from 19 to 25; the increasing complexity of
children’s and young people’s needs and the requirement for individualised support
and/or solo travel options; and an increase in the number of pupils educated at a distance
from the borough based on their assessed needs. In 2017/18 there was a £369,000
overspend on home to school travel; in 2018/19 this is projected to be £357,000.

D.

The Children and Families Act 2014 places a specific responsibility on Councils to
promote the independence of children and young people with SEND. This includes
promoting greater independence in travel to and from school. In order to better manage
the financial pressures on the home to school travel budget, and to better promote the
independence and life skills of young people with SEND, it is proposed to implement two
options within the existing Home to School Travel Policy. These are: (i) the
implementation of collection points on approximately 13 school transport routes for
ambulant pupils subject to an assessment of their needs and consultation with their
parents or carers; and (ii) the introduction of targeted independent travel training for
pupils in Year 8 onwards where an assessment indicates that they would be able to
complete the programme in order to travel independently to and from school.

E.

The reimbursement of mileage costs for parents transporting their child to and from
school is included within the Home to School Travel Policy. The reimbursement rate is
currently 47 pence per mile. There is low take-up of this option. It is proposed to increase
the reimbursement rate to £1 per mile to increase take-up of the scheme.

Context
-

Statutory duty

1.

The Adults and Children’s Committee (the predecessor Committee to the Children’s
and Adults Care and Education Committee) approved the Home to School Travel
Policy for pupils with SEND at its meeting on 16 March 2016. The policy sets out
the travel support that will be provided to pupils with SEND in line with the Council’s
statutory duty in the Education Act 1996 to ensure that suitable travel arrangements
are made, where necessary, to facilitate their attendance at school. The Council
also has a statutory duty under the Children and Families Act 2014 to support
children and parents or young people with SEND in order to facilitate the
development of the child or young person and to help him or her achieve the best
possible educational and other outcomes.

2.

The statutory duty under the Education Act 1996 requires all local authorities to
provide free home to school transport where necessary for pupils with SEN who are
of compulsory school age (ages 5 to 16, that is from the start of their Reception
Year to the end of Year 11), where their nearest suitable school is beyond two miles
(if they are under the age of eight) or beyond three miles (if they are between the
ages of eight and 16). The Council is also required to provide free home to school
transport for pupils who live within the statutory walking distance but who need
transport because it is not reasonable for them to walk to school, accompanied as
necessary due to mobility problems, SEN or the nature of the route to school.

3.

For pupils and students who do not meet these age criteria the Council must
consider what arrangements are necessary for home to school transport. The

A3
SEND Home to School Policy provides that in exceptional circumstances, children
and young people who fall outside of this age-based criteria may be eligible for
home to school travel. The individual needs of the child or young person will
determine this entitlement, rather than whether or not the child has an Education
Health Care Plan (EHCP).

4.

5.

Financial performance

The home to school travel service has experienced financial pressures since
2014/15 leading to significant overspending. There are a number of reasons for this:
implementation of the Children and Families Act 2014 which extended the eligible
age range of children and young people with SEND for special educational support
from 18 to 25; the increasing complexity of children’s and young people’s needs
and the requirement for individualised support and/or use of solo travel options; and
an increase in the number of pupils educated in school placements at a distance
from the borough based on their assessed needs and parental preference.
Financial controls and re-commissioning of some SEND transport services have
helped to manage the budget; however, the increasing number of children and
young people with SEND year-on-year means that the financial pressures are
increasing. In 2017/18, there was a £369,000 overspend on home to school travel;
in 2018/19 this is projected to be £357,000.
2015/16
(£)

2016/17
(£)

2017/18
(£)

2018/19
(£)

Budget

2,355,600

2,429,000

2,547,700

2,558,600

Spend

2,685,600

2,921,459

2,916,700

2,915,600

330,000

492,458

369,000

357,000

6,714

7,160

7,291

7,111

Overspend
Average cost
6.

This financial position is not specific to Kingston. Home to school travel is widely
recognised by most local authorities as a significant financial pressure. A 2018
survey by London Councils identified that 26 out of the 30 responding local
authorities in London (87%) had experienced overspends on the SEND transport
budgets in 2016/17 – averaging £1 million per borough. The survey also noted that
the cost of delivering home to school travel had increased by 20% between 2013/14
and 2016/17 and, without action, was predicted to continue to increase at a similar
rate over the next three to five years.

Proposals
7.

In order to better manage the financial pressures in home to school travel, primarily
as a result of increasing need, it is proposed to implement three options within the
current Home to School Travel Policy. These are the introduction of collection
points on selected routes and the provision of targeted independent travel training.
The implementation of these travel options would also support the Council in better
meeting its statutory responsibility in the Children and Families Act 2014 to help
prepare children and young people with SEND for independence and successful
transition to adulthood. It is also proposed to enable the parent pay offer to support

A4
families to make their own home to school travel arrangements. These options are
detailed in paragraphs 8 to 11 below.

- Collection points
8.

Collection points have been used successfully in Kingston for St Philip’s Special
School pupils since 2004. The use of collection points is contained within the
current Home to School Travel Policy (see paragraphs 73 and 74 of the policy).
Collection points will be used on selected bus routes where pupils are ambulant. It
should reduce some journey times to and from school and help to support children
in their readiness to learn and participate in the school day. It is proposed to
introduce collection points on five routes from April 2019 subject to an assessment
of individual pupils’ needs and consultation with their parents and carers.
Implementation of this aspect of the current policy will impact on up to 74 pupils
(18% of the current cohort).

- Independent travel training
9.

The promotion of independent travel training is included within the Home to School
Travel Policy (see paragraphs 65 to 67). The Special Educational Needs and
Disability Code of Practice requires all local authorities to promote the
independence and life skills of young people, in particular in their transition to
adulthood. The use of independent travel training is an important mechanism for
supporting young people to become more independent, acquire key life skills,
develop their interests and friendship networks, and increase opportunities for
employment.

10.

Participation in independent travel training has historically been steady with 59
young people starting the four-week programme over the last four years from Jan
2015 to Jan 2019. (7% of the current cohort in 2018/19). The programme currently
offers 30 places across Kingston or Richmond per year it is anticipated that a
minimum of 8% or 30 of the current Kingston cohort of pupils could commence
some form of independent travel training from Year 8 onwards; it is therefore
proposed to implement a targeted independent travel training programme for these
pupils to increase take-up and completion from April 2019. It is expected to increase
the participation rate to 30 Kingston pupils per academic year with at least 80%
successfully completing the programme.

- Parent pay
11.

The reimbursement of mileage costs for parents transporting their child to and from
school is included within the Home to School Travel Policy (see paragraph 59). The
current reimbursement rate is 47 pence per mile. There is low take-up of this option
with just 24 families and carers transporting their own children in 2018/19 (6% of the
current cohort). It is proposed to increase the reimbursement rate to £1 per mile
where it is beneficial and is likely to increase take up (predominantly on solo routes
where only one child is being transported as this is significantly more expensive
than a shared route). It is expected that an additional 20 pupils will be transported
using this option from September 2019.

Consultations
12.

Consultation was completed with parents and carers of children and young people
with SEND during the development and of the Home to School Travel Policy in
2016. This included consultation with the formal Parent Carer Forum. No additional
consultation has taken place on the proposals contained within this report as there

A5
are not disadvantageous changes proposed to the current policy. The introduction
of collection points and targeted independent travel training will be subject to an
assessment of individual children and young people in line with the requirements
set out in the current policy; this will include consultation with the child’s or young
person’s parent or carer.

Timescale
13.

Collection points, targeted independent travel training and the enhanced parent pay
offer would be implemented from Tuesday 23 April 2019 ie immediately after the
Easter holidays. We have successfully delivered the collection point arrangements
with St. Philip’s Special School pupils since 2004 in Kingston. We currently have
mini bus routes going to St Philip’s that school and for the same reason set out
above in 2004 we introduced collection points. Collection points are where we
identify designated pick up points for the pupil to meet the bus rather than do door
to door pick up. This reduces the time needed for the route to pick up the pupils and
arrive at the destination, allows us to allocate more pupils to each route, and in line
with our broader aims supports children and young people to become more
independent and prepares them for adulthood.

Resource Implications
14.

The total budget for home to school travel is £2,558,600 in 2018/19. The
implementation of the travel options set out in this report should realise an efficiency
saving of £384,022 which will help to bring the budget into balance. The remaining
shortfall will need to be delivered through operational efficiencies in the
management of the SEND travel service and by delivering better value from existing
commissioning arrangements.
Total Budget 2018/19

£2,558,600

Projected overspend 2018/19

£357,000

Total efficiency savings 2019/20

£384,022

Legal Implications
15.

The Council has a duty under section 508B of the Education Act 1996 to secure
that suitable home to school travel arrangements are made and provided free of
charge for eligible children. The duty applies to all children in the authority’s area
and not solely to pupils with SEN. Eligibility is based on whether the child can
reasonably be expected to walk to school (accompanied as necessary), having
regards to SEN or mobility issues, and the distance from the child’s home to the
nearest suitable school. Children living further than the statutory walking distance to
school are eligible.

16.

The availability of free travel for pupils in London through the Oyster Card system
and the availability of suitable local school places means that the majority of pupils
needing transport are pupils with SEN. Travel arrangements may be provision of
transport or, by agreement with the child’s parent, other arrangements such as
provision of a travel escort, provision of travel expenses, or payment of allowances
for travel. Where there is a duty to make travel arrangements, the arrangements
must be suitable to enable the child’s attendance at school.

17.

A6
The Council has a discretion under section 508B of the Education Act 1996 to
provide travel assistance or pay or contribute to travel expenses for children who do
not have a statutory eligibility for transport and a power under section 509A of the
Act to provide travel assistance to children receiving early years’ education
otherwise than at school.

18.

In relation to students of sixth form age, the Council is required by section 509AA of
the 1996 Act to set out in an annual policy statement the arrangements that the
authority makes and that governing bodies make for travel for sixth form age students
and travel concessions available for them. The statement must set out what
arrangements the council considers necessary to make in particular for disabled
students and students with learning difficulties and disabilities. In considering what
arrangements it is necessary to make, the local authority must consider: the distance
from the learner’s home to establishments of education and training; the journey time
to access different establishments; the cost of transport to the establishments in
question; and alternative means of facilitating attendance at establishments. In
considering whether it is necessary to make arrangements in relation to an individual
student, the authority must have regard (amongst other things), to the nature of the
route, or alternative route, he could reasonably be expected to take.

19.

For children aged 5 to 16 with statutory eligibility to home to school transport, the
implementation of collection points has been held to be lawful in R [M] v. Hounslow
(2013) because the duty to provide transport does not amount to a duty to make
door-to-door arrangements; however, each child or young person will need to
individually assessed and this assessment must consider the individual
circumstances of their parents or carers. Travel training can be offered as alternative
to home to school transport where suitable for the child and with the agreement of the
parent.

20.

Whilst there is no statutory definition of eligibility for transport for students over
compulsory school age, the council must assess what arrangements for transport it
considers to be necessary and would need to be able to show that it had acted
reasonably and taken account of all relevant factors, including in particular the factors
set out in the legislation.

21.

Where a significant change is proposed to transport policy, appropriate consultation
with relevant stakeholders should be carried out. Consultation needs to take place at
time when proposals are at a formative stage, give sufficient reasons and there must
be adequate time given for consideration and response. Consultation should also be
used to inform detailed equalities impact assessments.

22.

In considering any service changes the Council must conscientiously consider the
responses to consultation and must have regard to its statutory duties under the
Equality Act 2010 and the Children Act 2011. Under the Equality Act, section 149,
the Council must, when exercising its functions, have due regard to the need to
eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct prohibited
by the Act and to advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations between
those who share a ‘protected characteristic’ under the Act and those who do not
share a protected characteristic. A ‘protected characteristic’ is defined in the Act as
age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or
belief, sex and sexual orientation. Marriage and civil partnership are also protected
characteristics for the purposes of the duty to eliminate discrimination. The Children
Act 2004 section 11 requires that the council must make arrangements for ensuring

A7
that its functions are discharged having regard to the need to safeguard and promote
the welfare of children.

Risk Assessment
23.

A risk assessment has been completed and the relevant risks added to the
corporate risk register for monitoring. The most significant risk relates to the poor
assessment of children’s and young people’s home to school travel needs in terms
of each child’s or young person’s suitability for collection points or independent
travel training. The assessment process has been strengthened in response to this
risk, and appeal processes are in place.

Equalities Impact Assessment
24.

Achieving for Children undertakes regular Equality Assessments to better
understand the impact of its work on children, young people and families. A full
equalities impact assessment was completed on the Home to School Travel Policy
in 2016. The home to school travel service is used by 410 children and young
people at the start of the academic year in September 2018. It is estimated that the
implementation of the travel options proposed in this report will impact on 126 of
these pupils (30%). Equalities considerations will be fully explored in the individual
assessment of children’s and young people’s ability to travel from collection points
and participate in independent travel training.

Health Implications
25.

Protecting pupils’ health and safety during travel to school is a key consideration of
the Home to School Travel Policy.

Road Network Implications
26.

Collection points would be carefully sited in consultation with the Council’s transport
planners to meet the needs of children and young people with SEND and to ensure
that they did not cause additional traffic disruption.

Environmental & Air Quality Implications

27.

The Home to School Travel Policy supports the Council’s duty to promote the use of
sustainable travel and transport; it includes the promotion of walking routes and the
provision of independent travel training to promote the use of public transport
options.

Annex
Annex 1: Home to School Transport Policy

Background papers held by the author of the report, Eamonn Gilbert
Associate Director for Commissioning, tel 020 8547 5283
Email: eamonn.gilbert@achievingforchildren.org.uk

A8

A9
Annex 1

Achieving for Children on behalf of
the London Borough of Richmond upon Thames and
the Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames

SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS & DISABILITIES
HOME TO SCHOOL TRANSPORT POLICY

Date to be revised: January 2021

A10

Contents
Introduction.................................................................................................................................. 1
Policy statement........................................................................................................................... 1
Eligibility ....................................................................................................................................... 3
All pupils .................................................................................................................................... 3
School-age pupils with SEND .................................................................................................... 4
Pre-school children with SEND ................................................................................................. 4
Post-16 students with SEND ..................................................................................................... 5
Transition to adulthood ............................................................................................................ 6
Short-term difficulties ............................................................................................................... 7
Respite and foster care ............................................................................................................. 8
Re-housed children ................................................................................................................... 8
Dual & link placements, inclusion and pupil referral units ....................................................... 8
Residential schools.................................................................................................................... 9
Application Process .................................................................................................................... 10
Assessing transport assistance entitlement for pupils with SEND ......................................... 10
SEN Statements and Education, Health and Care Plans ......................................................... 11
Nearest suitable school and parental preference .................................................................. 12
Appeals.................................................................................................................................... 12
Transport assistance options ..................................................................................................... 13
Independent travel ................................................................................................................. 15
Passenger assistants ............................................................................................................... 15
Implementing the policy ............................................................................................................ 16
Transport management .......................................................................................................... 16
Pick-up and drop-off arrangements ....................................................................................... 16
Timing...................................................................................................................................... 16
Absences ................................................................................................................................. 18
Alternative arrangements ....................................................................................................... 18
Parents with other commitments ........................................................................................... 18
Severe weather ....................................................................................................................... 19
Risk assessments ..................................................................................................................... 19
Medication .............................................................................................................................. 19
Journey times .......................................................................................................................... 20
Behaviour standards ............................................................................................................... 20
Providing a quality service ......................................................................................................... 22
Transport standards ................................................................................................................ 22

A11
Continuity................................................................................................................................ 23
Safeguarding ........................................................................................................................... 23
Local Authority Designated Officer ......................................................................................... 24
Comments, compliments and complaints .............................................................................. 24
Equalities statement .................................................................................................................. 25

A12

Introduction
1.

Home to school transport in the London Borough of Richmond and Royal Borough of
Kingston upon Thames (the Councils) is delivered by Achieving for Children (AfC). AfC
is a social enterprise company created by the two Councils to provide their children’s
services.

2.

The Councils and AfC are committed to meeting the educational needs of as many
children and young people as possible within local schools. In most cases, this will
mean that children and young people can walk or cycle to school with their parents or
carers. This policy sets out how we will help the small number of children and young
people who find it difficult to travel to school without some assistance.

Policy statement
3.

The Councils are committed to ensuring that all children and young people lead safe
and healthy lives and have access to high quality education so that they are able to
achieve their full potential. The Children and Young People’s Plans commit partners to
work together to develop services that strengthen the abilities and resilience of
children and their families to be independent. This includes encouraging partners to
work together to increase the independence of children and young people with special
educational needs and disabilities (SEND).

4.

This policy sets out the criteria for eligibility for travel assistance, how parents and
carers should apply for travel assistance, how decisions are made and how parents and
carers may appeal against decisions that they believe do not comply with this policy.
The intention of this policy is to ensure that children and young people with SEND are
appropriately supported to access suitable education.

5.

The policy has been developed in consultation with parents and carers and is based on
the statutory requirements placed on local authorities in Home to School Travel and
Transport: Statutory Guidance for Local Authorities (Department for Education, 2014),
as well as the Special educational needs and disability code of practice: 0 to 25 years
Statutory guidance for organisations which work with and support children
(Department for Education, 2015) and the Local Offer (www.afclocaloffer.org.uk).

6.

This policy applies only to children and young people with SEND. It requires that
eligibility for such children should be assessed on an individual basis to identify the
child’s individual transport requirements. There is a separate home to school
transport policy for all other pupils.

1

A13
7.

Local Authorities duties to provide SEND transport applies only to children and young
people of statutory school age (ages five to 16). All other SEND transport provision set
out in this policy is provided on a discretionary basis.

8.

This policy applies to all children and young people who are resident in Richmond upon
Thames or Kingston upon Thames (or who are children in the care of either Council).
The policy defines home to school transport as between a pupil’s main home address
and his or her school. A pupil’s main home address is the place where he or she is
habitually and normally resident.

9.

This policy applies only to home-to-school travel arrangements. It does not, for
example, relate to: transport to sports facilities; work experience or work placements,
apprenticeships or traineeships; medical appointments; visits to other schools or
locations (including school trips); collection from school due to illness; parental
attendance at meetings; travel to or from extended hours school clubs or exams.
Where pupils have more than one address, home to school transport will be based on
the residence where the pupil habitually resides.

10.

If schools would like a pupil to attend a part-time timetable (either to transition on a
shorter day basis to a new school placement, or where a child has been placed on a
reduced timetable) the school must communicate with the SEND Transport Service
and seek approval before putting this in place.

11.

Transport assistance can only be provided on the basis of assessed need, rather than
parental preference. All parents and carers requiring transport assistance for their
child should submit an application for transport assistance. Only on receipt of an
application will be transport assistance be considered.

12.

Only where a child or young person is assessed as meeting the eligibility criteria set out
in this policy, will he or she be entitled to assistance with transport between home and
school.

13.

AfC will assess and consider home to school transport on the basis of the most
efficient and cost-effective use of the Councils’ resources.

2

A14

Eligibility
All pupils
14.

The legal responsibility for ensuring children and young people receive education rests
with their parents or carers. Generally, parents and carers are expected to make their
own arrangements for ensuring children and young people travel to and from school
to guarantee that they attend school regularly.

15.

Under-18s are eligible for free and/or discounted rates of travel within London. There
are different schemes for different age ranges and you may need to apply for an
Oyster photocard. For further information, please go to the Transport for London (TfL)
website, https://tfl.gov.uk/. AfC expects pupils to make use of the free/discounted
travel available and applications for this should be made directly to TfL.

16.

Local authorities have a statutory duty to provide free transport to all pupils who meet
the statutory walking distances eligibility criteria set out in the Home to School Travel
and Transport guidance:



If a child is under 8 years of age and lives over two miles from school; or
If a child is aged between 8 and 16 years and lives over three miles from school.

In both cases, the pupil must be attending the nearest suitable school. This is defined
as a school which has places available and that the local authority deems to provide
education appropriate to the age, aptitude and ability of the pupil and any SEND he or
she may have.
17.

In addition, for pupils who are entitled to free school meals or their parents or carers
are in receipt of maximum Working Tax Credit, free travel assistance will be provided,
if:




The nearest suitable school is beyond two miles (for children over the age of 8 and
under 11);
The school is between two and six miles (for children aged 11-16 where there are
not three or more suitable nearer schools);
The school is between two and 15 miles and is the nearest school preferred on the
grounds of religion or belief (for children aged 11-16).

18.

Local authorities are also required to make transport arrangements for all pupils who
cannot reasonably be expected to walk to their nearest suitable school because the
nature of the route is deemed inappropriate.

19.

In the case of an eligible child, there is no duty to provide free school transport unless
either:
3

A15




No arrangements relating to travel in either direction between the pupil’s home
and school are provided free of charge by any other person or organisation; or
Such travel arrangements are provided, but (even if taken together with any other
such arrangements) they are not suitable for the purpose of facilitating the pupil’s
attendance at school.

School-age pupils with SEND
20.

Local authorities must make transport arrangements for all children who cannot
reasonably be expected to walk to school because of their mobility problems or
because of associated health and safety issues related to their SEND. Eligibility for
such children should be assessed on an individual basis to identify the pupil’s particular
transport requirements. Usual transport requirements (for example, the statutory
walking distances) will not be considered when assessing the transport needs of
children and young people who are eligible due to their SEND.

Pre-school children with SEND
21.

Local authorities do not have a duty to provide or arrange free transport for children
who have not yet reached statutory school age. However, transport assistance
applications will be considered for children below statutory school age in some
exceptional circumstances and it is expected that such children will already have an
Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP). In applying this exemption, AfC must be
satisfied that, without such assistance, the child would be prevented from attending
an appropriate nursery or early years’ education placement.

22.

The general expectation is that a pre-school child will be accompanied on transport by
a parent or carer, unless there is a good reason why it would not reasonable to expect
parents or carers to do so.

23.

In assessing eligibility for pre-school children, particular attention will be paid to the
following criteria:






The age of the child;
The distance between home and nursery;
The SEND of the child;
The reasons for the pre-school education placement; and
Whether the child has other siblings (of an age where it is not reasonable to expect
them to travel alone) attending school(s) a significant distance away from the
provision proposed for the child.

4

A16
Post-16 students with SEND
24.

Where it is decided that a statutory school age pupil is eligible for transport, the
entitlement to this provision may continue up to, and including, the academic year in
which they turn 16 years old (although current eligibility is no indication of future
eligibility).

25.

Local authorities do not currently have a statutory duty to provide or arrange free
transport to or from post-16 education placements (including sixth form provision or
colleges) for students aged 16 years and over since these young people are above
statutory school age.

26.

Local authorities do have a duty to specify the arrangements for the provision of
transport or otherwise that it considers is necessary to facilitate the attendance of all
young persons aged 16 and over receiving education or training. The duty applies in
respect of arrangements for young people (over statutory school age) aged 16 to 18
and those continuing learners who started their programme of learning before their
19th birthday.

27.

Where a pupil with SEND remains based at the school named in their Statement of
Special Educational Needs (Statement) or EHCP beyond their 16th birthday, AfC will
ordinarily continue to arrange their transport until the end of the academic year in
which they turn 19 years of age. Where a young person’s school or college changes
post-16, his or her eligibility for travel assistance will be re-assessed - see paragraph 28
for further information.

28.

A student aged 16 to 19 studying at a school or college or on a training course
(including an unpaid apprenticeship or traineeship) is entitled to apply for a bursary,
which can be used for transport. The application is made directly to the education
provider (for example, school or college). Information about applying for a bursary is
available at www.gov.uk/1619-bursary-fund/overview. Prior to requesting post-16
travel assistance, a student would be expected to have applied for a bursary and, if in
receipt of one, to be spending at least one-third of it on travel.

29.

In assessing eligibility for students in post-16 education and training, particular
attention will be paid to the following criteria:





Whether this student is in current receipt of a bursary fund and to what value;
The location of the sixth form unit or college the student would like to attend
(if this is not local provision, the Councils and AfC would need to know that the
course being taken is not available locally);
Whether the sixth form unit is an extension to the school previously attended
by the student and named in their Statement or EHCP; and
5

A17

30.

The SEND of the student.

Where it is agreed to provide travel assistance to young people post-16 education and
training, the assistance will take one of three forms:





Reimbursement of train/tube travel, where students have received
independent travel training and are able to use public transport to make solo
journeys (parents or carers would need to confirm that this person is able to
travel independently);
Mileage reimbursement, where students are not able to travel independently,
but where parents or carers are able to provide transport; or
A standard travel allowance, equivalent in value to a mileage reimbursement,
which can be put towards the cost of alternative transport (for example, a
private taxi) where students are not able to travel independently and parents
or carers are not able to provide transport.

Reimbursements and standard travel allowances are calculated in accordance with net
household income. These figures are reviewed on a regular basis.
For the academic year 2016/17:
If your net household income is:
Up to £20,817 per year
£20,818 – £25,521 per year
£25,522 - £30,810 per year
£30,811 or more per year

Reimbursement percentage
100% of transport costs
65% of transport costs
35% of transport costs
Discretionary, dependent on total
value of household income and
total cost of transport

Transition to adulthood
31.

Transport may continue to be provided up to the end of the academic year in which a
young person turns 19 years of age (for example, if his or her birthday is in December,
he or she may continue to receive transport until July in the following year);
consideration of any future transport needs will form part of the young persons
transition into adulthood plan. Adult Services within the local authority work closely
with children’s services and take a lead in this for adult services. Information is
available from:

6

A18

Kingston Adult Social Care

adults@kingston.gov.uk
020 8547 5005
adultsocialservices@richmond.gov.uk
020 8891 7971

Richmond Adult Social Care

Short-term difficulties
32.

Pupils who do not receive transport assistance: pupils who have short-term
difficulties (for example, a short-term illness or health difficulty) may be eligible for
transport assistance to and from school.

33.

Pupils receiving bus transport provision: where a child receives home to school
transport from a private bus company and cannot get to and from a collection point
(for example, due to a broken leg or other short-term illness) temporary assistance
may be offered as replacement for this service. Although the child’s SEND has not
changed, temporary physical or medical constraints make it difficult for the child to
access the service.

34.

Pupils who have temporarily changed address: transport assistance may not be
provided where a child who usually receives assistance moves to a different address in
the short-term if the changed address results in additional transport costs. The parent
or carer will be expected to pay any additional costs associated with the short-term
move, or make their own transport arrangements.

35.

Parents with a disability or illness: where a parent with a disability or illness has
difficulty in getting their child to and from school, additional support may be provided
by adult social care services within the local authorities.

36.

Parents with authorised mileage allowances: temporary assistance may be provided
in those instances where parents or carers in receipt of authorised mileage allowances
cannot transport their child to and from school due to a short-term illness.

37.

Parents who are unable to take their child to a collection point: no temporary
assistance will be provided in those circumstances where a parent or carer is unable to
take their child to and from a collection point for onward transport to school by a
private bus company. This is because the child’s special educational need or disability
has not changed and the transport service from the collection point is still available.

7

A19
Respite and foster care
38.

While providing transport to and from respite and foster care is not a statutory duty,
the Councils and AfC recognise that respite care provides valuable and necessary
support to parents and carers. Applications for transport from a respite care
placement to the pupil’s school will therefore be considered. It is the responsibility of
the parents or carers to notify the SEN Transport Service of the dates of respite at least
ten days in advance to allow sufficient time to plan the transport.

Re-housed children
39.

If a family has moved to an address within a different local authority area, the
responsibility for the child’s Statement or EHCP and their home to school transport
transfers to the local authority area in which they are residing. This is because the
family have become ordinarily resident in the new area. This is the case regardless of
which local authority is paying the family’s housing costs.

40.

Ordinary residence is established if there is a regular habitual mode of life in a
particular place "for the time being", whether this is of short or long duration, the
continuity of which has persisted apart from temporary or occasional absences.

Dual & link placements, inclusion and pupil referral units
41.

Dual placements are where a pupil attends more than one school, or where a school
arranges a college link placement for a pupil. Dual placements may require additional
transport assistance, such as transport at earlier or later times, or during the school
day. Schools are responsible for arranging and paying for the cost of such transport.
Where a pupil is on roll at one school but visits another school or college for inclusion
or link purposes, the school where the pupil is usually based will be responsible for
arranging and paying for transport. These arrangements also apply to pupil referral
units.

42.

AfC has the discretion to arrange transport for integration purposes.

43.

The Councils and AfC expect all pupils attending pupil referral units to travel between
home and the unit by bus if they have not made alternative arrangements. All bus
transport for children aged 18 and under is provided by Transport for London free of
charge with the use of the correct Oyster photo-card – www.tfl.gov.uk.

8

A20
Residential schools
44.

Pupils attending termly boarding school placements funded by the local authority for a
standard 38 to 40-week academic year (and who are eligible for transport assistance)
will be provided with transport assistance between home and school for the start and
end of each term period (generally half-termly). This equates to 12 one-way journeys
(four journeys per term). Pupils attending weekly boarding school placements funded
by the local authority will be provided with weekly transport. Transport for pupils in
52-week residential school placements funded by the local authority will be agreed on
an individual basis.

45.

Transport assistance for any pupils attending termly boarding school placements will
not exceed the 12 one-way journeys. If the school is closed on a weekly or fortnightly
basis, this must be reflected in the fees being paid by the local authority for the school
placement and, accordingly, transport will be provided to coincide with school closure.

46.

Transport assistance will not be provided to parents, carers or family members who
wish to visit residential schools for any reason. Any arrangements of this nature will
need to be agreed directly with the school. In exceptional cases, parents or carers may
be provided with transport assistance to school a maximum of once per year to attend
their child’s annual review.

47.

Parents or carers who wish to accompany their child on the first day at school will be
expected to make their own transport arrangements. Where a school stipulates that a
parent or carer should attend on the first day, private transport must be arranged.

9

A21

Application Process
Assessing transport assistance entitlement for pupils with SEND
48.

In order for a child to be assessed for transport assistance entitlement, parents or
carers must complete an online application form accessed via the Local Offer website –
www.afclocaloffer.org.uk. All parents of children or young people who are awarded an
EHCP will be advised about this process clearly within a letter from the SEND Service
within AfC. The SEND transport assessment is also a standard section in the current
EHCP documentation in Kingston and Richmond. The SEND Service is required to
provide a separate referral to the SEND Transport Service to confirm the basis of a
child’s school placement.

49.

When assessing entitlement for transport assistance for pupils with SEND, the SEND
Transport Service will consider the individual needs of each child. This may include
taking professional advice from Educational Psychologists, medical officers and
teachers and consulting with parents and carers before arriving at a final decision.
Consideration will also be given to the pupil’s physical and medical requirements
including any disabilities they may have. Assessment may include face-to-face contact
with the pupil. The findings and decision will be recorded on a Transport Assessment
Form.

50.

In determining whether a pupil cannot reasonably be expected to walk between home
and school, the service will consider whether the pupil could reasonably be expected
to walk if accompanied and, if so, whether the pupil’s parent or carer can reasonably
be expected to accompany their child. The general expectation is that a child will be
accompanied by a parent or carer, unless there is good reason why it is not reasonable
to expect the parent to do so.

51.

Consideration will be given to the following factors when assessing transport
entitlement:






The age of the pupil;
The distance of the pupil from school to home;
Whether the walking route is appropriate for the pupil;
The SEND of the pupil;
Whether the pupil has physical, medical or a social communication difficulty that
would prevent them from using public transport;
 Whether suitable and accessible public transport is available;
 Whether the pupil may be vulnerable and at risk of danger if he or she uses public
or other transport;
 Whether the pupil would be a danger to drivers, other passengers and/or the
vehicle if using public or other transport;
10

A22
 The efficient utilisation of resources;
 Any other individual circumstance.
This is not an exhaustive list. It is not presented in any particular order and is for
guidance only. Satisfaction of one or more of the criteria does not automatically
entitle a pupil with SEND to transport assistance.
52.

The fact that a pupil has a Statement, an EHCP or attends a special school does not
automatically entitle him or her to transport assistance.

53.

Eligibility for transport assistance is related to the pupil’s needs. Assessment may take
into account the need for transport assistance due to some family circumstances. This
will primarily be if a pupil has other siblings attending schools not local to the SEN
provision offered to them, or is offered SEN provision at a school which is not their
local provision. These factors will be considered when determining eligibility for home
to school travel assistance and deciding on the type of transport to be provided. Other
family circumstances, such as parents and carers attending work or looking after other
children, cannot be considered when determining eligibility.

SEN Statements and Education, Health and Care Plans
54.

The Special Educational Needs and Disability Code of Practice states that transport
should be recorded in a Statement or EHCP only in exceptional cases, where the child
or young person has particular transport needs.

55.

AfC’s guidance to schools states that they should carefully review each pupil’s
individual transport needs at least once per year and advises that this could be
completed as part of the annual review for pupils with Statements or EHCPs. This is of
particular importance for pupils who are in Year 7 and above, who will be beginning
their final phase of compulsory education and who may not receive any further
transport assistance after they leave school to attend their choice of further education
placement or employment.

56.

Based on the outcome of reviews, AfC will make any changes necessary to transport
arrangements which are the result of a pupil’s changing needs. For example, a pupil
may no longer require a passenger assistant or, by agreement, may be ready to start
independent travel training. Any interim changes in circumstances may also result in a
change in eligibility for transport assistance. For example, the family may have moved
home to be closer to the school. Once a pupil is eligible for transport assistance, it
does not guarantee they will continue to be eligible in the future.

57.

The provision of transport assistance will also be reviewed to reflect any changes in
government policy or legislation.
11

A23
Nearest suitable school and parental preference
58.

The nearest suitable school is one that the local authority deems to be suitable for the
age, ability, aptitude and specific needs of the pupil.

59.

Parents and carers may express a preference for any maintained school or any form of
academy or free school they wish their child to attend. If a parent or carer does
express a preference for their child to attend a school further away than the nearest
suitable school, then the local authorities and AfC reserve the right to refuse transport
assistance to that school.

Appeals
60.

If AfC, on behalf of the Councils, declines a request for transport assistance, the pupil’s
parents or carers will be advised in writing of the decision and given details of how and
when to appeal.
During an appeal about an initial application for travel assistance, transport will not be
provided to the pupil. Where the appeal concerns a change to transport arrangements
for a child who has previously been assessed as eligible, then the previously agreed
transport arrangements will continue.
The appeal process is outlined below:

12

A24

In line with the previous SEN transport policy (from 2007), the independent appeals
panel referred to in the flowchart will, in Kingston, continue to be made up of Council
members (currently appointed each year by Annual Council to the Home to School
Travel Appeals Panel).

Transport assistance options
61.

Transport assistance may take one of the following forms:



Use of the free travel provided by TfL using an Oyster photo-card;
Provision of a TfL travel-card;
13

A25








The allocation of a travel buddy;
Training to travel independently (walking and using public transport);
Training to cycle independently (reimbursement of bicycle and safety equipment);
The offer of funded driving lessons (where pupils are of the correct age, and this is
the most cost-efficient option);
Reimbursing mileage costs for parents or carers;
Provision of a private bus service; or
Provision of individual taxis or licensed private car hire (in exceptional
circumstances).

62.

Parents and carers are required to complete an application for home to school
transport assistance. Once eligibility has been assessed and agreed, transport will
ordinarily take between 6 and 12 working days to arrange. In some cases this may
take longer; for example, where there is a need for a specialist vehicle. This time
period allows the SEND Transport Service sufficient time to assess each child’s needs,
obtain quotes for the transport provider, and ensure that appropriate safeguarding
procedures are in place.

63.

Parents and carers will be informed of the transport arrangements in writing in
advance of travel. They will be provided with a Getting to School booklet which sets
out the arrangements and duties of AfC and the transport provider, alongside the
responsibilities of parents and carers. Parents and carers will be asked to confirm
agreement to the arrangements by signing and returning a letter of agreement.
Transport will not commence until the signed letter of agreement is received.

64.

Availability of transport is not guaranteed. For example: a case may arise where a
young person is non-ambulant, but has not been allocated a crash-tested buggy or
wheelchair for use on transport. Transport crews are not permitted to lift pupils onto
or off transport. Parents, carers and schools are also not permitted to lift pupils onto
or off transport as a situation may arise (such as a mechanical fault to the vehicle)
which may require the transport crews to lift the pupil during a journey. In these
circumstances, parental mileage reimbursement may be given as an alternative.

65.

Personalised transport will not be provided. Pupils must expect to travel to and from
school with other pupils unless there are exceptional circumstances where it would
not be reasonable to expect a pupil to do so.

66.

Closed-circuit television (CCTV) with audio recording or global positioning systems
(GPS) may be used on vehicles. The CCTV footage will not be shared or circulated with
anyone outside the Councils or AfC, but, along with GPS, can help to improve the
speed and accuracy of incident resolution, and also supports transport crew training.

14

A26
Independent travel
67.

Local authorities have a duty to encourage, enable and assist the participation of
young people with learning difficulties and/or disabilities up to the age of 25 in
education and training. Independent travel training aims to achieve this. Schools are
responsible for providing independent travel training to children and young people
with SEND where this is appropriate.

68.

Independent travel is a valuable life skill, an essential employability skill, and provides
greater opportunities for young people, not least increasing confidence in their abilities
and reducing their sense of reliance on family members.

69.

The Councils and AfC will consider the following criteria when considering which pupils
should be offered independent travel training opportunities:








Existing level of independent travel skills;
The age of pupil;
The distance between home and school;
The SEND of the pupil;
The route which would need to be followed ;
Journey times using public transport; and
The frequency of the journeys required.

Passenger assistants
70.

Passenger assistants will be provided on some transport routes. The provision or nonprovision of a passenger assistant on a route is based on several factors, including:






The age of the pupil;
The distance between home and school;
Information provided on the Transport Assessment Form;
The SEND of the pupil; and
The number of other pupils travelling on this route.

71.

There is no minimum or maximum age that determines whether a passenger assistant
will be automatically provided and AfC will consider age in conjunction with all the
factors listed above in paragraph 68 to make its decision.

72.

Where a pupil travels on his or her own, the Councils and AfC encourage parents and
carers (or a person known to the pupil and aged 18 or over) to act as his or her
passenger assistant. Payment is not made in such cases. Provision of a passenger
assistant at any one time does not guarantee that this will be an ongoing arrangement;
15

A27
the requirement will be re-assessed in the pupil’s annual review, periodically during the
year, and in the event of any change in circumstances.

Implementing the policy
Transport management
73.

Transport is co-ordinated and managed by the SEND Transport Service in AfC on behalf
of the local authorities. Each transport provider (whether taxi or private bus) will also
have a nominated controller who is the first point of contact for schools, parents and
carers, and who is responsible for the day-to-day operation of the service.

Pick-up and drop-off arrangements
74.

Transport providers are authorised to make pick-ups and drop-offs at authorised pickup points only. The authorised points will usually be those specified on the Statement
or EHCP (normally the home and school address), or, in the case of bus journeys, an
allocated bus stop or collection point. Parents and carers should provide one
alternative address, wherever possible, which must be within one mile of the usual
home address, to be used in the event that the parent or carer is unable to meet the
child. Any changes to these addresses, whether permanent or temporary, must be
communicated in writing to the SEND Transport Service. Until written confirmation is
received, the only other authorised place for drop-off will be the nearest Children and
Family Services Centre. The location of this centre will be communicated to parents
and carers at the start of each transport arrangement. A change of address will be
regarded as a change in circumstances, which may affect a pupil’s eligibility for
transport assistance.

75.

Collection points may be introduced on some routes, where the pupils are ambulant,
to improve the efficiency of the route and reduce journey times for pupils. Where the
introduction of collection points is being considered, the Councils and AfC will consult
with the parents and carers affected by this change in service.

76.

Where a collection point is allocated, it is the parent’s or carer’s responsibility to make
sure that their child travels to and from the collection point safely.

Timing
77.

The timings for pick-up and drop-off will be specified by the appropriate transport
provider’s controller and parents and carers must ensure they are aware of the correct
times. Times may change if new pupils join a route, or if pupils leave a route.
16

A28

78.

Where pupils are picked up or dropped-off at home, the parent or carer is responsible
for accompanying the pupil to and from their door to the vehicle. The parent or carer
should keep a lookout for the vehicle’s arrival since the vehicle will not sound its horn.
It is against the law to sound a horn from a stationary vehicle. In exceptional
circumstances (for example: where the child travels alone in a taxi with a passenger
assistant) the driver or passenger assistant may call at the door or telephone ahead,
although this is at the discretion of the transport crew. Any variation to the usual
procedure must be agreed with the controller. Parents and carers must ensure that
there are no delays in making pupils available for the journey (or collecting them in the
evenings) as this is one of the main factors affecting total journey times and can have a
detrimental effect on how other passengers manage the remainder of their journey.

79.

In order to minimise journey times for every pupil on the transport, pupils are required
to be available within three minutes of the specified time of pick-up, and parents or
carers are required to be available within three minutes of the specified time of dropoff. If the pupil, parent or carer is not available within that time, the transport
provider’s will attempt to make telephone contact with the parent or carer to find out
if there is a particular difficulty on that morning. If the controller is unable to make
direct contact with the parent or carer, the driver is instructed to leave that pickup/drop-off point and move onto the next point. Should the transport move on
without the pupil, transport to school will then become the responsibility of the parent
or carer for that individual journey. If the parent or carer is unavailable for pick-up on
school-home journeys, the child will be transported to the nearest place of safety.
Transport assistance will be reviewed and may be removed if there are ongoing delays.

80.

In some exceptional cases, to recognise the needs of an individual pupil, the threeminute waiting time may be adjusted and the transported provider informed.

81.

In some cases, it may not be legal or safe for the transport to stop directly outside a
pupil’s home. In these cases, parents and carers are required to walk with their child
to the safest nominated collection point, as specified by the transport provider.

17

A29
Absences
82.

Where a pupil cannot attend school on any particular day (for example, due to illness),
it is the parent’s or carer’s responsibility to contact the transport company
immediately. For long-term absences, parents or carers should contact the SEND
Transport Service.

83.

Parents and carers should contact their respective transport company the night before
travel if they know then that their child will be unwell on the following day.
Alternatively, they should contact the transport provider as early as possible on the
morning of travel if their child only shows signs of being unwell on the day he or she is
due to travel.

84.

All transport which is not cancelled in advance of the vehicle arriving at the home
address must be paid for by the Councils whether or not the pupil boards the vehicle.
Where parents or carers repeatedly fail to cancel transport provision for their child
before it arrives at the home address, or where a pupil suddenly refuses to travel in
transport which has arrived on any given day (without any prior notice having been
given to the transport company), the pupil’s transport provision will be reviewed.

85.

Where it can be established that public funds are being used inappropriately, as a
result of vehicles not being cancelled with sufficient prior warning, pupils may be
excluded from transport for a period of time. Parents and carers will be responsible
for transporting their own children during any period of exclusion from transport.

Alternative arrangements
86.

Transport providers are instructed to take children and young people to the nearest
place of safety in the event that a parent or carer is unable to meet the pupil at the
specified drop-off point at the specified time. Children’s social care services may be
notified and/or transport assistance withdrawn if this happens frequently. Parents,
carers or schools should contact the controller or SEND Transport Service if there are
any emergency changes. The controller will have a duty to advise parents, carers and
schools if there are going to be any foreseen delays to the delivery of the service.

Parents with other commitments
87.

It is not possible to take into account family circumstances when allocating pick-up and
drop-off times for pupils. Timings will be based on the most efficient route available.
The efficient planning of routes is a priority, especially as it is important to minimise
the time that pupils need to speed on transport on every route. If AfC were to
consider requests for pick-ups times from parents or carers, then this could lead to
inequality, since a vehicle cannot collect two children from different addresses at the
18

A30
same time. In addition, requests for pick-up times would also compromise route
efficiencies – making them longer for all the other children and less economical.
88.

Transport assistance is awarded to pupils with SEND because of their needs and should
not be considered as an extension to childcare or a service which facilitates parents or
carers working or looking after other children who are not yet of school age.

Severe weather
89.

In cases of severe weather, where parents and carers are advised that transport has
been cancelled for their child’s morning, they should assume that transport will also be
cancelled for their child’s afternoon journey, unless they are advised otherwise. If
parents or carers decide to take their child to school despite the severe weather, they
will also need to arrange to collect their child after school.
Risk assessments
90.

Where the Councils and AfC agree to provide either private bus transport or taxi
transport for a pupil, it may be necessary to complete a risk assessment of their
physical and medical needs. Until this risk assessment is completed, transport
between home and school will be the responsibility of the parents or carers.

91.

Some pupils with SEND have physical and medical conditions which deteriorate over
time. If, at any point, it is felt by the SEND Transport Service that a further risk
assessment may be necessary to ensure that a child’s physical and medical needs are
being met on board transport, this risk assessment will be planned and completed.
Until the recommendations from this updated risk assessment are complete, it will be
the responsibility of the parents and carers to transport their child between home and
school.

Medication
92.

All members of transport staff have received accredited emergency first-aid training.

93.

Although there is no statutory duty for transport staff to administer medication, they
are expected to ensure the health and safety of all pupils in their care. First-aid
training includes: managing the symptoms of shock; dealing with an unconscious
casualty; cardiac arrest and cardiopulmonary resuscitation; choking; and seizures.

94.

The emergency services can advise members of transport staff about the closest
automated external defibrillator for use in treating a patient in cardiac arrest.

95.

AfC will ensure that every driver and passenger assistant is able to respond to an
emergency situation; however, they will not normally be expected to administer
19

A31
medical assistance. Every parent, as part of their application, is required to provide
detailed information directly to the SEND Transport Service about their child’s SEND
and medical needs. This information forms the basis of the pupil’s transport plan. In
some cases, where a child has very specific and complex needs, an additional care plan
from medical professionals may be required.
96.

Members of transport staff are not permitted to carry or administer medication or to
replace medical accessories (for example, gastrostomy or tracheotomy tubes) on
board a vehicle. The exception to this are pre-loaded EpiPens® or pre-loaded buccal
midazolam devices as these devices are loaded with the correct dosage of medication
and do not require members of transport staff to accurately measure medication
within a confined and possibly moving space.

97.

In the event of an emergency on board a vehicle, the procedure is for the passenger
assistant or driver to seek guidance from medical professionals by calling 999 and
asking for a paramedic crew to attend the scene. It is for parents or carers to decide
whether they wish for their child to travel on regular transport in these circumstances.

98.

Where it is assessed to be unsafe for a pupil with complex or acute medical needs to
travel with only a passenger assistant, AfC will seek to secure a medically-trained
professional, such as a nurse, to accompany the pupil on the vehicle. A risk
assessment will be undertaken to ensure the correct level of medical support can be
arranged.

Journey times
99.

The nature of transport congestion in London means that travelling times can vary
greatly. It is expected that children should arrive at school safely and fit to learn.
Journey times should reflect this. The maximum journey time for a pupil travelling to a
school in the borough in which they are resident is 75 minutes; however, this may be
affected from time-to-time by traffic pressures, road works and other environmental
and operational conditions. These journey times do not apply to pupils travelling to
out-borough schools, where distances and the frequency of journeys will vary.

Behaviour standards
100.

Any pupil may experience behavioural difficulties. AfC will work with schools, parents,
carers and transport providers to manage instances where a pupil exhibits extreme
behaviour characteristics. Poor behaviour may affect the concentration of the driver,
and the overall safety of the other pupils or passenger assistants, and in some cases
alternative arrangements will need to be made.

20

A32
101.

In consultation with the pupil’s school, it may be necessary to issue periods of fixed or
permanent exclusion from transport. Parents and carers will be responsible for
transporting their own children during any period of exclusion from transport. Nonprovision of transport during these periods does not mean that the Councils are not
fulfilling their statutory duties, merely that transport arrangements were made but, as
a result of behavioural issues, had to be suspended or removed.

102.

Where an allegation of unacceptable behaviour is received (either from a parent,
carer, school or transport provider), the pupil against whom the allegation has been
made may be temporarily excluded from transport services, whilst an investigation is
completed. Written statements will be requested from the driver and any passenger
assistant; the school, SEND Panel and other parents or carers may also be consulted.
Depending on the SEND of the pupil, the circumstances of the behavioural problem
and consultation with the school and other parties, the procedure will be:

103.

Level
1
2
3

Incident
First incident
Second incident
Third incident

*

Physical abuse (at any stage)

Outcome
First written warning.
Final written warning.
Permanent exclusion from
transport services.
Instant exclusion from
transport services pending
investigation, including
written statements.

When using home to school transport, pupils must:




Remain in their seats at all times;
Wear their seat belts at all times; and
Follow and abide by the passenger assistant’s and/or driver’s instructions.

Pupils must not:






Abscond from the vehicle;
Speak in an offensive/abusive manner to the crew, other passengers or any other
member of the public whilst in or around the vehicle;
Behave in a way which may create a danger to themselves or other passengers, or
in a way which could cause damage to (or shows disrespect to) the vehicle itself; or
Exhibit behaviour of a sexual nature.
spit or fight.

21

A33
104.

Additionally, no eating, drinking or smoking will be allowed on any vehicle at any time.
This includes at times when pupils are not on the transport. In some circumstances, a
pupil may be allowed water on board the vehicle.

Providing a quality service
Transport standards
105.

Transport provision will be in accordance with contractual standards and legislation.

106.

It is recognised that the quality of transportation to and from school can often affect
the emotional welfare and behavioural pattern of a child. All drivers, passenger
assistants and other crew members are expected to show understanding of, and
empathy with, pupils, their parents, carers and school staff. They are expected to treat
all children with respect and in a dignified manner appropriate to their age.

107.

All drivers and passenger assistants will greet passengers, parents and carers politely
and ensure that all passengers travel in comfort and safety.

108.

All drivers and passenger assistants will have undergone a training programme and will
be in receipt of an Enhanced Disclosure and Barring Service check, in line with the
Councils’ and AfC’s commitment to safeguarding children and young people. Husband
and wife (or civil partners) transport crew teams are permitted; however, families will
be informed prior to the allocation of the route.

109.

The competency of the driver and crew, the conduct of the vehicle during the journey
and at the pick-up points will all be of a contractually prescribed standard.

110.

The vehicles will be properly licensed and roadworthy.




111.

All vehicles with 9 passenger seats or more will be inspected every 6 to 13
weeks. The frequency of inspection is set independently by the Driver and
Vehicle Standards Agency (DVSA) and is not set by the transport companies
themselves; and
All taxi vehicles with 8 passenger seats or less are licensed by the Public
Carriage Office (PCO) and are subject to two MOT inspections per year.

All vehicles will offer standards of comfort and safety as prescribed by relevant
legislation. Regular audit checks will be carried out on all vehicles. Vehicles will have
modifications to allow for wheelchair access where appropriate.

22

A34
112.

The vehicle must be at its prescribed point of pick-up within five minutes of its allotted
time (although traffic conditions and delays at the pick-up points for other passengers
may affect these timings). Any major delays will be communicated, either via the
relevant controller or the SEND Transport Service, to the school, parents or carers.

Continuity
113.

Every effort will be made to ensure that the same passenger assistant and driver
continue to transport a pupil; however this will not always possible and changes may
need to be made to ensure the most efficient use of available resources.

114.

Parents, carers and schools will be informed by the transport company about any
changes to the crew member(s) in advance. Parents and carers are advised to take the
name of the new driver and/or passenger assistant, and ask to see their identification,
or contact the transport provider to verify identity if they are in any doubt.

115.

Local authorities have a duty to spend public funds in the most appropriate and costeffective manner. Routes will be reviewed regularly. Separate routes, taking pupils to
several different schools, may be brought together into a single route where this is
appropriate. Longer routes will be reviewed periodically with the respective schools to
ensure that concentration and attentiveness are not compromised by any change to
pupils’ journeys.

Safeguarding
116.

The Councils and AfC are committed to ensuring that children and young people on
transport travel safely to school and arrive ready to learn. The following safeguarding
systems are in place to protect children’s safety and promote their wellbeing:











There are fixed and pre-vetted crews on all routes;
Crew members have valid DBS certificates and appropriate licences;
Crew members have completed safeguarding training;
Crew members are provided with certified first-aid training;
Child-seating is provided for young people below 135 cm in height;
Non-ambulant buggy or wheelchair users undergo a wheelchair risk assessment to
verify that their buggy or wheelchair has been crash-tested for use on transport
and to ensure that the correct safety equipment is used to secure the buggy or
wheelchair in place;
All confidential information is sent by secure email;
All incidents on board transport are logged and investigated;
Safeguarding concerns or allegations about a transport crew member are referred
to the Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) – see paragraph 115 for further
information.
23

A35





Crew members are provided with a procedure in circumstances where parents or
carers are not available at their home address at the end of the school day, or
have requested an agreed alternative destination;
Taxi routes are audited on a regular basis and checked for compliance against the
service specification, including compliance with safeguarding procedures; and
Taxi providers are audited once per academic year and further strategic level
checks are completed within these audits.

Local Authority Designated Officer
117.

Every local authority has a statutory responsibility to have a Designated Officer (LADO)
who is responsible for co-ordinating the response to concerns that an adult who works
with children may have caused them harm. The role of the LADO is to manage and
oversee any concerns or allegations about an individual who works with children and
young people either in a paid or voluntary capacity. Concerns should be referred to
the LADO by contacting 020 8547 5008 or email: lado@achievingforchildren.org.uk

Comments, compliments and complaints
118.

The Councils and AfC are constantly looking at ways to improve the SEND Transport
Service and welcomes comments from parents, carers, pupils and school staff on any
issue relating to the service. Comments or concerns about operational issues should
be addressed to the relevant bus or taxi provider in the first instance. In the event that
the provider cannot resolve the concern, the issue should be escalated to the SEND
Transport Service for resolution.

119.

Formal complaints will be managed in line with the Councils’ complaints procedures
which are available online at www.kingston.gov.uk/complaintsandfeedback (for
Kingston residents) and www.richmond.gov.uk/complaints (for Richmond residents).

24

A36

Equalities statement
The London Borough of Richmond upon Thames, the Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames
and Achieving for Children are committed to delivering a high-quality service to everyone
regardless of their age, disability, gender, race, religion or beliefs, sexual orientation and
economic status. We are committed to delivering a service that meets individuals’ needs and
choices in a sensitive, meaningful and practical way. Where necessary the service user’s
cultural, religious or any other specific needs that is brought to our attention will be
considered and appropriate action undertaken in the delivery of the service. We are
committed to ensuring that our services are delivered in a fair, equitable and transparent
manner. We will collect data from our service users and analyse these in order to identify any
negative impact on specific groups or communities, including families entitled to the service
due to their economic status. Nothing within this policy, or any omission from it, should be
interpreted as relieving the local authorities or AfC from their legal duties under the Equality
Act 2010 or any other statutory requirements.

25

B1
Children’s and Adults’ Care and Education Committee

Appendix B

13 February 2019 (additional committee)
Kingston Adult Education
Report by Director, Communities
Call-in deadline 5pm on Wednesday 27 February 2019 (ten working days after the
meeting)

Purpose
1 - To transform the existing Council-operated Kingston Adult Education service in the
short to medium-term, in order to ensure key outcomes are met and to make the service
operationally more efficient and flexible.
2 - To scope and understand the potential for provider(s) to deliver adult education for
Kingston in the medium-term, with Committee approval to undertake a scoping exercise of
potential providers and opportunities.
Recommendations of the Portfolio Holder for Children's Services including Education
To resolve that 1.

Officers take forward proposals in the short to medium-term to make the current
Kingston Adult Education service more efficient and continues to deliver effective
learner outcomes (ref para 25);

2.

a scoping exercise can be undertaken to understand adult education provider(s) for
Kingston adult education over the medium-term; and

3.

a detailed report with the findings is submitted to this Committee by June 2019 (subject
to timeframes).

Benefits to the Community:
To continue and enhance adult education provision in borough.
Key Points
A.

The Kingston Adult Education service (KAE) supports 2,832 learners a year
(equating to around 6,000 enrolments) and generates a surplus of circa £300K per
annum. It plays an important role in supporting healthy, independent and resilient
residents. Outcomes for learners include gaining qualifications, improving
employment skills, reducing social isolation and improving the mental health and
wellbeing of individuals.

B.

KAE is financially valuable to the Council, generating annual income of £2m and
costing £1.7m to run. The service currently makes a controllable surplus of
approximately £330K annually, which is less than the budget target of £560k,
leaving a £230k gap. The gap is partly due to the removal of the apprenticeship
grant by central government, for which KAE will receive growth of £150k in 2019/20.
The service can achieve £100K of savings over 2 years (£80k in 2019/20 and a
further £20k in 2020/21) by continuing to deliver effective learner outcomes,
reducing management costs and making service efficiencies, to close the remainder
of the gap.

B2

C.

To make it a more dynamic, flexible and efficient service it is acknowledged that
KAE needs to make changes to how it operates and delivers provision. In the short
to medium term we will seek to achieve this by transforming the service to make it
more efficient and modern, with digitised processes.

D.

However, it is also important to explore other options for the longer term. One of the
ways in which other councils have successfully delivered adult education in terms of
outcomes for learners and efficiency, is through specialist providers to provide a
service that also has the potential to save on management and accommodation
costs. A first step in understanding the viability of this option is to undertake a
scoping exercise of potential providers and opportunities.

E.

The following approach is recommended:
a. 2019/20 and 2020/21 - transform the existing service. To continue to deliver
effective learner outcomes and refine and digitise processes to make the
service more efficient. To remain aligned with national, regional and local
needs. To ensure assets are used to their full potential. To deliver savings
through efficiencies.
b. 2019/20 - to undertake a scoping exercise of potential providers and
opportunities whilst continuing to transform the service. Future options will then
be developed depending on the results of the scoping exercise. A business
case will be brought back to CACE committee with the findings of the scoping
exercise which explores the benefits of external providers versus continuing as
a council delivered service. At this point, we are exploring options and
opportunities. I t is anticipated that future options may involve delivery of adult
education provision from different sites across the borough. An appraisal of
potential sites will be included as part of the future options development.

Background and Context of Kingston Adult Education
1.

This report sets out the current position of Kingston Adult Education (KAE), where
outcomes for residents can be improved and where efficiencies can be made.

2.

The skills of adult residents are important to the Council and partners and an adult
education provision in Kingston remains crucial to creating a skilled and successful
community. The service also needs to ensure it remains aligned with national,
regional and local needs:
-

nationally: the Department for Education (Ofsted & Education & Skills Funding
Agency) and the Government’s priority regarding mental wellbeing
regionally: the Greater London Authority and the Mayor of London’s Skills for
Londoners framework regarding empowering all people to access the
education and skills to be able to participate in society and progress in
education and work. The framework particularly focuses on ensuring those
who are disadvantaged are able to access education.
locally: learners’ needs, community groups’ requirements and Council
community outcomes. Delivered through working in partnership with
community groups, local providers and relevant departments (Public Health /
Adult Social Care).
Outcomes achieved through improving skills include reducing social isolation,
increasing English & mathematics skills and levels of residents, supporting

3.

B3
residents back into employment and improving the mental health and wellbeing of
residents.
The Council’s Kingston Adult Education service (KAE) provides a range of courses
for adults aged 19 and over and young people aged 16-19 such as employability,
health & wellbeing, English, mathematics (GCSEs and Functional Skills), ICT,
languages, arts and crafts, community learning and many more. The mission
statement of KAE is:

“...to offer high quality learning and training opportunities which meet the needs
of individuals and employers in Kingston and surrounding areas and to work
alongside community partners to achieve this.’ ’
4.

The service is primarily delivered from King Charles Centre in Surbiton but also runs
out of a range of community venues across the borough such as libraries, churches,
housing estates, children's centres and schools. There is a current options appraisal
exploring the opportunities to relocate adult education provision to other venues
across the borough.

5.

KAE supports over 6,000 individual learning aims every year (both government
funded and privately funded). This is 2,832 individual learners (a learner can do
more than one course and each course would be an enrolment). The service runs
over 600 courses including Back to Employment for adults, bespoke courses for
people with learning difficulties and/or disabilities, GCSE Mathematics & English,
ICT, ESOL, Health and Fitness, Community Learning, the Arts and courses for
people with mental health difficulties or who are socially isolated.

6.

Adult Education has shifted dramatically from its origins in evening classes. KAE
now offers services for:
●
●
●
●

7.

professional people who would like to change career or develop new skills
unemployed people who would like to re-enter or take their first step into work
socially isolated or disadvantaged people who want to re-engage in education
and society
entrepreneurial people who want to set up their own businesses

KAE’s entire provision is delivered through four key areas (subjects, enrolment
numbers and percentages change annually to reflect the borough need):
1 - Health and wellbeing - Enrolments: 2544 (42%)
Through courses for: improving mental health; learners with learning difficulties and
disabilities; carers; health and fitness; health and social care; building
self-confidence through writing; active ageing; lip reading; and wider family learning.
2 - Supporting the economy and employment - Enrolments: 497 (8%)
Through: Apprenticeships, Study programmes for 16-18 year olds, Back to
employment for 19+ year olds, Friendly Finance, Childcare qualifications and
Teaching Assistant, Interpreting qualifications.
3 - English, mathematics and IT - Enrolments: 1729 (28%)
Through: GCSE English, GCSE mathematics, functional skills English, functional
skills mathematics, family English and mathematics, English for speakers of other
languages, and IT.
4 - Creative industries
- Enrolments: 1306 (22%)
Through: The arts, crafts, performing arts and digital photography.

B4

8.

9.

In the academic year 2016/17, volumes of users were as follows:
Area

Enrolments

Apprenticeships and Vocational

220

Employability & ICT

321

English, Maths & ESOL

929

Family English and Maths

638

Health, Fitness and Wellbeing

507

Personal and Community Learning

636

Specialist Skills and Leisure

1,912

Wider Family Learning

913

Total

6,076

The age of learners ranges from 16 to 99, with the highest proportion of learners
aged 30-39:

B5

10.

28.7% of learners identify as Black and Minority Ethnic origin (BAME):

Ethnicity
White

Census (2011)

KAE (2016/17)*

%

%

74.5%

69.2%*

3.9%

3.3%

16.3%

15.0%

Black/African/Caribbean/
Black British

2.5%

3.0%

Other Ethnic Groups

2.8%

5.3%

Unknown/Not Provided

n/a

4.3%

Mixed/Multiple
Asian/British Asian

Total BAME

25.5%

28.7%

*22.0% of the “White” ethnic group identify as either White Irish or White Other.
11.

The population of Kingston has become more ethnically diverse, from 16% Black,
Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) groups in the 2001 Census to 25.5% BAME in
2011 Census.

12.

The gender breakdown is representative of the national and regional picture of
people who access adult education:
Year

ONS (2016)
No.

Male

86,800

Female

89,300

ONS (2016)
%

KAE (2016/17)
No.

KAE (2016/17)
%

49.3%

541

18.9%

50.7%

2291

80.1%

13.

The 2011 Census showed that there were 18,762 people with a limiting long-term
illness in Kingston (12.4%). A limiting long-term illness is defined as any long-term
illness, health problem or disability which limits a person’s daily activities or the work
that they do. 7.3% of learners have indicated they have a learning difficulty or
disability.

14.

3.2% of Kingston residents claimed Employment Support Allowance (ESA) and
Incapacity Benefits in Nov-16 compared to 4.8% for London and 6.1% for Great
Britain as a whole.

B6

15.

Learners travel to KAE, based in Surbiton from all across the borough. 73.8% of
learners come from within the borough. The wards with the highest amount of
learners are (in order) Tolworth and Hook Rise, Surbiton Hill and Alexandra. King
Charles Centre, the main delivery hub for KAE courses is in Berrylands ward.

16.

The service was awarded Grade 2 "Good" by Ofsted in 2017 after an inspection of
the entire provision. The service was also awarded Matrix Accreditation for
Information, Advice and Guidance in February 2018.

17.

The service’s Key Performance Indicators are:
●
●
●

Attendance (target 83%), final result 85%
Achievement (target 80%), final result 93%
Enrolments (target 5,000), final result 5,967

B7
Current Financial Position of Kingston Adult Education

18.

KAE is financially valuable to the Council, generating annual income of £2m and
costing £1.7m to run. The service currently makes approximately £300K income
annually but because the service had budgeted to make £565K income, there is a
budget gap. This is due to the removal of the apprenticeship grant from central
government. Therefore to close the budget gap we estimate we can achieve £100K
of savings over 2 years by continuing to deliver effective learner outcomes, reducing
management costs and making service efficiencies. The shortfall will not be met in
its entirety hence £150k growth money in the budget to offset the gap and provide
KAE a realistic budget to work with.

19.

The service currently has a turnover of approximately £2 million. It receives income
from two main sources:
●
grant-funded income (from the Education & Skills Funding Agency) £1.35m
●
commercial income (from learners/employers/partners) £650K

20.

The current forecast position for 2018/19 is:
Income

Amount

Controllable
Expenditure

Amount

Difference

Commercial Income
(from learners/
employers/partners)

£649,834

Employee Costs

£1,396,446

ESFA Funding
(Government funding
for adults)

£1,233,956

Supplies &
Services

£143,795

ESFA Funding
(Government funding
for 16-19 year olds)

£130,123

Premises

£137,650

Total actual
expenditure
forecast

£1,677,891

£336,022

£2,013,913

Total
expenditure
budget

£1,883,704 (in
budget but will
overspend due to
shortfall in income
through
apprenticeships)

(£564,696)

(£205,813)

£228,674

Levy Funding
(Employers)
Total income forecast

21.

Income budget (what
service projected
could generate in
income through
increased
apprenticeships. Then
apprenticeship grant
was stopped)

£2,448,400

Shortfall

£434,487

Forecast
overspend

The service is currently showing a budget gap of £228,674. In 2019/20, £150k
growth has been allocated, which will leave a shortfall of £80k. The service will
undergo a restructure (as part of DOT 4 and 5) in order to make the required
efficiencies whilst ensuring the core national, regional and local priorities are met.
This will result in the service closing the remaining £80k gap. This helps to set a
benchmark against which to measure the feasibility of future service options.

B8

Proposals and Options
22.

Kingston Adult Education service (KAE) supports 2,832 learners a year and
generates circa £300K income per annum. It plays an important role in supporting
healthy, independent and resilient residents. Outcomes for learners include
improving employment skills, increasing English & mathematics levels of residents,,
reducing social isolation and improving the mental health and wellbeing of
individuals.

23.

Whilst KAE is financially valuable to the council generating annual income of £2m
and costing £1.7m to run, it is acknowledged that KAE needs to make changes to
how it operates and delivers provision. This will ensure the service is more dynamic,
flexible and efficient. In the short to medium term we will seek to achieve this by
transforming the service to make it more efficient and modern, with digitised
processes.

24.

It is also important to explore other options for the longer term. One of the ways in
which other councils have successfully delivered high quality adult education - in
terms of outcomes for learners and efficiency, is through specialist providers to
provide a more targeted service. A first step in understanding the viability of this
option is to undertake a scoping exercise of potential providers and opportunities.

25.

The following approach is recommended to make changes to the service:
a. 2019/20 and 2020/21 - transform the service. To make it a more dynamic,
flexible and efficient service it is acknowledged that KAE needs to make
changes to how it operates and delivers provision. In the short to medium term
we will seek to transform the service to make it more efficient and modern, with
digitised processes. It will continue to deliver effective learner outcomes such as
employment skills, core qualifications (eg. English & mathematics), improving
mental wellbeing and reducing social isolation, working with partners such as
community groups, Adult Social Care, Public Health. We will ensure assets are
used to their full potential and savings delivered through efficiencies.
b. 2019/20 - to undertake a scoping exercise of potential providers and
opportunities whilst continuing to transform the service. Future options will then
be developed depending on the results of the scoping exercise. An external
option might be more cost effective through reduced costs such as
management and premises. I t is anticipated that future options may involve
delivery of adult education provision from different sites across the borough. An
appraisal of potential sites will be included as part of the future options
development.

Drivers for Change
26.

B9

There are several drivers that have an impact on adult education and potentially
offer opportunities to explore how KAE could be delivered in a different, more
efficient way. These are:
●

To model the service to focus on improving residents’ skills, working in
partnership and delivering efficiencies.

●

The London Mayor's Devolution of Skills will impact on adult education services
in 19/20. The Skills For Londoners strategy focuses on upskilling people post 16
so they can return to employment or improve their employment chances. There
is also greater focus on those most disadvantaged groups of Londoners and
areas of London. For KAE, this means an opportunity to further collaborate with
services such as Public Health, Adult Social Care, Jobcentre Plus and
Community Groups such as Kingston Welcare, YMCA, Kingston Carers
Network to ensure effective outcomes for learners.

●

KAE generates approximately £300k income annually. There is a need to close
the budget gap created through the national decision to remove the
apprenticeship grant. This will be achieved through a reshaping of the current
service and anticipated growth of £150K in 19/20 budget.

●

KAE has already taken some measures to close the budget gap through: an
interim restructure of staff, closing the apprenticeship provision; increasing
provision of training to local employers (therefore generating additional income);
realigning delivery to meet national, regional and local needs; increasing
partnership work in Public Health, Adult Social Care, Welfare Reform, JCP and
increasing course fees by 50p an hour that will result in £10K additional income,
full year. KAE is already one of the more expensive adult education providers in
the region so increasing fees further could result in a decrease in uptake of
courses.

Consultations
27.

No consultations have been undertaken to date. This committee paper seeks
approval to undertake a scoping exercise of potential providers and opportunities to
deliver an adult education provision in Kingston.

28.

It is proposed that consultation / engagement will be undertaken when a fuller
proposal is developed.

Timescale
29.

If approved, a scoping exercise will be undertaken between February 2019 and May
2019. A detailed report with the findings will be presented to the Children’s and
Adults’ Care and Education Committee meeting by June 2019.

Resource Implications
30.

Preparing the business case and scoping documents will require significant officer
time and resource from various departments. Funding for external resource is being
identified.

Legal Implications
31.

B10

Commissioning advice will be sought on the length of time required to undertake the
scoping exercise

Risk Assessment
32.

A risk assessment will be undertaken as part of the scoping exercise to identify risks
associated with finding suitable providers.

Equalities Impact Assessment
33.

Equality consideration has been taken into account within this report. A full EQIA
will be undertaken for the transformation of the service.

Health Implications
34.

Will be taken into consideration during the scoping exercise.

Road Network Implications
35.

Will be taken into consideration during the scoping exercise.

Environmental & Air Quality Implications
36.

Will be taken into consideration during the scoping exercise

Background papers held by the author of the report, Joanne Moulton, Corporate Head of
Service, Culture and Heritage, tel 020 8547 6754
email: joanne.moulton@kingston.gov.uk
● None other than those referred to in this report

C1
Children’s and Adults’ Care and Education Committee

Appendix C

13 February 2019
Fostering Fees and Allowances
Report by Director of Children’s Services
Call-in deadline 5pm on Wednesday 27 February 2019 (ten working days after the
meeting)
Purpose
To align fostering fees across Richmond, Kingston and Windsor and Maidenhead as part
of the successful registration of the Independent Fostering Agency.
Recommendation of the Portfolio Holder for Children’s Services
To resolve that the local offer (fees and allowances) to foster carers as set out in
paragraph 13 of the report is approved to take effect from 1 April 2019.
Key Points
A.

Ofsted required Achieving for Children (AfC) to register its fostering services as an
IFA. AfC were granted registration in August 2018 and is aligning its operations to
establish the IFA as a single service across all three AfC local authority areas by
end of March 2019.

B.

AfC’s operational areas currently structure foster carer remuneration in different
ways. Fees paid are not always aligned to the skills of the carer or needs of the
child. In Kingston and Richmond, a small proportion of foster carers are paid
disproportionately more than other carers and the amounts paid are out of line with
statistical neighbours. There are also wide variances in the training, development
opportunities and the support provided to foster carers. AfC want to provide our
foster carers with a fairer, more transparent offer that is better able to meet the
needs of children who are placed in our care. AfC’s offer must also be competitive,
supporting our strategic aim to recruit new local foster carers for local children so
that AfC can reduce reliance on more expensive placements secured through other
IFAs and residential care.

C.

The proposed offer is based on the following principles:
●
●

●
●

promoting the wellbeing of children and young people to improve children’s
outcomes in adult life
a single, fair and transparent offer for all AfC carers that distributes money
according to the child’s needs and the carer’s skills and experience, including
incentivising care for the most complex children and stepping down to less
intensive support
a competitive offer that supports the recruitment and retention of foster carers
in line with our sufficiency strategy and offers value for money to the Councils
an offer that minimises disruption to carers and potential risk to placement
stability, including the number of carers who might see a decrease in their
income.

D.

E.

C2
The proposed offer to all approved foster carers, including connected persons
carers, includes:

●

a competency based training and development programme aligned to the fee
bands recognising caring experience and professional expertise as well as
training undertaken;

●

a banded reward fee based on the the experience and skill level of the carer;

●

a supplementary fee, paid per child in placement if the child reaches a
threshold level of need;

●

an allowance based on the needs of the child, paid per child in placement;
and

●

continuing supervision and support from a supervising social worker, but
expanded peer to peer and therapeutic support.

Based on caring arrangements currently in place, the proposed fees and
allowances model would cost approximately 1.1% (£28,000) more per year than the
existing arrangements on a total net basis across the three councils:
Council

F.

Cost impact of new
system per annum

Equates to the
council caring for 𝛞
number of children

Kingston

+£88k

3

Richmond

-£50k

n/a

Windsor and Maidenhead

-£10k

n/a

The proposal minimises negative financial impact on foster carers:
Impact of new system

Proportion of Kingston
foster carers impacted1

Number of Kingston
foster carers impacted

Increase in income

80%

24

No change in income

17%

5

Reduction in income

3%

1

G.

In Kingston, only one foster carer would potentially see a reduction in income. In the
proposed model, any carer who would see a reduction in income would still receive
3% to 15% more than carers in statistical neighbour authorities, if they care for a
child with complex needs. An Equalities Impact Assessment has been conducted.

H.

A four week consultation period with all foster carers was held in November and
December 2018, including an online survey; foster carer forums; and individual
meetings with those most impacted.

I.

Phased transitional arrangements are proposed to implement the new system,
aiming for a period of up to one year for existing placements, with all carers who are
newly approved during this time and beyond commencing on the new system.
Individual arrangements will be made for those who will see a reduction in their

1

Based on the total foster carer cohort who have a child in placement at the time of writing.

C3
income; these will be addressed on a case by case basis in exceptional
circumstances, with arrangements focused on the best interests of the child or
young person and maintaining placement stability. Any resultant financial impact will
be balanced within year.

Context
Fees and allowances
1.

Foster carer remuneration is paid in fees (the ’reward’ for being a foster carer)
and allowances (to cover the costs of caring for a child).

2.

At present, although allowances across the operational areas are broadly in line
with rates recommended by the Department for Education (DfE),2 fees are
structured in different ways with similarly trained foster carers being paid different
fees. Most notably, when benchmarked against statistical neighbours, there is a
wide variance in the fees that are currently paid to our carers, with some carers
being paid over 50% more than statistical neighbours, whilst newly approved
carers are paid approximately 10% less than statistical neighbours.3
Allowance per week per child / £
Carer level

DfE minimum weekly
allowance - 2018 to 2019
(London)

Kingston

Babies

146

(0 to 2 years) 146

Pre-primary

149

(3 to 5 years) 149

Primary

168

(6 to 10 years) 168

11 to 15

190

(11 to 15 years) 190

16 to 17

222

(16 to 17 years) 222

Fee per week per child / £
Carer level

2

Average of statistical
neighbours

Kingston

Level 1

195

0

Level 2

237

155

Level 3

315

205

Level 4 (enhanced)

315

305

Specialist4

n/a

565

Guidelines for minimum weekly allowance for foster carers can be found at:
https://www.gov.uk/foster-carers/help-with-the-cost-of-fostering.
3
Statistical neighbours can be found in the the Local Authority Interactive Tool (LAIT), which was developed by the
Department for Education. Fostering fees of statistical neighbours can be found on each council’s website.
4
The specialist scheme exists in Richmond only, but some Kingston carers are currently paid the Richmond
specialist reward fee for children in their care.

C4

3.

In a pressured and demand-led service, children are often placed with an
immediately available foster carer, so more highly trained carers do not
necessarily care for children with the most complex needs, as they would be
expected to do under the fees structure. Staying Put arrangements, whereby
care leavers aged 18 to 25 years old stay on with their former foster carers, can
also affect the availability of well-trained carers. The strategic aim is to recruit
more foster carers to reduce reliance on other IFAs and residential care.

4.

Some ‘specialist’ carers care for two to four children at the same time, which can
make it difficult to provide the specialist, intensive care intended for each child.
Where it is not possible to provide intensive support through specialist carer
schemes, it impacts on the local authority’s ability to meet its sufficiency duty in
securing sufficient accommodation and access to services for looked after
children.

Training and development
5.

In Kingston, foster carers are required to complete mandatory training (three to
four courses) every few years. Additional training is also offered through the
generic children’s services training and development offer accessible through
CPD Online.

6.

Feedback from carers followed a general theme that accessing training is
difficult, with little clarity regarding which training modules are applicable to them
and concern that the courses available are not practical enough to provide them
with the skills to care for children on a day to day basis.

7.

Pay levels are not aligned with training levels. There is currently a lack of robust
record keeping and tracking of foster carer training. All foster carers should have
a personal development plan (PDP), which should be updated annually. This
should be reviewed by their supervising social worker and the foster carer
reviewing officer; however, anecdotally, PDPs and annual reviews are not
conducted consistently, and foster carer training is not recorded elsewhere. This
will also be addressed via the Policy, Inspection and Systems workstream.

Support for foster carers
8.

Foster carers and connected persons carers can access support groups that are
facilitated by a social worker, but these are not well-attended. There are some
groups for specialist carers only, drop-in ‘surgeries’, and telephone check-ins,
which are conducted by a Tier 3 CAMHS worker (NHS). These are not
well-attended and are also not widely publicised. Foster carers are able to
access the Foster Carers Independent Support Service (FISS) via Foster Talk
membership. Foster carers have raised concerns regarding a lack of therapeutic
support. A scheme providing therapeutic support to Richmond specialist carers
has been discontinued for some time.

9.

Out of Hours support, a regulatory requirement, was developed and launched in
September 2018 for all operational areas. This provision will need to be reviewed
by August 2019 to ascertain the most effective ways of providing support and
advice to foster carers outside of office hours.

C5

Proposal and Options
Fees and allowances proposal
10.

Based on the principles outlined previously, three remuneration structures were
considered. An option that matched Level 1 and 2 carers to statistical neighbours
was discounted due to the the large proportion of carers that would be negatively
impacted, and another option that saw the fewest proportion of carers impacted
was discounted as it would be too costly.

11.

The proposed remuneration structure includes:
● a reward fee based on the the skill level of the carer; and
● a supplementary fee, paid per child in placement if the child reaches a
threshold level of need.

12.

No changes to the current allowances are proposed.

13.

The following fees model is proposed:

AfC carer level

Pay per week per child / £

Level 1

195

Level 2

260

Level 3

290

Supplementary fee moderately complex

Further information

50

The weekly supplementary fee
is in recognition of the
Supplementary fee 100 demands that caring for
highly complex
children with more complex
Supplementary fee - at Decided on a case by case needs places on carers.
risk of residential care basis in exceptional cases.
14.

Comparing the new proposal to statistical neighbours, the offer is favourable:

Career level

Average of
statistical
neighbours / £

New Proposal / £ % difference

Level 1

195

195

0

Level 2

237

260

+10

Level 3 (without complex
child)

315

290

-8

Level 3 (with complex child)

315

340-390

+8 to 24

15.

The proposal redistributes payments so that it increases or has no impact on the
majority of existing carers’ income whilst creating a fair system that allows for all
those caring for children with complex needs to be suitably recompensed. The
individuals negatively impacted are any Kingston carers who are paid an
elevated ‘specialist’ rate - this is one carer, or 3% of carers in Kingston who
currently have a child in placement. However, this carer would not be negatively
impacted if the complexity of the child is high enough to warrant an exceptional
payment that matches their current payment, decided by the IFA Board.

C6

Kingston carer training level
Level 1 (temporary)

0

Level 2 (newly qualified)

+12

Level 3 (most carers)

+14

Level 4 enhanced (caring for a child with complex
needs)

16.

% change in
income

+7

Specialist (without a complex child)

-36

Specialist (with a complex child)

-23

Further work is being conducted on additional allowances, including respite and
holiday; children’s savings; supporting other carers and the service; and Staying
Put.

Assessing the complexity of a child’s needs
17.

There is no current standardised process for assessing the complexity of a
child’s needs. To do this, it is proposed to use a standardised behavioural
questionnaire based on the Iowa Department of Human Services Foster Child
Behavioural Assessment.5 Foster carer representatives on the offer to carers
workstream, IFA Project Board and fostering service staff gave positive feedback
on the questionnaire, stating that the questions reflect the important aspects of
children’s needs and the form was easy to understand and to complete.

18.

A pilot across all children in placements showed that, using this assessment,
approximately 6% of children were eligible for the higher complexity payment and
20% were eligible for the moderate complexity payment.

19.

The process for completing assessments should be aligned with existing children
looked after review processes following initial assessment:
●

5

For short term placements, the decision made about the payment at the six
month meeting will remain for the rest of the placement except in exceptional
cases. For long term placements, the decision made about the payment at
the six-month meeting will be reviewed annually at a CLA review meeting.

http://dhs.iowa.gov/sites/default/files/470-4401.pdf

●

●

C7
The child’s social worker and foster carer will complete the form for each
Looked After Child (CLA) review meeting, where a decision will be made to
adjust the payment if necessary.

An exceptional meeting could be called if a child’s behaviour has changed
significantly between CLA reviews. A child’s needs assessment would be
completed by the child’s social worker as well as the ones already completed
by the foster carer on a regular basis. The meeting should be attended by
the supervising social worker; the child’s social worker; the foster carer; and
a senior manager. If there is sufficient evidence, the supplementary fee could
be awarded at this meeting.

Training and development
20.

It is intended to establish a three-level competency framework, complemented by
a three-level training programme. The three levels of competency and training
would align with the three carer levels in the proposed fees and allowances
model. Foster carers should be supported in maintaining an ongoing training and
development portfolio and evidencing the Training, Support and Development
Standards for Foster Care within 12 months of approval, the national minimum
benchmark specified in Standard 20. Progression through the levels of the
framework would be decided on a case by case basis following a
recommendation from the foster carers’ Supervising Social Worker, with approval
delegated to a Fostering Team Manager.

21.

Feedback from foster carer representatives was positive in relation to the
proposed competency and training framework. A key theme in foster carers’
feedback during consultation was the ability to take into account their previous
experience. A competency and training framework that outlines a list of key
competencies and training courses that AfC would expect foster carers to have
attended at each level should address this.

22.

A robust record keeping process will be established to track foster carers’
competencies, training and development. This will be addressed via the Policy,
Inspection and Systems workstream of the project, in conjunction with the
Fostering Service.

23.

The details of the competency and training framework are currently being
developed with the foster carer representatives, the Fostering Service, and
Workforce Development.

Support for foster carers
24.

It is intended:
● to establish peer to peer support in the form of ‘mentoring’ in small groups
(‘hubs’). Peer mentoring/buddying enables experienced foster carers to
provide guidance and support to those who are newly approved, and this
would also be part of the competency framework The details of the proposed
hub model of peer to peer support are currently being refined;
● to continue access to Foster Talk or Fostering Network membership;
● to work with in-house and commissioned psychologists and therapists and
CAMHS to develop therapeutic support across both operational areas,
accessible to all foster carers according to need.

C8
● to extend support for other members of a foster carer’s household

● to continue existing portfolio of events and activities and develop an annual
programme (e.g. free membership at leisure centres; Legoland tickets;
summer socials; Christmas pantomime tickets, etc.)
● that the Policy, Inspection and Systems workstream will be exploring
platforms for support (for example, a closed message board), and potential
systems that offer this capability.
Consultations
Foster carer project representation
25.

Foster carers representatives on the Offer to Carers project workstream and on
the IFA Project Board have contributed to the development of the proposed offer
to carers.

Public consultation
26.

Consultation has taken place with all foster carers on:
●
●
●
●

27.

the proposed fees and allowances;
the Foster Child Behavioral Assessment for assessing the complexity of a
child’s needs;
the proposed training, development and support framework; and
transitional arrangements.

During the consultation, AfC:
●

developed a web page with information on the offer and about the
consultation, including a ‘Frequently Asked Questions’ section relating to the
development of the IFA in general.

●

ran an online consultation using SmartSurvey.

●

provided an ‘IFA’ email address to which carers can direct their questions
and comments.

●

developed a fees and allowances ‘impact calculator’ for carers.

●

wrote individual letters to all carers, outlining the proposed Offer to Carers.

●

offered and conducted individual consultations with carers who would see a
reduction in their income.

●

offered individual consultations for all carers who would not be negatively
impacted by the proposals, but prioritised those carers who would see a
reduction in their income.

●

held forums available to all foster carers, where carers were able to share
opinions and where AfC were able to respond to any comments or questions.

28.

C9
The table below summarises the consultation, decision making and
implementation process undertaken since November 2018 and until full
implementation:

Activity

Date

Chief Executive sign off proposal and
process

7 November 2018

DCS liaise with Lead Members

7 to 9 November 2018

Consultation with foster carers opens

12 November 2018

Individual meetings with foster carers,
prioritising those potentially negatively
impacted by the proposals

As arranged

Consultation with foster carers closes

12 December 2018

Consideration of foster carer responses

11 to 12 December 2018

Final proposal consideration by IFA Board

12 December 2018

Kingston Children’s and Adult’s Care and
Education Committee consideration

7 February 2019 (papers by 7
January 2019)

Richmond Cabinet consideration

14 February 2019
(papers by 13 December)

Windsor and Maidenhead Cabinet
consideration

The Lead Member, having read the
proposal, has delegated the
decision back to Achieving for
Children.

Final decision published to foster carers

End February 2019

Transitional arrangements commence

1 April 2019

Full implementation

1 April 2020

Responses to the consultation
29.

A summary of the main themes arising from feedback, and Officer responses to
these comments, are set out in Annex 1 to the report. The following table
indicates the number of responses to the consultation:
Local authority area

Number of responses

Kingston

Online survey - 0
Foster carer forum - 2

Richmond

Online survey - 6
Foster carer forum - 0

Windsor and Maidenhead

Online survey - 2
Foster carer forum - 10

C10

Timescale
30.

The target date for full implementation of the proposed fees and allowances
structure is 1 April 2020.

31.

Phased transitional arrangements are proposed to implement the new system,
aiming for a period of up to one year for existing placements (i.e. from 1 April
2019 to 31 March 2020), with all carers who are newly approved during the
transitional period and beyond commencing on the new system.

Resource Implications
- Fees and allowances
32.

In adopting a fairer system of fostering fees, based on current foster carer and
placement arrangements, there would be an increase in the annual cost for
Kingston of c.a. £88,000. This increase would be realised after the transitional
period (1 April 2020 onwards). However, AfC is not requesting additional funds
as part of this proposal, and any resultant financial impact will be balanced within
year.

33.

During the transitional period, there would be an annual estimated cost of c.a.
£34,000 associated with maintaining the existing payments of carers who are on
a specialist rate, assuming current placements remain until April 2020.

34.

Overall, the proposed fees and allowances system costs c.a. £28,000 (1.1%)
more than the existing arrangement on a total net basis across AfC’s local
authority areas.

Local
Authority
Kingston

Current
Equates to the
New weekly cost Annual
weekly cost
council caring for
for core
additional
for core
an additional 𝛞
allowances
cost
allowances
children
£14,589
£16,294
+£88,660
3

- Training, development and support
35.

In the 2017-18 financial year, the total cost for training carers is approximated to
be £6,675, and £3,394 was spent on the Foster carers Independent Support
Service.

36.

Due to the lack of robust record keeping of foster carers’ training, it is not readily
possible to estimate the costs of the proposed competency and training
framework. Anecdotally, it is anticipated that most applicable training courses
have been or will be commissioned or are already available in some form. Work
is in progress to understand what training has been commissioned already, what
can be commissioned, what will be commissioned, and cost implications (if any).

37.

There should be no cost associated with the establishment of the hub model of
peer to peer support. The proposal to establish a therapeutic support group for
foster carers is being further explored.

Legal Implications

C11

38.

The Care Standards Act 2000 provides for the provision of fostering services by
an IFA that is an undertaking that discharges functions of local authorities in
connection with the placing of children with foster parents under the Children Act
1989. AfC is such an undertaking.

39.

In England, all fostering agencies must be registered with OFSTED.

40.

The Fostering Services (England) Regulations 2011 sets out the statutory
scheme for the conduct of fostering services generally.

41.

The relationship between a local authority and a foster parent is governed by the
foster care agreement, the terms of which are prescribed by regulation and
include details of training and support, review and placement procedure. Foster
parents also have a right to receive payment.

42.

The basic amount of fostering allowance payable, and the basis upon which it is
calculated, is for the local authority to decide with reference to the national
minimum allowances published annually. In addition to the basic fostering
allowance, local authorities have the discretion to pay enhanced rates for
specialist foster care.

43.

Legal advice may need to be sought on a case by case basis in relation to any
foster parent who claims their rights have been breached if the decision is taken
to implement these proposals.

44.

The local offer proposals are in accordance with the statutory scheme and are
within the local authority’s powers. However, members must still be satisfied that
the proposals are reasonable having taken into account the results of the
consultation and the Equality Assessment.

Risk Assessment
45.

The key risks as a result of this proposal are:
●

the loss of carers within the service, resulting in placement disruption to
children, higher external IFA costs for the same placements, or fewer carers
available for local placements;

●

an inability to recruit more foster carers to the service, if carers leave the
service; and

●

reputational risk if foster carers who are not in agreement with the proposal
approach the press and circulate damaging media about AfC.

46.

To mitigate the above risks, we have proposed an offer to carers that minimises
the negative financial impact on carers and minimises disruption to carers and
any potential risk to placement stability. The proposed system is a single, aligned
offer for all AfC carers, intended to distribute money fairly according to the child’s
needs and the carer’s training and provide competitive remuneration for carers
whilst offering value for money to the Councils and their constituents.

47.

AfC have also consulted with foster carer representatives on this proposal as part
of its development, and have endeavoured to incorporate their suggestions,
address any issues, and share updates with them throughout. AfC will consult
with the wider foster carer cohort, with particular attention to those carers who
would be negatively impacted by the proposed system.

48.

C12
Each council is required to meet the cost of children in their statutory care; this
will fluctuate based on children who come through system. The overarching
financial target is to reduce cost of children in foster care by recruiting more
foster carers, which is being addressed via the Publicity, Recruitment and
Retention workstream. The budget for recruitment of foster carers for the next
financial year across AfC is currently being determined.

Equalities Impact Assessment
49.

The proposed offer to carers will negatively impact the Kingston carers who are
on a specialist rate (one child under the age of 18). It will also impact the
Richmond Specialist carers (ten children under the age of 18) and the Level 3
carers in Windsor and Maidenhead who do not currently care for children with
complex needs (three children without complex needs in the care of three
different Level 3 carers). These groups only make up 11% of the foster carer
cohort.

50.

All other foster carers will see an uplift in their pay by the new system or be
unaffected. This is particularly important for newly approved carers in Kingston
and Richmond, who are currently being paid 10% less than newly approved
carers in statistical neighbourhoods.

51.

A full Equalities Impact Assessment has been conducted, focused on the foster
carers who are anticipated to see a reduction in their income in the proposed
model, across all of AfC’s local authority Members. This can be found in Annex 2
of the report.

Policy Implications
52.

New policies will be developed to outline and support the offer to carers.

53.

A new Foster Carer Handbook will be developed and shared with all AfC foster
carers by end March 2019. This will outline the new fees and allowances policy
and the new training, development and support policies, once agreed.

Health Implications
54.

There are no health implications arising directly from this report.

Road Network Implications
55.

There are no road network implications arising directly from this report.

Environmental & Air Quality Implications
56.

There are no environmental and air quality implications arising directly from this
report.

Background papers
None other than those referred to in this report.
Author of report - Matthew Edwards, Associate Director for Provider Services
Mobile: 07894 230769
Email: matthew.edwards@achievingforchildren.org.uk

C13

Annex 1

Summary of comments /feedback from the consultation and Officer responses to
the comments
-

about Fees and allowances

Feedback: Respondents generally agreed with the principles underpinning the proposed
fees and allowances, but expressed concerns if their income would decrease. In such
cases, a key concern was their ability to undertake alternative employment whilst acting
as a foster carer, with most stating that they did not believe that they would be able to do
both.
Response: AfC acknowledge that, where fostering is the family’s sole income, the impact
of having a gap in placements or having children removed whilst an allegation is
investigated can be profound. However, the need for in-house placements makes gaps
in placements highly unlikely and AfC can carefully plan with those carers who are
wholly reliant on fostering for their income.
Feedback: S
 ome carers have individual contractual arrangements with the local authority
that they would like honoured. Some carers would also like greater clarity on the fee
amounts that would be paid in exceptional cases, where children are at risk of residential
care, and how this would be agreed.
Response: Most current contracts have never been formally reviewed and individual,
exceptional cases will be looked at on a case-by-case basis, focused on the best
interests of the child. A robust process for agreeing the fee amounts in exceptional
cases, which would be reviewed on a case-by-case basis, will be established and signed
off by the IFA Project Board.
Feedback: Many foster carers raised concerns regarding the management and impact of
allegations made against them by children or young people, as this would potentially
impact on their ability and/or suitability to have children in placement and therefore their
income.
Response: AfC will consider whether it would support foster families when a child has
been removed due to an allegation, with each circumstance assessed individually. Legal
advice will be sought as appropriate.
Feedback: S
 ome carers felt that they were sometimes pressurised into agreeing to
staying put arrangements. Some carers also felt that staying put arrangements for young
people with special educational needs or learning disabilities should be considered
differently from those for young people without, with payments to potentially reflect this.
Response: AfC recognise that staying put arrangements can deplete the pool of
available foster carers for children, and therefore are looking at developing a supported
lodgings scheme that would enable some young people from 18 years to benefit from an
arrangement whereby family support is still available. Regarding staying put
arrangements, the proposals are distinguished between young people without an
Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP) and those with an EHCP. For the former, the
present proposal is to establish a flat rate across the IFA; for the latter, the proposal is to
assess the level of payment on a case by case basis.

C14

Feedback: D
 uring the consultation, some carers felt that the current placement and
matching process was not maximising the use of in-house foster carers according to
their terms of approval and placement preferences.
Response: Ofsted would be unlikely to accept any carers being asked to take a child
without their full participation in the matching process. The placements and matching
workstream will be reviewing the current matching process and ways in which to
maximise the use of in-house carers.
Feedback: F
 oster carers have requested further clarification on paid respite and holiday
payments (to take children and young people on holiday with them). Carers raised that
holiday allowances should not be used to send a child on activities away from the foster
family.
Response: The present proposal is that respite payments would be according to the
complexity of a child’s needs and holiday payments would be a flat rate for all carers.
These additional allowances are currently being further developed.
-

about Foster Child Behavioural Assessment

Feedback: Most respondents understood that the assessment would be a useful tool in
measuring the complexity of a child’s needs, and felt that it was easy to use and
reflected most behaviours of children in their placements. However, some carers felt that
a degree of flexibility was required, as it did not always cover all the needs exhibited in
the children they currently have in placement - for example, carers suggested there
should be a criterion related to whether a child had experienced past fostering or
adoption breakdowns, as this would likely then meet the threshold for the highly complex
needs payment. Some also felt that it needed to be updated to reflect current concerns,
such as county lines.
Response: AfC will be refining the tool that will be used to assess the complexity of a
child’s needs, and will be taking on board carers’ feedback on criteria to include.
Feedback: Carers felt that there would be a time delay in assessing the complexity of a
child’s needs between the child first entering a placement and carers, the child’s social
worker and the foster service having sufficient knowledge of the child’s needs to
accurately assess their complexity. Carers expressed concerns regarding the resultant
impact on their payments.
Response: AfC will be refining the process for assessing and reviewing the complexity of
a child’s needs, including timeframes for review.
Feedback: S
 ome carers felt that the assessment could be abused to exaggerate a
child’s complexity of needs in order to meet the threshold for a higher payment level.
Response: The assessment would be completed by the foster carer, the child’s social
worker, and the supervising social worker to ensure all views are represented in decision
making.

C15

-

about Training, development and support framework

Feedback: Most carers have shared positive feedback on the proposed
competency-based training and development framework, and would be willing to support
other carers in a mentoring system as a ‘buddy’. Some carers in Richmond and Kingston
expressed that a therapeutic support group would be beneficial. Carers also stated that
more support from their supervising social workers was needed.
Response: The support offer to foster carers is currently being further developed, and
will also be taken forward by the Placements and Matching workstream.
Feedback: Foster carers have expressed that they would like some clarity on AfC’s
expectations of carers at different levels. Some carers advised that AfC need to be clear
on its expectations of Level 3 carers, as the increase in pay from Level 2 to Level 3 is
small (+£30 per week per child if the child in placement has no to low complex needs).
This includes, for example, whether Level 3 carers would be expected to support the
service by delivering training, as they felt that such requirements would warrant an
additional payment beyond the Level 3 reward fee. Some carers also shared the view
that most foster carers, if trained properly, could supervise contact sessions and
therefore contribute to supporting the fostering service.
Response: The competency and training framework is currently being developed with
the Fostering Service and Workforce Development. This will detail expectations of carers
at each level.
-

about Transitional arrangements

Feedback: Carers have been in agreement with putting in place transitional
arrangements for those who would be negatively impacted by the proposed offer to
carers. Some carers have expressed that, beyond the transitional period (i.e. from 1 April
2020), they would not wish to continue fostering with AfC or would retire from fostering.
Response: The recruitment and retention strategy is currently being developed by the
Publicity, Recruitment and Retention workstream. This will include how to mitigate, as far
as possible, the risk of foster carers leaving the service during or after the transitional
period.

C16

Annex 2

Equality Assessment (EA)
Service Area:
Name of service/ function/ policy/
project being assessed:
Officer leading on assessment:
Other staff involved:

Fostering services- Kingston, Richmond and Windsor
and Maidenhead
Independent Fostering Agency (IFA) Offer to Foster
Carers
Charlotte Johnson - Strategy and Programmes Project
Officer
Sophia Spence-Cheng - Policy and Project Officer

BACKGROUND
1. Briefly describe the service/ function/ policy/ project:
Ofsted required Achieving for Children (AfC) to register our fostering services as an IFA. We
were granted registration in August 2018 and are aligning our operations to establish the
IFA as a single service across all three AfC local authority areas (Kingston, Richmond and
Windsor and Maidenhead) by the end of March 2019.
Our operational areas currently structure foster carer remuneration in different ways. Fees
paid are not always aligned to the skills of the carer or needs of the child. In Kingston and
Richmond, a small proportion of foster carers are paid disproportionately more than other
carers and the amounts paid are out of line with statistical neighbours. There are also wide
variances in the training, development opportunities and the support provided to foster
carers.
We want to provide our foster carers with a fairer, more transparent offer that is better
able to meet the needs of children who are placed in our care. Our offer must also be
competitive, supporting our strategic aim to recruit new local foster carers for local children
so that we can reduce reliance on more expensive placements secured through other IFAs
and residential care. Furthermore, over the last ten years, there has been a larger cohort of
children with complex needs coming into foster care; we therefore need to progress and
train as many of our carers as possible to the highest carer level rather than retain a small
pool of ‘specialists’.
The proposed offer to all approved foster carers, including connected persons carers,
includes:
● A competency based training and development programme aligned to the fee bands
recognising caring experience and professional expertise as well as training
undertaken;
● A banded reward fee based on the the experience and skill level of the carer;
● A supplementary fee, paid per child in placement if the child reaches a threshold
level of need;
● An allowance based on the needs of the child, paid per child in placement; and
● Continuing supervision and support from a supervising social worker, but expanded
peer to peer and therapeutic support.

1

Annex 2

C17

2. Why is the equality assessment being undertaken?
As a major AfC project which will affect foster carers across all of our boroughs, it is
necessary to complete an equality assessment to understand the impact of the changes that
are being implemented.
From previous analysis, 21 specialised/high level foster carers have been identified as being
negatively affected by the change.

3. What sources of information have been used in the preparation of this equality
assessment? (e.g national research, local needs assessment, user feedback) Please
provide the details in the table below:
Information source

Fostering team - Kingston
and Richmond
Fostering team - Windsor
and Maidenhead
ANALYSIS OF IMPACT

Description and outline of the information source

Protected characteristic data of specialised/level 3 carers
affected by the change
Protected characteristic data of specialised/level 3 carers
affected by the change

4. Assess the relevance of each protected characteristic group to the service/ function/
policy/ project and explain what the data, customer feedback, complaints or discussions
with stakeholder groups tells you about the impact.
Other questions to consider:
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

How well are diverse needs met?
Have any differences in access to services/functions been identified for any group?
Has the area identified any disadvantages experienced by groups, which need to be
addressed?
Have there been any complaints about a failure to receive an appropriate and fair service?
Is there any other evidence of differential impact or different outcomes which needs to be
addressed?
Is there any evidence that participation in areas of public life is disproportionately low for any
particular relevant protected characteristic group?
Have the needs of disabled people been identified and addressed where these are different
from the needs of non-disabled people?
Have you identified any need to tackle prejudice or promote understanding between different
relevant protected characteristic groups?

Remember that equality assessment is not simply about identifying and removing negative effects
of discrimination but it is also an opportunity to identify ways to advance equality of opportunity
and to foster good relations.

Protected Group

Age

Findings
Data
Of the 21 impacted foster carers across the boroughs, ages
range from 44-67 years old:
-

40-44 years - 9.5%

2

C18

-

Annex 2

45-49 years- 33.0%
50-54 years - 14.3%
55-59 years - 14.3%
60-64 years - 24.0%
65-69 years - 4.7%

Impact
There is a potential loss of earnings for foster carers in the
upper age groups as they may have less opportunity to access
other means of earning which may in turn have a potential
effect on pensionable savings or income.
Data
76.2% of impacted foster carers identify as having no disability
while the disability status of 23.8% foster carers is unknown.
Disability
Impact
No impact has been identified for foster carers whether they
have a disability or not.
Data
61.9% of the impacted foster carers are female while 38.1%
are male.
Gender (Sex)

Impact
No specific impact of the proposal has been identified based
on gender but the changes will disproportionately impact on
women because they are overrepresented in the foster carer
cohort.
Data
AfC does not routinely collect data relating to gender
reassignment.

Gender reassignment
Impact
The new offer to carers is considered of low relevance to
gender reassignment.
Data
Of the 21 impacted foster carers:

Marriage and civil
partnership

-

81% Married
9.5% Widowed
4.5% Divorced
4.5% Single

Impact
There are six married couples within the impacted cohort who
both receive income from providing foster care. There are also
four individual foster carers who only receive income through
the provision of foster care. The new offer may impact on
these couples and individuals as their income is likely to
reduce.

3

C19

Annex 2

Data
None of the impacted foster carers have identified as being
pregnant or on maternity leave.
Pregnancy and maternity

Race/ethnicity

Impact
The new offer to carers is considered of low relevance to
pregnancy and maternity
Data
90% of the impacted foster carers identify as White British
while 10% identify as African/Caribbean.
Impact
No impact has been identified based on race/ ethnicity.
Data
The religion and belief of the impacted foster carers is set out
below:

Religion and belief
including non-belief

-

Sexual orientation

Christian - 14%
Christian, Practising - 14%
Church of England, Non-practising - 14%
Church of England, Part-practising - 9.5%
Church of England, Practising - 19%
Roman Catholic, Non-Practicing - 9.5%
Roman Catholic (Practising/Non-Practising not
specified) - 9.5%
No practicing religion - 9.5%

Impact
No impact has been identified based on religion and belief.
Data
90% of impacted foster carers identify as heterosexual and the
sexual orientation of 10% is unspecified.
Impact
No impact has been identified based on sexual orientation.

5. Summarise the key findings of the equality assessments of impact- have you identified
any data gaps in relation to the relevant protected characteristics and relevant parts of
the duty?
Other questions to consider:
●
●
●
●
●

Are there findings of unlawful discrimination?
Can you address any identified adverse impact?
Can you mitigate any negative impact?
Please provide rationale if you are unable to address any adverse impact.
Have you identified any ways of advancing equality in this area? For example, meeting diverse
needs?

4

C20

Annex 2

● Is there a need for any actions to promote understanding between different protected groups?
The analysis demonstrates that one of the main impacts of the new offer to carers is that
the foster carers in the upper age ranges may have reduced income and may be less likely,
and less able, to obtain income elsewhere due to their age. This disproportionately impacts
women as they are over represented in the foster caring cohort.
The group of foster carers that are impacted by this change are specialised or highly
qualified foster carers, meaning they have a certain amount of experience. This group of
carers would potentially have historical pay agreements from when they started making
them susceptible to the changes being made.
The other significant impact of the changes relate to foster carers who rely solely on income
from providing foster care- either in a married couple or individuals. The changes to the
allowances may mean a reduction in income which could have a considerable impact if the
couple or individual are not able to obtain any other income.
In order to mitigate these impacts, AfC is removing the stipulation that specialist foster
carers must always be available to receive a placement and must take any placement
referred to them. This will allow impacted foster carers to seek additional income if desired
and provide them with more autonomy over their placements.
Although this assessment has shown that there may be a potential negative impact for`
some existing foster carers, the new offer will also bring a number of overall benefits:
● Promoting the wellbeing of children and young people to improve children’s
outcomes in adult life.
● A single, fair and transparent offer for all AfC carers that distributes money according
to the child’s needs and the carer’s skills and experience, including incentivising care
for the most complex children and stepping down to less intensive support.
● Upskilling a larger cohort of foster carers to be at the highest level and therefore
they are better equipped to support and care for children who have more highly
complex needs (e.g. those with disabilities or placement breakdowns).
● With a larger highly skilled pool of foster care our ability to successfully match
children to foster carers culturally and with the appropriate skill set.
● A competitive offer that supports the recruitment and retention of foster carers in
line with our sufficiency strategy and offers value for money to the Councils.
● An offer that minimises disruption to carers and potential risk to placement stability,
including the number of carers who might see a decrease in their income.

CONSULTATION
6. What consultation have you undertaken with stakeholders or critical friends about the
key findings? What feedback did you receive as part of the consultation?
We have consulted foster carers across all three local authority areas on:
● The proposed fees and allowances;
● The Foster Child Behavioral Assessment for assessing the complexity of a child’s
needs;

5

Annex 2

C21

● The proposed training, development and support framework; and
● Transitional arrangements.
During the consultation, we have:
● Developed a web page with information on the offer and about the consultation,
including a ‘Frequently Asked Questions’ section relating to the development of the
IFA in general.
● Run an online consultation using SmartSurvey.
● Provided an ‘IFA’ email address to which carers can direct their questions and
comments.
● Developed a fees and allowances ‘impact calculator’ for carers.
● Written individual letters to all carers, outlining the proposed Offer to Carers.
● Offered and conducted individual consultations with carers who would see a
reduction in their income.
● Offered individual consultations for all carers who would not be negatively impacted
by the proposals, but prioritised those carers who would see a reduction in their
income.
● Held forums available to all foster carers, where carers were able to share their
opinions and where AfC were able to respond to any comments or questions.
Feedback and consultation responses
The consultation has shown that some foster carers who responded have stated that they
could stop being foster carers if the fees are reduced or if they do not continue to have a
retainer paid when not having a child or young person placed with them. They also stated
that the change in fees would be taken into consideration when deciding whether to take on
long-term placements or not.
Given the scale of the changes, this response was expected. As set out previously, although
some foster carers may lose out financially as part of the changes, overall, it will bring a
considerable number of benefits, most importantly for children and young people, as foster
carers will be more equipped to support those with complex needs and those typical hard to
place children and young people will be more likely to be placed.

ACTION PLANNING
7. What issues have you identified that require action?
Issue identified
Planned action
Income reduction

Working with those
impacted to ensure the
negative impact doesn't
preclude them from
continuing as foster
carers

6

Lead officer

IFA Registered
Manager

Completion
Date
Ongoing

C22

Annex 2

MONITORING AND REVIEW

8. How will the actions identified above be monitored and reviewed and where will the
actions be captured i.e. Business Plan, project plan, service and improvement plan, service
plan poster or Personal Development Plan?
As one of the key strategic projects in AfC, the implementation and impact of the new IFA
including the new offer, will be monitored regularly as part of the project monitoring
framework. The new IFA will also be responsible for working with all existing foster carers to
ensure they are supported to carry on as foster carers, in spite of any potential negative
impact.

PUBLISHING THE COMPLETED ANALYSIS
When completed, the equality assessment should be approved by a member of AfC
Management Team and published on the Achieving for Children website. Please provide
details below:
Approved by
Ian Dodds, Interim Chief Executive, AfC
Date of approval:
December 2018
Date of publication:

7

Appendix D

D1
Children’s and Adults’ Care and Education Committee - 13 February 2019

Finance and Contracts Committee - 14 February 2019

Older People's Accommodation: Dementia Nursing Home Programme
Report by the Director of Adult Services
Call-in deadline 5pm Wednesday 27 February 2019 (ten working days after the meeting)
Purpose
To report progress on the development of a specialist dementia nursing home for older
people to be built, subject to planning approval, by the Council in Brown’s Road, Surbiton,
KT5 8SP and authorise further work to develop the options for a Council Owned trading
company to operate the home.
Recommendations of the Portfolio Holder for Adults Social Care and Health
To Children’s and Adults’ Care and Education Committee
To Resolve that 1.

the Director of Adult Social Services is authorised to progress the project as
described in paragraphs 8-29 of this report; and

2.

the Finance and Contracts Committee is RECOMMENDED to approve additional
capital funding of £5.26m (ref paras. G & H of the report) to support the project.

Benefits to the Community
The home will make a significant contribution to meeting the predicted future demand for
higher acuity dementia care in the Borough.
The home addresses the risk of insufficient bed-based care being available in the Borough
resulting in increased competition for places, a significant increase in the cost of care for
people whose care is funded by the Council, and increased pressure on beds in Kingston
hospital resulting in increased NHS costs and potential service failure.
Development of a centre of excellence for dementia care in the Borough with potential for
development of community based outreach services.
Key Points
A.

There is a pressing need in Kingston, and across London, for affordable nursing beds
in modern buildings that can be used to deliver high quality services safely and
efficiently. To meet some of this future need, and to avoid strategic failure of supply,
the Council proposes to build an 80 bed, dementia nursing home in Brown’s Road,
Surbiton KT5 8SP, on the site of the old Newent House Care Home.

B.

This report provides an update to the Committee on the implementation of the project
since the last report to Committee in September 2017, outlines the consultation
timetable for planning and construction phases of the project, and seeks approval to
further develop options for operation of the new home.

C.

There are estimated to be around 1,500 residents in Kingston living with dementia. It
is predicted this figure will rise to over 2,100 people with dementia by the year 2027.
The new specialist 80-bed dementia nursing home will help provide care for the
increasing number of older people with dementia in the borough, and will also
generate income from residents who are able to fund their own care to support the
capital cost of the project.

D2

D.

The home will be owned by the Council and run by a Council-owned, independent
operating company which will deliver high quality nursing and care services. By

investing in this way the Council can ensure that Kingston residents will have priority access
to the very best in dementia care

E.

Based on estimates for build, fit-out and project costs made in summer 2017, the
Dementia Nursing Home project was allocated £10.29m capital funding for
implementation, subject to procurement and gateway reviews at Concept Design
(costed design meeting the Council's criteria), and Construction Stages.

F.

The project is now at the end of the Concept Design stage.

G.

A concept design for the new home on the Brown’s Road site that meets the
Council’s design criteria has been developed and costed (target cost subject to
planning and procurement of subcontracted services). The target whole-project cost
for design and build of the new home is £15.55m.

H.

The increase in capital cost has arisen mainly from the increase in the cost of the
building (bedroom size; increase in labour costs); additional project costs (some sunk
costs arising from work with the previous design and build partner); and a 5%
whole-project contingency (an additional 5% construction only contingency is built
into the Design and Build cost):
Design & Build

+£3.95m

Project costs

+£0.570m

Contingency (5%)

+£0.740m

Total Additional

+£5.26m

I.

Officers recommends that the additional costs be approved as necessary for the
delivery of a home that meets the highest design specification for delivery of higher
acuity dementia care for residents.

J.

In January 2019 the project, costs, and the financial business case for the home
underwent a gateway review by the Corporate Resources Panel of the Council. The
financial position for the Council as landlord remains positive. The lease income for
the home, at £880k per year with an increase of 3% per year thereafter, adequately
covers interest and repayment of the £15.5m capital sum over the 40 year life of the
building, including landlord responsibilities for the tenant-serviced lease. Actively
managed lease arrangements will be put in place to safeguard the Council’s financial
position over the life of the building.

K.

The CACE Committee is asked to approve completion of the design for the new
home, with submission for planning approval in February 2019, followed by formal
public consultation and, subject to planning approval being granted, a review of the
Guaranteed Maximum Price for construction in May 2019.

L.

The Committee is asked to approve further work, led by the Director of Adult Social
Care with the Director of Corporate and Commercial, and the Assistant Director of
Law and Governance, to define options for development of a Council-owned
operating company to run the home. The Director of Adult Social Care proposes to
set up a reference group of interested members to ensure that the new company has
appropriate member oversight and is properly aligned with the aims and values of the
Council. A report and recommendation on options for the new company will be made
to a future meeting of this Committee prior to submission to full Council for approval.

D3

Context

1.

The Borough has an increasing number of older residents who need bed-based
care towards the end of their lives. Demand is particularly high for services for
older people with dementia - there are estimated to be around 1,500 residents in
Kingston living with dementia and it is predicted that this number will rise to over
2,100 people by the year 2027.

2.

On 29 September 2016 the Adults and Children’s Committee reviewed analysis of
the forecast demand for Council-funded bed-based care in Kingston and resolved
to initiate a project to develop one or more care homes for higher acuity dementia
care for people aged 65+ in Kingston by 2020/21.

3.

D4
On 21 September 2017 the Adults and Children’s Committee received the detailed
business case for development of the first home and authorised the Director of
Adult Social Services to implement procurements for goods and services to
implement the project.

4.

Capital funding for the project was approved by Treasury Committee on 5 October
2017.

5.

In December 2017 the Council implemented a procurement for a design and build
partner for the home. A contract was awarded to Willmott Dixon Ltd. in March
2018. The Centre for Dementia Services Design, University of Stirling were
retained as quality advisors to the Council, and Gleeds Ltd as cost advisers.

6.

The Council terminated its contract with Willmott Dixon in July 2018 and procured
the services of Integrated Health Partners (Vinci Construction and Sir Robert
McAlpine) as design and build partner via the Department of Health Procure 22
framework to deliver a design meeting the Council’s requirement.

7.

In November 2018, local Councillors were briefed on a new concept design for the
home at a project room set up on-site for local consultation in the old Newent
House Offices. Following these meetings, in December 2018, initial pre-application
discussions were held with the Council planning department based on concept
design.

Development of the Project - Delivering Dignity in Dementia Care
8.

This aim of this project is to assure an adequate and financially sustainable supply
of good quality nursing care in Kingston for older people with higher acuity support
needs and deliver dignity in dementia care.

9.

A summary of the overall timeline for development of the project is attached at
Annex 2 to this report.

10.

Our vision is to make this first home a great place to work and live. A home rooted
in the local community, with services inside and outside the home that help people
with dementia to live safely and with dignity. Working with the local community we
will explore community engagement in :
- the use of art and music in the home
- gardening
- reading and visiting
- history and intergenerational projects.

D5

Design and Build of the Home

D6

11.

Project delivery of the design and build element of the project is being managed in
line with the Royal Institute of British Architects best practice under a NEC3
(Engineering and Construction Contract 3). The approach provides for clear stage
controls (Concept Design; Developed Design; Technical Design; Construction)
and a Guaranteed Maximum Price for the building from Integrated Health Partners
before building work begins. A summary of key dates in the design and
construction elements of the project is shown below (a larger version of this
timeline will be available at the meeting).

12.

The project is on target, subject to approval of this Committee to proceed, to
submit a planning application for the home by end February 2019. The formal
process and timetable for planning applications will then apply. For project
management purposes we have assumed a May date for a decision by
Development Committee

13.

In addition to the formal planning consultation, a temporary project room has been
set up in the old Newent building to support early discussions with local residents
and our partners in care and health delivery on development of services, both
inside and outside the home.

Operation of the Home
14.

In September 2017 the Adults and Children’s Committee agreed to explore options
for formation of a wholly Council owned, independent health company to operate
the home.

15.

Officers have taken initial legal advice on formation of the Company and, subject
to approval to proceed with the project, will explore formation of a company

D7
operating under a charter - a legally binding statement of the aims and values of a
company or business including a definition of scope of operation - assuring service
priority for Kingston residents and equitable access to placements based on need.
A report on options and recommendations will be brought to a future meeting of
this Committee.

16.

The target date for formation of the Company is September 2019, subject to
agreement by this Committee followed by approval at full Council.

Governance
17.

The Project Delivery Board for the Kingston Dementia Nursing Home is : Director
of Adult Social Care (Chair and SRO); Director of Corporate and Commercial;
Director of Law & Governance. The Project Board will make quarterly reports to
the Council Senior Leadership Team chaired by the Chief Executive of the
Council.

18.

Member Oversight and Community Engagement :  In addition to the formal
reporting arrangements to this Committee, the Director of Adult Social Care in
consultation with the Leader, the Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Adult Social Care,
and the Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Finance will put in place arrangements to
assure effective Member oversight and community engagement in the project.

Consultations
19.

Formal planning consultation will take place in line with the Council planning
regulations. Additional service development and local resident consultation will
take place in line with the project delivery aims and timeline.

Timescale
20.

Timescales for delivery, subject to Committee and planning approval are show in
paragraph 11 and at Annex 2 to this report.

Resource Implications
21.

A whole-project capital allocation of £15.55m is required to implement the design
and build elements of this project. The detailed business case for the project was
reviewed at a special meeting of the Corporate Resources Panel, chaired by the
Chief Executive of the Council on 9 January 2019. The additional project
expenditure was approved, subject to a decision by this Committee to proceed, for
recommendation as part of the Capital Programme 2019-2020 to Finance &
Contracts Committee on 14 February 2019.

Legal Implications
22.

South London Legal Partnership (SLLP) has been consulted on legal and contract
implications of the design and build elements in this report.

23.

Further consultation will be carried out on the options for formation of the operating
company for the home and will be submitted as part of the future report for
decision to this Committee and Full Council.

D8

Risk Assessment
Risk

Likelihood

a. Build (& other
Moderate
setup costs)
exceed estimates.

Impact

Mitigation

Moderate i. Contract prices for the development and
setup of the home were higher than predicted
in the initial business case. The NEC 3
contract with IHP will now deliver a
Guaranteed Maximum Price for the
construction of the home on which the Council
can make a final decision before committing to
the build.

b. Income and
costs used in this
model are not
achieved

Moderate

High

ii. Modelling of income for the Operating
Company is based on benchmarked costs for
similar homes in South West London. The
Council, subject to agreement at Committee
and Full Council intends to recruit Board
Members and an Executive Team with
appropriate commercial experience to operate
the home and develop the care business.

c. Future unit
cost of dementia
nursing care in
the general
market is lower
than those
projected

Low

Low

i. The costs to RBK is modelled on 16/17
average costs for a dementia nursing
placement and a low/moderate rate for people
funding their own care. Prices would need to
fall below this to impact the business case. It is
almost inconceivable that prices for nursing
care in London will fall in the future.

d. Potential
benefits from
alternative uses
of the capital
sum deployed
are significantly
better than those
offered by this
project.
e. Should the
Council decide
not to proceed
with the project
there is a
shortage of
dementia nursing
placements in
the local area.

Moderate Moderate i. The Council is making this investment in
order to address the risk of strategic market
failure (see risk e.) and a rapid increase in cost
of care in the market and/or of emergency
alternative provision. The business case
demonstrates how, with an appropriate
margin, borrowing costs will be met and the
capital sum repaid.
High

High

ii. The risk that the Council is unable to find an
adequate supply of nursing care to meet
demand is high. If the Council decides not to
proceed with the recommendations in this
report it is likely that the Council will need to
enter an arrangement with a private provide of
care to secure and adequate supply of beds to
meet project need. It is highly unlikely that this
arrangement would be more economically
advantageous to the Council than this project.

Equalities Impact Assessment
24.

D9

The proposals in this paper do not change existing policy for commissioning
bed-based care for older people. However, an EQUIA has been completed to
demonstrate the approach to quality in design of the building for delivery of
dementia care services.

Health Implications
25.

Investment in Health Infrastructure : the Kingston Dementia Home project
represents a significant investment by the Council in the health infrastructure of
the Borough.

26.

Wider Service Developmen
 t : the development of a centre of dementia care
excellence and close working with other providers in the Borough will improve the
quality of dementia care more widely and provide much needed additional
services.

27.

Savings to Health : the Joseph Rowntree trust et al have demonstrated that
provision of nursing care in bed-based establishments can save the health
services more widely up to 76% on the cost of care for an individual compared
with the cost of supporting an individual in a home without nursing care.

Road Network Implications
28.

Road network implications have been discussed in pre-application discussions
with the Transport Officer and will be addressed as part of the formal planning
application.

Environmental & Air Quality Implications
29.

Environmental and air quality implications will be addressed as part of the formal
planning application.

Background papers held by the author of the report, Stephen Taylor, Director of Adult
Services stephen.taylor@kingston.gov.uk tel 020 8547 6052

● Report to the Adults and Children’s Committee - 29 September 2016
https://moderngov.kingston.gov.uk/documents/g7997/Public%20reports%20pack%20Thursday%2029-Sep-20
16%2019.30%20Adults%20and%20Childrens%20Committee.pdf?T=10
● Report to the Adults and Children’s Committee - 21 March 2017
https://moderngov.kingston.gov.uk/documents/g8000/Public%20reports%20pack%20Tuesday%2021-Mar-201
7%2019.30%20Adults%20and%20Childrens%20Committee.pdf?T=10
● Report to Adults and Children’s Committee - 21 September 2017
https://moderngov.kingston.gov.uk/documents/g8261/Public%20reports%20pack%20Thursday%2021-Sep-20
17%2019.30%20Adults%20and%20Childrens%20Committee.pdf?T=10
● Care Homes Trading Performance Review 2016, Knight Frank
http://www.knightfrank.co.uk/research/reports/care-homes-trading-performance-review-2016-4176.aspx
ADASS Budget Survey 2018
https://www.adass.org.uk/adass-budget-survey-2018
Joseph Rowntree - Providing nursing support within residential care homes
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/providing-nursing-support-within-residential-care-home
DNH 2020 Form B - Full equality impact assessment
https://docs.google.com/document/d/15Luea4BTE7IsO2bPa-Ui12-WaPzfwCyKpRxxghmOVsc

D10

Annex 1

Older People's Accommodation: Transforming bed-based care for Older People and those
with dementia and complex need 13 02 2019
KINGSTON DEMENTIA NURSING HOME - DESIGN CRITERIA

The Design Criteria for the project are to :
● Build a dementia nursing home for older people with a capacity of at least 80 beds
on the site of the former Newent House Care Home, Brown’s Road, Surbiton, KT5
8SP
● Provide a high quality living and working environment that is attractive to
residents/patients and staff and meets criteria for excellence in dementia care
● Be efficient to operate with particular emphasis on i. the care and supervision of
patients/residents ii. operation and maintenance of the building
● Achieve a high standard of fire safety, including mechanisms for evacuation of
non-ambulant patients and installation of an appropriate active safety system
(sprinkler system)
● Building life is expected to be 40 years with three major (landlord responsibility)
refurbishments over the life of the building.
● Handover: December 2020
The Council’s overall business objectives for the project are :
● To assure an adequate and financially sustainable supply of good quality nursing
care in Kingston for older people with higher acuity support needs.
● To develop a commercially viable nursing care business blending income from
public funds with income from people who fund their own care.
The Council will own the home and lease the building to a Local Authority Trading
Company wholly owned by the Council which will operate the home and provide all
services.
The Council will be the contracting body for this contract (Design and Build). The Operator
is represented by Nuovohealth, the Council's Consultant Advisors who lead the
Programme Team.

Annex 2

DNH 2020

RB Kingston - delivering dignity in dementia care
Delivering Dignity in Dementia Care
There is a pressing need for affordable
nursing beds in modern buildings that can be
used to deliver high quality services safely
and efficiently.
There are estimated to be around 1,500
residents in Kingston living with dementia. It
is predicted this figure will rise to over 2,100
people with dementia by the year 2027.

Strengthening local service
infrastructure Kingston Adult Social
Services has worked to enable more people
than ever to be supported by high quality care
services in their own homes. However, for
some of our most frail older residents, many
of whom have dementia or related conditions,
a nursing home is the only alternative to
hospital.

2016

High quality locally delivered care A

Working with the local community

Developing and building for the future

new specialist 80-bed dementia nursing home
will help provide care for the increasing
number of older people with dementia in the
borough, and will also generate income for the
Council from residents who are able to fund
their own care.

Our vision is to make this first home a great
place to work and live. A home rooted in the
local community, with services inside and
outside the home that help people with
dementia to live safely and with dignity. We
will explore community engagement in:
- the use of art and music in the home
- gardening
- reading and visiting
- history and intergenerational projects

Set to open by 2020, the new home will be
built on the current Newent House site in
Brown’s Road, Surbiton. Works on site are
due to start in early 2019, subject to planning
permission being granted.

The home will be owned by the Council and
run by a Council-owned, independent
operating company which will deliver high
quality nursing and care services.

Across South West London demand already
exists for up to 5 new homes of a similar size.

2018

2017

July 2016

September 2016

Winter 2016

March to May 2017

September 2017

November 2017

December 2017 to February 2018

March 2018

July 2018

September 2018

November 2018

Commissioning
analysis demonstrates
increasing demand for
older people’s residential
and nursing care specifically; lack
of placements for older
people with dementia
and/or challenging
behaviour

Adults and Children’s
Committee accept market
analysis and outline
business case to:
- Allocate or purchase a site
- Build a specialist
dementia care home
- Contract for operation of
the home

Agreement to Proceed

Newent House site identified

Adult and Children’s
Committee and
Treasury Committee
approve investment of
£10.29m to build a new
specialist dementia
nursing home

Design Group meet
with Royal Star & Garter
Homes and Care Home
managers to share
expertise and experience
on building and running
an efficient care home.

Early planning and market engagement

University of Stirling
(Dementia Services
Design Centre)
appointed as
Design QA

Procurement for
Design & Build
Partner via the
Procure22
framework

Design & Build
contract awarded
to IHP

Concept Design
Development and
revised cost estimates.

Market testing validates:
- market appetite for proposed
partnership model
- Financial modelling
assumptions
- Innovative approaches to
service delivery and building
design

2020

2021

2022

2023

November 2018

December 2018

January 2019

February 2019

June/July 2019

October 2019

April 2020

December 2020

March 2021

2022

March 2023

RBK engagement & briefings
- Cabinet Portfolio Holder
- Senior Leadership Team
- Adult Services
Management Team
- Local Ward Members
- Finance & Contracts Committee

Planning
pre-application
submitted following
iterative development of
the design with IHP to
deliver RBK design
criteria

Community
Engagement &
Formal Planning
Consultation
Begins
Community
involvement is a
central part of the
home’s mission
and our social care
model

Developed design
Submitted to Planning

Construction Phase
Work begins on site

Formation of an
independent
commercially-oriented
health services
company with an
independent board

Recruitment of an
entrepreneurial
management team with
the commercial freedom to
drive and develop highly
competitive services of high
quality

Dementia Nursing Home
Brown’s Road, Surbiton
commissioned

First resident moves in

Development phase
Planning for second
home underway with
potential for 3-5 homes
of this size to service
existing demand.
Develop ancillary
commercial services.

Second home opens
Planning underway for
third home. Delivery of
outreach services begins.

D11

2019

Design Criteria
● Deliver 80 beds on the Newent Site
● High quality living and working environment for
residents and staff
● Meet criteria for excellence in dementia care
and be efficient to operate
● Achieve a high standard of fire safety
● Target cost: £9m
● Handover: October 2020

E1
Children’s and Adults’ Care and Education Committee

Appendix E

13 February 2019
Kingston Local Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report
Report by the LSCB Professional Adviser
Call-in deadline 5pm on Thursday 21 February 2019 (ten working days after the meeting)
Purpose
To receive the Local Safeguarding Children’s Board (LSCB) 2017/18 Annual Report to be
presented at the Committee meeting by the LSCB Chair, Chris Robson.
Recommendations of the Portfolio Holder for Children’s Services
To resolve that 1.

the LSCB Annual Report for 2017/18 and safeguarding assessment is accepted and
approved; and

2.

the Committee’s comments on the priorities of the LSCB are referred to the Chair of the
LSCB.

Benefits to the Community:
The Committee will wish to see an analysis of local safeguarding issues in Kingston and the
priorities of the Board in order to address them, including those matters which are more
stubborn to resolve. The Committee will be in a position to offer guidance to local partners
and the LSCB itself.
Key Points
A.

Overall, we can see good local performance in services working to provide early help to
local children and young people, child protection and looked after children support.

B.

We have seen a small reduction in local child deaths. There has been a rise in children
becoming looked after in Kingston in 2017-18. Young people have told us that their
priorities are mental health and emotional wellbeing support; support around online
safety and bullying; and safety on the streets, especially around knife crime.

C.

We see some persistent issues: our workforce responses to situations of child neglect;
our resources to intervene in situations of risky behaviour and help support mental
health concerns. The Chair of the LSCB has been working with local statutory and
voluntary sector agencies to consider what further we can do to work together.

D.

The Government has outlined in ‘Working Together 2018’ the task for the three
statutory partners (Health, Police and Local Authority) in creating a new local
safeguarding partnership and to review our current local arrangements. We face a
timetable from national Government to put together a local response which needs to be
agreed by the DfE (Department for Education) by April 2019.

E.

The LSCB has developed four priorities for 2018-19:
1.

2.

Neglect – our Strategy was endorsed in June 2018; and we launched in autumn
2018 with a multi-agency conference on 13 November 2018. Over 100 local
practitioners attended. We expect Neglect Champions to come forward in
support from all agencies and sectors; providing further training and quality
assuring work in relation to working with neglect over time. We are running a
repeat free Neglect Conference on the afternoon of 14th March in Kingston;
Risky behaviour, mental health and emotional wellbeing, and exploitation;

3.
4.

E2
Participation to ensure we are hearing and acting on children’s voices in
Kingston and Richmond, not only by the LSCB, but through local agencies and
user groups;
Developing a strong safeguarding partnership to replace the LSCB in 2019,
by maintaining our good local work and relationships.

Context
1.

The LSCB (Local Safeguarding Children Board) Annual Report is a statutory
requirement and outlines the effectiveness of our local safeguarding children
arrangements and the impact of our work on safeguarding outcomes for children in
2017-18.

Proposal and Options
2.

It is recommended that the Annual Report is accepted and approved, and the
Committee comments on the priorities of the LSCB.

Consultations
3.

The draft report was shared with LSC Board Members in October in sufficient time for
Board members to provide comments before publication.

Timescale
4.

There are ongoing consultations regarding the future of the children’s safeguarding
partnership, not only in Kingston, but around the country. In Kingston, discussions
are ongoing and should be resolved for the DfE to ratify by the end of April 2019. The
local plans will be published by the end of June 2019, with implementation by the end
of September 2019.

Resource and Legal Implications and Equalities Impact Assessment
5.

None arising from the specific recommendations of the report

Risk Assessment
6.

The LSCB has a remit to provide a transparent analysis of multi-agency
safeguarding in Kingston to ensure that children’s needs are met. Any local
strengths and risks are highlighted in the Executive Summary.

Health Implications
7.

Health partners are members of our Board and share our priorities. The Clinical
Commissioning Group is the lead “health” strategic lead in terms of the future
safeguarding arrangements in RBK Kingston.

Road Network, Environmental & Air Quality Implications
8.

None arising from the specific recommendations of the report

Background papers - held by Elisabeth Major, LSCB Professional Adviser,
Tel 07833 481 774 :
● Behind this Executive Summary follows three further chapters of detail and analysis here:
http://kingstonandrichmondlscb.org.uk/about-richmond-lscb/annual-report-42.php
http://kingstonandrichmondlscb.org.uk/about-kingston-lscb/annual-report-48.php
http://kingstonandrichmondlscb.org.uk/media/upload/fck/file/Kingston%20&%20Richmond%20LSCB%20L&Dreportfinal201
8.pdf

●

Please see our completed Business Plan for 2017-18 for further details of work we have
completed as a team: http://kingstonandrichmondlscb.org.uk/about-richmond-lscb/business-plan-185.php

Author of report - Chris Robson, Chair of the Local Safeguarding Children Board , tel 07833
481 774

E3

RICHMOND & KINGSTON
LOCAL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD

ANNUAL REPORT 2017-18 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

“Tenacious enquiry and rigorous and respectful challenge between members has led to the
Board achieving a broad understanding and shared approach to safeguarding”.
Ofsted Richmond, October 2017.

Foreword by the Independent Chair
“The Richmond upon Thames Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) is good. It has
ambitious priorities for ensuring the effectiveness of local safeguarding services. Richmond
and Kingston Boards share one influential independent chair. Both Boards function
independently, but share some subgroups that provide increased opportunities for learning,
and other efficiencies, through economies of scale”. Ofsted 2017
Welcome to the Annual Report and safeguarding assessment for 2017-18. This is a joint
report for Kingston and Richmond and follows the new statutory guidance for safeguarding
partnerships in providing data, analysis and an independent assessment of partnership
safeguarding endeavours.

This is my first report as LSCB Chair, having taken over from Deborah Lightfoot who retired
in December 2017. I would like to thank Deborah for her significant contribution to the
Boards’ successes during her tenure.
1

E4

As Chair, statutory guidance now requires me to answer two questions of Kingston and
Richmond in a transparent way, these are:
●

How effective are our local arrangements?

●

What is the impact of our work on safeguarding outcomes for children?

In April 2018 in anticipation of the future arrangements, the LSCBs met as a Joint Board
across Richmond and Kingston for the first time. This new arrangement is embedding well
and is the result of consultation across the safeguarding community, with a view to providing
the best possible safeguarding for the children and young people in both boroughs. We are
working with local partners to implement the new safeguarding partnership arrangements
according to Working Together 2018, published in July 2018. They outline that new
partnership arrangements will need to be in place by the end of September 2019. I am
optimistic that our great collaborative working and supportive culture will be sustained in the
future, as they are the true keys to good safeguarding. Our Business Plan will be for the
years 2018-20 to ensure the partnership has a framework for the changes ahead.
There has been much flux around us in the multi-agency safeguarding arenas – the
Achieving for Children (AfC) cluster models are now embedded into the three localities
across our boroughs; the CCGs (Clinical Commissioning Groups) are merging into five
boroughs, Police merged into a four borough BCU (Basic Command Unit) in May 2018;
many health providers are tendering for contracts with all the change this brings. At the
same time, we have experienced increased demand for our services amidst a climate of
austerity. During this financial year, the Signs of Safety approach to partnership
safeguarding has been introduced to us by AfC and as already stated, new legislation that
will shape future safeguarding was introduced in the Children and Social Work Act.
2017-18 was a busy year and we made good progress on our priorities, as I outline below.
However, as I begin, I want to assure you as we move forward, that my focus is on steering
the partnership safely into the new arrangements for safeguarding children in Kingston and
Richmond so that our eyes remain on the children and families we serve. Above all I want to
thank all those who work and volunteer in our boroughs for their dedication to families and
their wellbeing.

2

E5

CHAPTER 1: EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
LOCAL SAFEGUARDING ASSESSMENT

Effectiveness of local safeguarding arrangements
Making Children Safer 2017-18

In 2017-18, the LSCB helped partners improve safeguarding for our local children,
providing guidance and support, scrutinising and coordinating practice, visiting
agencies and hosting events. Here are a few of our success stories.

APRIL
Charity Trustees are
made aware of their
responsibilities regarding
safeguarding, know how
to refer and access
relevant training and how
to ensure safer
recruitment is in place.

JUNE
A local school participation
project provides guidance on
PSHE (Personal, Health,
Social and Economic
education) for other schools
around mental health and
emotional wellbeing,
including student films. For
Child Safety Week, the
CDOP reproduces a
newsletter with a poster on
reducing the risk of accidents
to under 5s, as well as
sharing information on
asthma and allergy
management plans.

AUGUST
Kingston health audit takes place
regarding the needs of
unaccompanied asylum seeking
children and young people. Health
support for children educated at
home in Richmond is
commissioned by the CCG. Safety
awareness raising stalls at
Richmond Pools in the Park and
Twickenham Police Station open
day.

MAY
Over 100 local professionals,
including major hotels and
taxi firms from Richmond
and Kingston attend our
Child Sexual Exploitation
Conference, jointly led with
the local Police. LSCB takes
part in Walking out of
Darkness walk in central
London to highlight suicide
prevention, and the Named
Nurse at Kingston Hospital
raises over £300 for the
charity.

JULY
Over 100 delegates from
Richmond, Kingston, Merton,
Sutton and Wandsworth
attend a CDOP Conference
about learning on child
deaths-including learning
about substance use,
suicide and self-harm, and
safer-sleeping. Return Home
Interviews for missing
children are quality assured
by the partnership.

SEPTEMBER
LSCB Child Sexual
Exploitation and Missing
Children guidance is
refreshed. A Neglect huddle
with information and
guidance is created on the
LSCB website, as a
response to local learning.

3

E6

OCTOBER
Richmond LSCB as a
partnership is found to be
good in an Ofsted inspection
of safeguarding and children
looked after.

NOVEMBER
The LSCB Green Book of
Safeguarding for the voluntary,
community and faith sectors is
launched. Children Missing Education
guidance is presented to Independent
schools by AfC, leading to a 15%
increase in returns during the
following months.
Meadlands School, Ham holds an In
Safe Hands event about emotional
wellbeing.

DECEMBER
Multi-agency audits indicate
information sharing needs to
improve for children subject
to Child in Need plans and
Supervision Orders in
Richmond, and Kingston
Children Looked After.

JANUARY
The LSCB publishes local
sexual health pathways,
emotional wellbeing
commissioning guidance and
resources directory. Kingston
Council agrees basic DBS
checks for all Councillors.

FEBRUARY
LSCB launches the multiagency Was Not Brought
Protocol to remind everyone
that missed health
appointments can indicate
neglect. Private Fostering
guidance is refreshed.

MARCH
Almost all schools in Kingston and
Richmond have submitted their own
safeguarding evaluations. Language
schools are offered support, and
Richmond CSP hosts its annual Stay
Safe Youth Crime Conference for
young people. Hollyfield School in
Kingston holds an In Safe Hands
Event.

4

E7

How effective are our local arrangements?
The following Chapters of this report, 2-4, outline evidence of our local partnership
landscape in an effort to highlight the richness and complexity of our partnership
safeguarding and the quality of our local work. We can reach a view in terms of the
effectiveness of local arrangements through the benefit of external inspections, single and
multi-agency audit work, scrutiny of data, and trends identified in serious incidents and
learning reviews. We consider the involvement of practitioners in training, taken together
with their evaluations and its impact on their work. We still face some familiar stubborn
problems, as I outline below – these highlight the continuing need to improve our local
working.
In Kingston, there is a total population of Kingston: 160,060, of which 38,335 are children.
Richmond there are 199,419 total inhabitants and 45,493 children aged 18 or under. In
Kingston, 31% of people are from a BAME (Black and Minority Ethnic) background, whilst
16% of people are from a BAME background in Richmond.
The population is generally safe and affluent but there are areas of deprivation in both
boroughs. Housing costs are high and there are growing numbers of families with children
living in temporary accommodation, mainly outside their boroughs of origin. Low numbers of
children live in poverty but there are rising numbers of children with Special Educational
Needs, particularly from an ADHD (Attention Deficit, Hyperactivity Disorder), and ASD
(Autism Spectrum Disorder) background.
We see disproportionate school exclusions for boys, children from a BAME background and
those with some special needs. We continue to see more children subject to fixed term
exclusions in Richmond than in Kingston, and from a younger cohort. We can also see that
young people from a Black dual heritage background are more likely to be excluded
proportionally, as well as those with additional needs. They begin a trajectory of disaffection
and run the risk of becoming NEET (Not in Education, Employment or Training) as they grow
older. This then can lead to other risks, including involvement in exploitation and / or crime.
The percentage of young people 16-18 years old not in education, employment or training,
has decreased to 1.6% in Q4 of 2017-18 in Kingston (1.9% in 2016-17), against a figure of
1.9% in Richmond. This is 48% of those aged 19-21 years for the former Virtual School
Population for Richmond; and 36% for Kingston. Richmond has slightly higher school
absence rates.
Exploitation in all its forms continues to be a threat to safeguarding and for the first time in
three years, we have seen potential trafficking identified in cases in Kingston and Richmond.
Currently, the structure for the work around Child Sexual Exploitation is being broadened to
include criminal exploitation, sexually harmful behaviour and Anti-Social Behaviour. We are
currently carrying out a practice case review in Richmond regarding exploitation, which will
inform this work.
In 2017-18, a total of 34 Richmond children and 18 Kingston children were discussed at the
MASE (Multi-Agency Sexual Exploitation) Meetings. Two Richmond and two Kingston
children were re-referred to MASE in the year. Last year, more children were considered:
42 Richmond and 32 Kingston children were discussed. During this forthcoming year, the
scope of the meeting will broaden to consider criminal exploitation, radicalisation and gang
involvement. A total of 19 people have been classified as Persons of Interest in Richmond
5

E8

over the past 3 years, 3 of whom were issued with CAWNs (Child Abduction Warning
Notices). In Kingston, 3 people have also been classified as Persons of Interest in the period
although none were issued with CAWNs. One or more individuals may be linked to one
child.
The Public Health Teams in both boroughs have carried out needs’ assessments in
Richmond and Kingston about risky behaviour, as both boroughs are outliers. The latest
Joint Strategic Needs’ Assessment (JSNA) report (2017-18) tells us, for example, that over
1/5th of Richmond’s 15 years-olds engage in 3 or more risky behaviours – the highest in
London; hospital admissions for self-harm are now the third highest in London (up from
2016-17); and the mental wellbeing score for Richmond’s 15 year-olds is the fourth worst of
all London boroughs (What About YOUth Survey 2015).
Young People’s Voices:
Young people’s priorities are safe streets; mental health; support around online safety and
bullying and support around knife crime. Young people who live here tell us that bullying is
one of their main concerns, whether online or in school. We know schools seek to provide
strong bullying support and almost all offer online safety training for students, staff and
Governors; this has grown over the years in Kingston and Richmond. There is evidence that
we are effectively seeking to meet children’s needs, although the need remains great.
During the year, a local secondary school looked at the findings from the Richmond and
Kingston Healthwatches’ report 2016 on young people’s views on mental and emotional
health. They provided PSHE (Personal, Social, Health and Education) information for
schools, assembly plans and films for young people around online health, technology and
coping with exam pressures. This was part of our Safe from Campaign. They can be found
here:
http://kingstonandrichmondlscb.org.uk/children-young-people/pshe-lessons-assembly-plans235.php
http://kingstonandrichmondlscb.org.uk/children-young-people/technology-mental-health236.php
One of our key areas of focus is emotional wellbeing and mental health. In Kingston
referrals to the SPA (Single Point of Access) were 18% for mental health concerns for
Quarter 4, from 13% the previous quarter. For the total year, there was a total of 1,981
referrals against 1,513 last year. In Richmond too, demand has risen. In Quarter 4 there
were 663 referrals to SPA for mental health concerns and of them, 53 referrals to Child and
Adolescent Mental health Services (CAMHS) Tier 3. For Quarter 4 CAMHS has a 100%
performance rate for dealing with emergency and urgent cases, however due to the increase
in demand performance deteriorated in offering initial assessments within the 8 weeks of
initial referral.
Suicide is a key issue of concern for us in our boroughs. We have been encouraging
schools, in particular, to develop plans to manage crises, through our DSL (Designated
Safeguarding Leads) Forums. Over the past years, Kingston Public Health has sought to
respond to local learning around suicide, partly urged on by learning from our Serious Case
Review regarding Child B, published in 2015. In Richmond, Public Health began work with
us as partners on suicide prevention in autumn 2017, and this is being translated into a Task
and Finish group for adults and children to plan a community action plan, in the event of any
6

E9

deaths, this autumn. The LSCB continues to co-commission mental health first aid training
with Kingston Public Health, and the charity Papyrus presented at the Conference on
learning from child deaths in July 2017.
I am pleased that both boroughs are working actively on suicide prevention. But demand has
risen across all agencies against a picture of cuts and we are aware of how stretched our
colleagues are. This has led me to take a determined stance in involving the voluntary
sector, faith and community groups more strongly in partnership work, particularly in relation
to mental health support.
I want to work with local schools this year to identify those children at risk in primary school
as they enter Year 6, so that they have the resilience they require to stay engaged they grow
older.
Our safeguarding arrangements are effective; over the past few years, local performance
has remained stable and good. There has been considerable change amongst many
agencies, plus a rise in demand for all local services, where families receive extra help and
support. For example, the new Paediatric Admission Unit at West Middlesex University
Hospital is consistently full. Partly, due to a rising birth rate, and strong performance of
schools, there is a local demand for school places, resulting in new schools being built. This
overall rise in demand across Kingston and Richmond from early help onwards, could be a
result of a rising child population plus a raised awareness of safeguarding practice, formed
through single and multi-agency training. This rise could also be as a result of changes in
capacity of agencies due to austerity cuts and the fall back of commissioned early help,
preventative services and charitable support, taken together with changes in benefits and
housing entitlement.
There is an appetite for joint working in Kingston and Richmond with agencies working well
together; the new locality cluster arrangements have settled well, as has the joint SPA and
multi-agency MASH (Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub). This is a well-received local service,
as our partners have told us. Senior leaders are well engaged in the partnership
arrangements, and agencies offer generous funding and support in kind.
The roll-out of a Signs of Safety safeguarding approach and language for all children from
early help to looked after has worked well in the wider partnership. Our Child Protection
Conference Service, run by AfC is running smoothly. Together, a multi-agency group agreed
Child Protection Conference Signs of Safety templates for reports in autumn 2017. There is
still work to be done, however, in hearing from children and young people who have taken
part.
There have been good external inspections for many local agencies this year –
CLCH (Central London Community Healthcare), AfC, and Kingston Hospital for example.
Most of our local schools are good or outstanding. GP’s practices that have been inspected
have, in the majority been found to be good. In the few isolated cases where this was not
the case we are satisfied that adequate improvement plans are in place. No agencies are in
special measures, however external inspections have highlighted concerns for the
Metropolitan Police Force as a whole in its safeguarding children responses, which is
impacted by savings and large scale structural changes across London. The London
Ambulance Service has made great improvements, as has SWLStG (South West London &
St George’s Mental Health Trust) during this past year after concerning inspections. I note
the need in SWLStG, as highlighted in their most recent CQC (Care Quality Commission)
inspection, for independent advocacy for young people admitted to its wards. There have
been local improvements for the substance misuse service, CGL (Change Grow, Live), and
for West Middlesex University Hospital.
7

E10

The Board is currently undertaking two learning reviews, in Richmond and Kingston, which
will give helpful guidance for partners in terms of improving local and national practice.
During the year 2017-18, we have completed four learning reviews, which have led to
improved work around child sexual abuse, emotional wellbeing support in schools,
interlinking parental and child needs, working with young parents and work around chronic
neglect.
In our Quality Assurance work, we have carried out multi-agency audits looking at Return
Home Interviews for missing children, children subject to Supervision Orders and Child in
Need plans, and Children Looked After, Section 47 child protection investigations, and SPA
Referrals. These audits and local learning have given us good, detailed insights into the
lives of over 25 children and the working interfaces between agencies. They have pointed to
fairly stable work, but the need for ongoing improvements, particularly in communication,
hearing the voice of the child, information sharing, and attention to matters of diversity and
ethnicity in our work.
As part of this local safeguarding assessment, we have completed additional analysis of
areas where there has been little or no evidence of progress in terms of agreed priorities in
Richmond and Kingston from previous years: we consider work around neglect; Early Help
Assessments and early interventions; the timeliness of Initial Health Assessments for
Children Looked After; and reporting of attendance at Child Protection Conferences.
Engagement of local GPs in Child Protection Conferences in both boroughs, has been
problematic. Our multi-agency audits have shown a persistent theme of GPs not being
aware of multi-agency concerns for children or of engaging themselves in Child Protection
Conferences. The Child Protection Conference team has been working with GP leads to
improve this situation. The impact of reminding agencies to include GPs in information
sharing has not been very positive, nor so far have special measures taken by the CCG
(Clinical Commissioning Group), via the Designated Nurse and Named GP, or the AfC Child
Protection Conference team. This has been identified as a key local risk.
I wish to highlight the issue of neglect again in this introduction. This seems at first glance
alarming in boroughs of relative affluence and little significant deprivation. Neglect continues
to be identified as a key issue in our local case reviews. For example, over 20% of
appointments at the Kingston Hospital Bridge Team for vulnerable pregnant women were
missed in 2017-18. West Middlesex University Hospital has high levels of missed
appointments. In Kingston, dental decay for young children follows national trends, despite
care being universal and free. In Kingston, we can see that tooth decay at the age of 5 years
is slightly higher than in statistical neighbour areas.
Despite prioritising neglect as a key matter and holding an LSCB Conference in October
2015, this remains a stubborn problem. This is a national picture but as yet we see lower
rates of referrals for children in need in both boroughs, compared to our statistical
neighbours. We need to ensure good recognition of need which in turn results in early help
and support at a point where there is hope of change. We launched a “Was Not Brought”
Protocol in February 2018 to encourage agencies to act on missed appointments, as a
feature of neglect.
At the beginning of my tenure as LSCB Chair, I have reviewed all learning reviews and
strategies and decided an LSCB Neglect Strategy was required, and a refresh of the LSCB
Neglect Toolkit. There will be a Neglect Conference in November 2018 and the strategy will
be presented to local Strategic groups. The LSCB Neglect Strategy 2018-21 was launched
in June 2018. I am extremely grateful to those who completed this excellent work on behalf
8

E11

of the LSCB, the result is a strategy and toolkit that will assist all safeguarding professionals
to recognise and deal with this significant issue.
The rate of A&E attendances for children aged 0-4 years has increased steadily over the
last three years, from 518 per 1000 in 2013-14 to 732 per 10,000 in 2015-16 in Richmond.
This is now significantly higher than both the England and the London average. There were
628 per 10,000 attendances in Kingston, which is again a high figure.
Richmond has the third highest hospital admissions caused by injuries in children (0-14) in
London. Kingston also has a high rate of hospital admissions caused by injuries in young
people (15-24) in London. This year, there has been a significant increase in the number of
attendances to Kingston Hospital with social concerns and children who are known to social
care.
In 2017-18, Q4 there were 33 young people in treatment in Richmond for substance misuse.
Between 90 and 100% of exits from treatment were planned. Figures were similarly low in
Kingston. 16 young people were in treatment at the end of Q4, against 27 at the same time
last year. Nationally, young people in treatment has fallen 6% in 2017-18; however the drop
was 33% in Kingston, potentially indicating unidentified and unmet need. This will be part of
our forthcoming risky behaviour awareness work.
I have been disappointed that due to staff changes at West Middlesex University Hospital,
maternity concern meetings for vulnerable women halted in November 2017 and are
anticipated to restart in the autumn. There have been no near misses or serious incidents
reported to the LSCB in relation to young babies, however we plan an audit of cases to
assure ourselves this year. We need to be sure this interface gap does not lead to more
young children being seen as at risk of significant harm. Kingston Hospital also reviews all
cases, who come through A&E at a regular psycho-social meeting. Kingston Hospital has
seen a rise in referrals of vulnerable pregnant women, we could anticipate this could have
happened in WMUH, if the meeting had been taking place.
One of our Business Plan aims last year was to ensure the CPIS (Child Protection
Information System) was embedded in Kingston and Richmond this year. This has been
delayed for some time. As a partnership, we have not managed to forward this fully, whilst
all our health colleagues have systems ready, AfC has been waiting for improvements to
their IT system. Nationally, this project was to be concluded in March 2019. This is a
significant risk, as at the time of writing our two boroughs are part of four outstanding
boroughs in London. I am asking other partners to be prepared to compensate for this gap in
our safeguarding systems, and for AfC to expedite this matter.
This year, the rate of identification of children in need has grown in Richmond to 239 per
10,000 at March 2018. This is close to our statistical neighbour average of 238.8. In
Kingston, the figure at the end of the financial year was 766 per 10,000 which is not so close
to statistical or national averages. 219 Early Help Assessments (EHAs) were completed this
year in Richmond; all by AfC except for 8 completed by schools. In Kingston, 302 EHAs
were completed; again all by AfC save 4 by schools. We would like to see a rise in multiagency EHAs as a result of our neglect emphasis. As at March 2018, there were 796 open
cases in total to CSC in Richmond, which compares with the same time last year. In
Kingston there were 766 open cases. There have been a higher number of contacts to CSC
this year, and a higher number of referrals but not across all agencies.
There have been 14,584 contacts to CSC in Kingston and 16,403 in Richmond during the
year. There has also been a fall in contacts in Kingston. This could be down to significant
9

E12

changes in local agencies. Referrals are relatively steady in Richmond and Kingston
compared to other years but still remain below statistical neighbour averages. There were
1,074 referrals to SPA (Single Point of Access) in Richmond and 1,043 in Kingston. In
Richmond, there has been a fall in referrals from Police but a rise from health agencies.
Education referrals seemed to have reached a peak last year.
The LSCB Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) reviewed 16 cases across Kingston and
Richmond. During the year there were 21 child deaths, compared to 25 last year. Most
children were from a White UK background.
During this past year, we have seen a growing identification of need in Kingston leading to
more children accommodated, more Child Protection plans in Richmond, and 11 children
subject to plans for the third time in Kingston. Kingston follows a cohort of younger children
subject to Child Protection Plans, whereas plans are generally for older children in
Richmond. We have seen effective identification of sexual abuse of children in several
institutions, which has led to specific training and support to sectors, including sports. We
see a growth in the use of Section 47 multi-agency strategy meetings for children at risk of
significant
harm.
It is striking that the main factors identified for children who are suffering significant harm
(subject to Child Protection Plans) in both our boroughs are domestic abuse, parental mental
health concerns, and substance misuse, including alcohol. 450 children were registered with
Richmond Young Carers as at June 2018, against 668 in Kingston. This is a rise for both
boroughs. We know that this is often a hidden population, particularly for those children
whose parents have mental health or substance misuse concerns.
In Richmond, 97 children were subject to Child Protection Plans in March 2018; there were
138 in Kingston. 11% of Richmond children have had a repeat Child Protection Plan within 2
years, and overall 15% of children have ever had a repeat Child Protection Plan - this has
more than doubled from 6% in 2015-16, although it is lower than average national figures. In
Kingston, 20% of children have had repeat Child Protection Plans – this has been a
consistent figure for the last few years, although 11 children had a plan for the third time in
2017-18, against none for 2016-17. A third Child Protection Plan could indicate chronic
problems which have not been resolved satisfactorily or a premature ending of plans and
step-down support in the past. In Kingston, there were more plans for the category of
neglect, whilst the main category was emotional abuse in Richmond.
Over the last 12 months, the CLA (Children Looked After) population has stayed stable in
Richmond but risen in Kingston; is still below that of its statistical neighbours at 23 per
10,000 in Richmond, and 34 per 10,000 in Kingston-a rise from 31 per 10,000 in recent
years.
We can perhaps anticipate a rise in Children Looked After in Richmond as there has been a
rise in child protection planning. At the end of March 2018, there were 103 CLA in Richmond
and 130 in Kingston – more boys than girls in both boroughs. There is a significantly higher
percentage of looked after children from dual ethnicities than the boroughs’ demographic
profiles; this could be for reasons of higher levels of deprivation, and discrimination or a lack
of awareness of services in reaching out on preventive levels to these populations.
First Time Entrants (FTEs) to the Youth Justice System per 100,000 for Kingston and
Richmond are still below the London and National average. There has been a slight increase
of 8% in FTE for Q4 compared to the same period in 2016-17, but overall the trajectory is
improving compared to previous year. Despite there being an increase in custodial

10

E13

sentencing this year, Kingston and Richmond are still below the London and National
average. There were 8 young people who received custodial sentences.

The MARAC (Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference) is chaired by a Detective
Inspector in each borough and there are plans for them to merge. It has seen a rise in
domestic abuse cases this year and therefore a rise in children being discussed from those
families. Each MARAC considers approximately 20-25 cases per month. The overall trend
is quite clear, a steady decrease in total cases and repeat cases, until 2015-16 where the
overall cases and repeats have started to rise again. Despite the small numbers of victims
aged 16-17, there has been a growth in perpetrators of domestic abuse towards their
parents and carers, who are aged under 18 years. In Richmond, 28% of child protection
plans have centred around this. The numbers of BME referrals are much as the percentage
demographic in Richmond, but not in Kingston, where referrals have fallen.
Impact of work on outcomes for children
Our Vision in Richmond LSCB is “To place children’s safety at the heart of the delivery of
services in the borough and to ensure that Richmond upon Thames remains one of the
safest places in the country for children and young people to grow up, be educated and live
in.” Our partnership Vision as Kingston LSCB is to “ensure the best possible safeguarding
outcomes for children and young people by providing information, support and training to
young people, parents, carers and professionals”. Now as the local safeguarding
partnership will take over by September 2019, there will be a place for a combined vision
and shared values and priorities. We are working towards that, as I outline below.
From our safeguarding assessment last year, the LSCB wished to focus in 2017-18
on the transition of children between agencies, teams and sectors, including those of
children to adults’ services; continued learning and development around ethnicity and
diversity; outreach to voluntary sector, community and faith groups; we wanted to strengthen
communication between professional interfaces, and wanted mental health and emotional
wellbeing to run through all our work to ensure stronger prevention and timely help.
I am pleased that partners have shared our LSCB priorities with us; for example Richmond
Council appointed a Councillor for Mental Health, and the Mayor’s charity for the year was a
local counselling voluntary sector agency, Off the Record. In Kingston, in 2018-19, there will
be a mental health Councillor champion for every Council Committee and Strategic Group.
In Kingston, agencies have worked with us around transition, and a new Learning Disability
pathway has been launched after considerable consultation with the community; there are
regular liaison meetings between health agencies and Children’s Social Care in both
boroughs; for example the Referral and Assessment Team now meets CGL (Change Grow
Live) Adult Substance misuse team monthly in Richmond.

The Richmond Ofsted Inspection in 2017 found the Board to be good and encouraged the
LSCB to improve our action plans and make them SMART (Specific, Measurable,
Achievable, Realistic and Timebound) and to ensure action from learning was completed.
This has helped our focus. This recommendation has also improved multi-agency
engagement in our audit processes. We also had actions for the assessment of SPA
referrals, work on Private Fostering, improvements in attendance at MARAC (Multi Agency
Risk Assessment Conference) and Child Protection Conferences, and the provision of a
training needs analysis for the partnership.

11

E14

Managing Allegations made against Staff and Volunteers
In the 2017-18, there were a total of 340 notifications of allegations or professional
consultations in Kingston and Richmond for volunteers and paid staff working with children.
This is broken down to 171 in Kingston (an increase of 25 from the last reporting year) and
169 in Richmond (a decrease of 10 from the last reporting year). Over 2% of cases have
been technology related, usually connected to online grooming offences.
We launched the Green Book of Safeguarding for voluntary sector, community and faith
groups in November 2017 and have provided training courses on culture and diversity.
Tracey Welding, Board Manager has visited 40 voluntary sector, community and faith
organisations in Kingston and Richmond this year to support them in their safeguarding, and
looked at 10 organisations’ safeguarding policies.
Through our scrutiny of local serious incidents, we have reached out to sports organisations,
clubs and the Sports Development Teams in both Councils to highlight the role of the LADO
(Local Authority Designated Officer), and the need to respond to allegations made against
volunteers and staff. I am pleased that the impact can begin to be seen as we have seen a
rise in allegations made by sports organisations this year in both boroughs. In terms of safer
workforce, after some years of work, one of our achievements this year has been supporting
Kingston Council in taking the decision to ensure there are DBS (Disclosure and Barring
Services) checks for all Councillors, following local learning. This remains a goal in
Richmond.
Our learning has been filtered into our workforce development. During 2017-18, 1,192
people attended face to face multi-agency training. During the same period 1,847 people
completed online safeguarding training; these delegates are often harder to reach volunteers
and professionals. Please find our Learning and Development annual report here:
http://kingstonandrichmondlscb.org.uk/media/upload/fck/file/Kingston%20&%20Richmond%2
0LSCB%20L&Dreportfinal2018.pdf
We have also seen numbers of partners attending the AfC Signs of Safety Training. We
have held some significant Conferences this year reaching over 300 local professionals and
volunteers: In May 2017, we held a Child Sexual Exploitation Conference, in July we held a
conference about child deaths in Richmond, together with our local partners from
Wandsworth, Sutton and Merton, in November a Voluntary Sector Conference to launch our
Green Book of safeguarding guidance, and in early 2018 we held a successful Child Sexual
Abuse Conference. Our DSL (Designated Safeguarding Lead) Forums for independent
schools and Richmond schools have gone well, meeting three times this year, and we hope
to involve Kingston in the forthcoming year. This has led to several schools implementing
the LSCB “In Safe Hands” project across both boroughs, which as well as professionals,
primarily involved parents and their children.
I am heartened that some agencies have gone beyond their requirements for safeguarding
training. Kingston Hospital have a 90% compliance rate measure for Level 3 safeguarding
training and many schools now routinely train all their staff and Governors to Level 2, such
as at the Royal Ballet School. I am pleased that in the light of local learning, some of our
health providers, commissioners and clubs have been actively engaged in our training this
year.

12

E15

LSCB Governance
In April 2017, the LSCB moved from AfC as a provider, to being hosted by Richmond
Council and supported by Kingston Council. Early in 2018, we were given an independent
email address to go with our stand-alone website. For the forthcoming year, Board Members
will be considering the implications of the Wood Review and Children and Social Work Bill
for the configuration of safeguarding arrangements for local children. With the new
legislation, I have put in train plans to review the Board structure and gain consultation from
Board Members, identifying gains and risks associated with any major change.
As LSCB Chairs, Deborah Lightfoot and I have worked 77 days this year. This year there
have been four full time members of staff and three part time staff members, including an
apprentice.
For the financial year, the Board had a joint income of £441,100 and expenditure of
£507,886. There was further financial support from Kingston and Richmond Councils to help
us cover the shortfall.
At the beginning of the new financial year, some changes were made to the LSCB structure.
Below we can see how it stood at March 2018. In anticipation of new partnership
arrangements, the Serious Case Review subgroup was joined in May 2018 across
Richmond and Kingston.

13

E16

Behind this Executive Summary follows three further chapters of detail and analysis here:
http://kingstonandrichmondlscb.org.uk/about-richmond-lscb/annual-report-42.php
http://kingstonandrichmondlscb.org.uk/about-kingston-lscb/annual-report-48.php
http://kingstonandrichmondlscb.org.uk/media/upload/fck/file/Kingston%20&%20Richmond%2
0LSCB%20L&Dreportfinal2018.pdf
Please see our completed Business Plan for 2017-18 for further details of work we have
completed as a team: http://kingstonandrichmondlscb.org.uk/about-richmond-lscb/businessplan-185.php
Priorities 2018-20
In conclusion, our shared local priorities are placed under our general themes of Improving
Practice; Workforce Development; Communication and Engagement; and Governance and
Accountability. These will continue into 2020 and help to inform our work regarding the next
steps for the LSCB in relation to the Children and Social Work Bill 2018:
As well as continuing to build upon improvements already made, in 2018-20 we will focus
on:
●

●
●
●

Neglect - our Strategy was endorsed in June 2018; and we launch in autumn 2018
with a multi-agency conference, expecting Neglect Champions to come forward in
support from all agencies and sectors; providing further training and quality assuring
work in relation to working with neglect over time;
Risky behaviour, mental health and emotional wellbeing, and exploitation;
Participation to ensure we are hearing and acting on children’s voices in Kingston
and Richmond, not only by the LSCB, but through local agencies and user groups;
Developing a strong safeguarding partnership to replace the LSCB in 2019, by
maintaining our good local work and relationships.

14

F1
Children’s and Adults’ Care and Education Committee

Appendix F

13 February 2019
Annual Determination of Admission Arrangements for Community Schools
Report by Interim Director of Children’s Services
Call-in deadline 5pm on Wednesday 27 February 2019 (ten working days after the
meeting)
Purpose
To fulfil the statutory duty for the local authority to approve school admission arrangements.
Recommendation of the Portfolio Holder for Children’s Services
To resolve that the proposed school admission arrangements for 2020-21, as set out in
Annexes 1 to 4, to the report are agreed.
Benefits to the Community:
Under relevant legislation and the School Admissions Code, admissions authorities are
required to ensure fair access to educational opportunity and prohibited from
disadvantaging children from any social or racial group or those with disabilities or special
educational needs.
Key Points
A.

There are no proposed changes from the determined admissions arrangements for
2019-20 and the proposed arrangements for 2020-21 are set out in Annexes 1 to 4
attached.

B.

However, it should be noted that the Annexes include dates which are Pan-London
dates, within the secondary and primary schemes, and these may subsequently
change.

C.

Because there are no proposed changes to the admissions arrangements for 2020-21,
there has been no statutory wider consultation on the arrangements. However, a short
consultation with all schools on the secondary, primary and in year schemes (attached
as Annexes 2 to 4 of this report) has been carried out with all schools. This
consultation is carried out annually with all schools.

Context
1.

Admission authorities are required to publish the arrangements which they will
make to allocate places at schools if they are oversubscribe, i.e. where there are
more applications than there are places available. Before determination and
publication they are required to consult with other admission authorities,
neighbouring Local Authorities, Diocesan Boards (for faith schools), relevant
parents and the wider community. Admission authorities are required to consult
every seven years unless the proposed admission arrangements are different from
those determined in the previous year.

2.

The proposed arrangements consist of:
● the oversubscription criteria for community primary and secondary schools
(Annex 1);
● the scheme for the annual coordinated admission round for entry to Reception
(Annex 2);

F2
● the scheme for the annual coordinated admission round for entry to Year 7
(Annex 3); and
● the scheme for in-year admissions to state-funded primary and secondary
schools within the borough, i.e.admissions made once the school year has
started (Annex 4).

Proposal and Options
3.

It is proposed that the arrangements for 2020-21 as set out in Annexes 1 to 4 to the
report are agreed. No changes, except the relevant dates, are proposed from the
arrangements determined in 2018 for the 2019-20 admission arrangements.

Consultations
4.

A short, non-statutory consultation on the secondary, primary and in year schemes
which are attached as Annexes 2 to 4 of this report was undertaken with all schools
from 7 to 25 January 2019 and there were no responses.

Timescale
5.

All admission authorities must determine admissions arrangements by 28 February
each year and publish these on their website by 15 March in the determination year.

Resource Implications
6.

N/A

Legal Implications and Equalities Impact Assessment
7.

School admission authorities are required by Section 88C of the School Standards
and Framework Act 1998 and the School Admissions (Admission Arrangements
and Co-ordination of Admission Arrangements) (England) Regulations 2012 to
consult as necessary and to determine admission arrangements for their schools by
28 February each year. The requirement to consult is triggered only if substantial
changes are proposed or if consultation has not been undertaken in the previous
seven years. Kingston Council last consulted upon admission arrangements in
2018, for admission in 2019/2020 and is not proposing any substantial changes,
and is therefore not required to consult upon its proposed arrangements for
2020/2021.

8.

The determined arrangements must be published by 15 March. The proposed
admissions criteria comply with the legislation and School Admissions Code.

9.

Under relevant legislation and the School Admissions Code admission authorities
are required to ensure fair access to educational opportunity and prohibits all
admission authorities from disadvantaging children from any particular social or
racial group or those with disabilities or special educational needs.

10.

To enable parents to make informed decisions when applying for school places,
Kingston’s published admissions arrangements provide parents with clear
information about the admissions process, entry criteria and admission
arrangements.

11.

The proposals enable the Council to promote equality of opportunity for all children
by having objective criteria and procedures that are fair for all groups of children
including those with special educational needs and disabilities and children in care.

Risk Assessment
12.

F3

The Council has a statutory duty to ensure that there are sufficient school places for
every school aged resident requiring a school place. In its role as the commissioner
for school places, the Council works collaboratively with maintained schools,
academies and free schools within Kingston and with neighbouring Councils to plan
for and meet the demand for school places and agree admission arrangements
which will enable as many children as possible to attend schools within their
immediate community.

Health Implications
13.

The Council has a statutory duty to ensure fair access and educational opportunity
to all children from any social or racial group or those with disabilities or special
educational needs.

Road Network and Environmental & Air Quality Implications
14.

There are no network or environmental implications arising directly from the
proposals under consideration in this report.

Background papers - held by author of report - Hatija Bhatia, Head of School
Admissions and Fair Access (Kingston and Richmond), Achieving for Children,
hatija.bhatia@achievingforchildren.org.uk, Tel: 020 8547 5284.
●

School Admissions Code

●

Determined admissions arrangements for 2019/2020

Annexes
Annex 1 Admissions arrangements for Community Secondary and Primary Schools
Annex 2 Scheme for Coordinated Secondary School Admissions in September 2020
Annex 3 Scheme for Coordinated Primary School Admissions in September 2020
Annex 4 RBK Scheme for In-Year Admissions for the 2020/2021 school year

F4

Annex 1
Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames
SCHOOL ADMISSION ARRANGEMENTS
FOR THE SCHOOL YEAR 2020/21
Introduction
This document explains the proposed school admission arrangements for the school year
2020/2021.
A. Admission criteria for community schools in Kingston (p1–7)
B. Admission numbers for community schools (p8)
C. Scheme for co-ordinated secondary admissions (p9 and Annex 2)
D. Scheme for co-ordinated primary admissions (p9 and Annex 3)
E. In-Year Admissions Scheme for all maintained schools in Kingston (p9 and Annex
4)

A Admissions criteria for community schools
Proposed admissions criteria for Community Secondary Schools
1.

The proposed oversubscription criteria for September 2020 for the community
secondary school, Chessington School, are as follows:

Where more applications are received than there are places available, places will be
offered in the following order of priority:
i.

**Places will be offered firstly to Looked After Children i.e. children
who are looked after by a public authority and are in public care, and
previously looked after children who were adopted, or subject to a
residence order, or special guardianship order, immediately following
having been looked after. Applications made under this criterion
must be accompanied by details of circumstance and professionally
supported evidence (e.g. from a social worker);

ii.

places will be offered next to children who have a brother or sister,
including an adopted, foster, half- or step- brother or sister, living at
the same address and attending the same school at the time of
admission;

iii.

places will then be offered in cases of exceptional family, social or
medical need (which must be described on the application form and
verified by professionally supported evidence) which makes the
school concerned the most suitable one for the individual child;
1

F5

Annex 1

iv.

places will then be offered to children of members of staff who have
been employed at the school for two or more years at the time of
application and will continue to be employed at the school at the
point of admission or the member of staff is recruited to fill a vacant
post for which there is a demonstrable skill shortage;

v.

the remaining places will be offered to children who live nearest to
the school, as measured by a straight line to the nearest school gate.
All distances will be measured using the School Admissions
computerised Geographical Information System.

If there are more applicants within each criterion, distance from home to school will be
used as a tie-breaker and will be measured using the School Admissions computerised
geographical information system.
For applicants from the same block of flats or who live the same distance from the
school, random selection by the drawing of lots is used as a final tie-breaker.
If a parent applies for entry into the same year group for more than one child and there is
only one place available, random selection by the drawing of lots is used as a final
tie-breaker to decide which child should have the place. The remaining brothers or sisters
will be added to the waiting list in accordance with criterion (ii).
Proposed admissions criteria for community Infant and Primary Schools
2.

The proposed oversubscription criteria for community infant and primary
schools are as follows:

Where more applications are received than there are places available, places will be
offered in the following order of priority:
i.

**Places will be offered firstly to Looked After Children i.e. children
who are looked after by a public authority and are in public care, and
previously looked after children who were adopted, or subject to a
residence order, or special guardianship order, immediately following
having been looked after. Applications made under this criterion
must be accompanied by details of circumstance and professionally
supported evidence (e.g. from a social worker);

ii.

places will be offered next to children who have a brother or sister,
including an adopted, foster, half- or step- brother or sister, living at
the same address and attending Reception to Year 6 at the same
school (or the paired junior school) at the time of admission;

iii.

places will then be offered in cases of exceptional family, social, or
medical need (which must be described on the application form and
2

F6

Annex 1
verified by professionally supported evidence) which makes the
school concerned the most suitable one for the individual child;
iv.

places will then be offered to children of members of staff who have
been employed at the school for two or more years at the time of
application and will continue to be employed at the school at the
point of admission or the member of staff is recruited to fill a vacant
post for which there is a demonstrable skill shortage;

v.

the remaining places will be offered to children who live nearest to
the school, as measured by a straight line to the nearest school gate.
All distances will be measured using the School Admissions
computerised Geographical Information System. For Ellingham
Primary School (in Chessington) only, a child living in the Malden
Rushett area will have priority over children who live nearer to the
school but outside that area.

If there are more applicants within each criterion, distance from home to school will be
used as a tie-breaker and will be measured using the School Admissions computerised
geographical information system.
For applicants from the same block of flats or who live the same distance from the
school, random selection by the drawing of lots is used as a final tie-breaker.
If a parent applies for entry into the same year group for more than one child and there is
only one place available, random selection by the drawing of lots is used as a final
tie-breaker to decide which child should have the place. The remaining brothers or sisters
will be added to the waiting list in accordance with criterion (ii).
Proposed admissions criteria for community Junior Schools
3.

The proposed oversubscription criteria for community junior schools are as
follows:

Where more applications are received than there are places available, places will be
offered in the following order of priority:
i.

**Places will be offered firstly to Looked After Children i.e. children
who are looked after by a public authority and are in public care, and
previously looked after children who were adopted, or subject to a
residence order, or special guardianship order, immediately following
having been looked after. Applications made under this criterion
must be accompanied by details of circumstance and professionally
supported evidence (e.g. from a social worker);

ii.

places will be offered secondly to children attending the “paired”
community infant school*;
3

F7

Annex 1
iii.

places will be offered next to children who have a brother or sister,
including an adopted, foster, half- or step- brother or sister, living at
the same address and attending Reception to Year 6 at the same
school (or the paired infant school) at the time of admission;

iv.

places will then be offered in cases of exceptional family, social or
medical need (which must be described on the application form and
verified by professionally supported evidence) which makes the
school concerned the most suitable one for the individual child;

v.

places will then be offered to children of members of staff who have
been employed at the school for two or more years at the time of
application and will continue to be employed at the school at the
point of admission or the member of staff is recruited to fill a vacant
post for which there is a demonstrable skill shortage;

vi.

the remaining places will be offered to children who live nearest to
the school, as measured by a straight line to the nearest school gate.
All distances will be measured using the School Admissions
computerised Geographical Information System.
rion ii) will only apply until 31 August 2020, when the applicant will
have left the paired infant school

If there are more applicants within each criterion, distance from home to school will be
used as a tie-breaker and will be measured using the School Admissions computerised
geographical information system.
For applicants from the same block of flats or who live the same distance from the
school, random selection by the drawing of lots is used as a final tie-breaker.
If a parent applies for entry into the same year group for more than one child and there is
only one place available, random selection by the drawing of lots is used as a final
tie-breaker to decide which child should have the place. The remaining brothers or sisters
will be added to the waiting list in accordance with criterion (ii).
Proposed admissions criteria for Community Nursery Schools
4.

The proposed oversubscription criteria for community nursery schools are:

Where more applications are received than there are places available, places
will be offered in the following order of priority:
i.

**Places will be offered firstly to Looked After Children i.e. children
who are looked after by a public authority and are in public care, and
previously looked after children who were adopted, or subject to a
residence order, or special guardianship order, immediately following
having been looked after. Applications made under this criterion
4

F8

Annex 1
must be accompanied by details of circumstance and professionally
supported evidence (e.g. from a social worker);
ii.

places will be offered next to children who have a brother or sister,
including an adopted, foster, half- or step- brother or sister, living at
the same address and attending Reception to Year 6 at the same
school (or the paired junior school) at the time of admission;

iii.

places will then be offered in cases of exceptional family, social, or
medical need (which must be described on the application form and
verified by professionally supported evidence) which makes the
school concerned the most suitable one for the individual child;

iv.

places will then be offered to children of members of staff who have
been employed at the school for two or more years at the time of
application and will continue to be employed at the school at the
point of admission or the member of staff is recruited to fill a vacant
post for which there is a demonstrable skill shortage;

v.

the remaining places will be offered to children who live nearest to
the school, as measured by a straight line to the nearest school gate.
All distances will be measured using the School Admissions
computerised Geographical Information System. For Ellingham
Primary School (in Chessington) only, a child living in the Malden
Rushett area will have priority over children who live nearer to the
school but outside that area.

If there are more applicants within each criterion, distance from home to school will be
used as a tie-breaker and will be measures using the School Admissions computerised
geographical information system.
For applicants from the same block of flats or who live the same distance from the
school, random selection by the drawing of lots is used as a final tie-breaker.
If a parent applies for entry into the same year group for more than one child and there is
only one place available, random selection by the drawing of lots is used as a final
tie-breaker to decide which child should have the place. The remaining brothers or sisters
will be added to the waiting list in accordance with criterion (ii).
**Under community school admissions criteria for secondary, primary, junior and
nursery admissions the definition of Looked After Children and previously looked
after children is as follows:
Looked After Children
Children who are (a) in the care of a local authority, or (b) being provided with
accommodation by a local authority in the exercise of their social services functions in
accordance with section 22 of the Children Act 1989, at the time an application for a
school is made;
5

F9

Annex 1
Previously Looked After Children
Children who were previously looked after, but ceased to be so because they were
adopted (under the Adoption Act 1976 or Adoption and Children’s Act 2002), or became
subject to a child arrangements order or special guardianship order.
Measuring home to school distance
5.

The Council has a standard method of measuring home to school distance in
a straight line using the School Admissions computerised Geographical
Information System using data supplied by Ordnance Survey (OS).

The starting point is a grid reference point, which is supplied by Ordnance Survey.
Residents of every floor level in a particular block of flats are given an identical start
point, regardless of the distance to ground floor level.
The end point is measured to the nearest school gate where the school
has more than one school gate used for measuring home to school distances
Use of a final tie breaker
6.

For applicants from the same block of flats, or who live the same distance
from the school, random selection by the drawing of lots is used as a final
tie-breaker. The distance from home to school is used as a ‘tie-breaker’ if
there are more applications than places available under any higher criteria.

7.

If a parent applies for entry into the same year group for more than one child
and there is only one place available, random selection by the drawing of lots
is used as a final tie-breaker to decide which child should have the place. The
names of the remaining brothers or sisters will be added to the waiting list in
accordance with criterion (ii).

Waiting lists for community schools
8.

The child’s name will automatically be put on the waiting list, in criteria order,
of any school which is a higher preference to the school he/she has been
offered.

9.

A parent/carer may ask for their child’s name to be added to the waiting list of
a lower preference school to the one the child has been offered, or on one
that they did not originally name as a preference. His/her name will be added
to the waiting list in criteria order.

10.

The names of late applicants will be added to waiting lists in criteria order
regardless of the date the application was received.

11.

Waiting lists for community schools will be kept open throughout the
academic year until the end of the summer term in July 2021. After this date,
waiting lists will be disbanded and parents who would like their child’s name
to remain on any waiting list will need to request this in writing.
6

F10

Annex 1

Applying for entry into the reception class of a primary or infant school
12.

For children currently attending a school nursery, parents/carers must
complete an application form for entry into the Reception class even if the
child attends the nursery class at the same school. Priority is not given to
children who attend the nursery class in the same school. This is to ensure
that parents who place their children in other kinds of nursery, or do not use a
nursery, are treated fairly when applying for a school place for their child.

Deferred entry or part-time attendance in Reception year
13.

Parents can defer their child’s entry to school until later in the school year or
to attend part-time, but only until the child reaches compulsory school age in
that school year i.e. the latest their child can start school is at the beginning of
the summer term 2021. Once a place has been offered, parents can confirm
the arrangements with the Head teacher of the school.

Admission outside of the child’s normal age group
14.

Parents seeking admission to an age group below their child’s actual age
should submit their request with their application by the closing date of 15
January 2020. They will also need to submit a separate written request and
may provide supporting documentation should they wish to do so.

15.

Each request will be carefully considered and a decision will be made on the
individual merits of each case. The decision will take into account parents’
views, information about their child’s academic, social and emotional
development, their medical history and the views of a medical professional, if
applicable. Consideration will be given to whether they may naturally have
fallen into a lower age group if it were not for being born prematurely and
whether they have previously been educated outside of their normal age
group. Views of senior school staff, the manager of their current early years
setting and other professionals will also be taken into account.

16.

For summer born children, if it is agreed that they can be educated in a
younger year group, parents will need to re-apply in the following year for
entry into Reception in September 2021.

Children with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities
17.

If a child is undergoing an assessment of special educational needs and a
parent/carer does not know what the outcome will be by the closing date of
application, they should apply for a school place using the common
application form. If a particular school is later named in the child’s Education
and Health Care Plan (EHCP), formerly known as a Statement of Special
7

F11

Annex 1
Educational Needs, a place will be provided automatically for the child at that
school.
Children with an EHCP (formerly known as Statement of Special Educational
Needs)
18.

B.

If a child has an EHCP (or Statement), he/she will be offered a place at the
school named in their EHCP, in accordance with the Education Act 1996 and
the Special Educational Needs Code of Practice.

ADMISSIONS NUMBERS FOR SEPTEMBER 2020/2021

Proposed Secondary School Admission Numbers for September 2020/2021
19.

There are no changes to the admission number for Chessington School for
September 2020. This number is as follows:
School
Chessington School

Proposed Admission No
150

Proposed Primary School Admission Numbers for September 2020/2021
20.

There are no changes to admission numbers for community primary, junior
and infant schools for September 2020. The numbers are as follows:
School
Alexandra
Burlington Infant
Burlington Junior
Coombe Hill Infant
Coombe Hill Junior
Ellingham Primary
Fern Hill Primary
Grand Avenue Primary
Green Lane Primary
King Athelstan Primary
King’s Oak Primary
Lovelace Primary
Malden Manor Primary
Maple Infant
Robin Hood Primary
Tolworth Infant
Tolworth Junior

Proposed Admission No
60
120
120
90
90
60
90
90
60
60
90
90
60
90
30
90
90
8

F12

Annex 1

C.

Scheme for co-ordinated secondary admissions

Co-ordinated Secondary School Admission Arrangements
21.

D.

The co-ordinated scheme for secondary admissions for September 2020 is
attached as Annex 2 and does not differ significantly from the LA’s scheme
for 2019 admissions except in the dates of the commonly agreed timetable.

Scheme for co-ordinated primary admissions

Co-ordinated Primary School Admission Arrangements
22.

E.

The co-ordinated scheme for primary admissions for September 2020 is
attached as Annex 3 and does not differ significantly from the LA’s scheme
for 2019 admissions except in the dates of the commonly agreed timetable.

In-Year Admissions Scheme for all maintained schools in Kingston

In-Year Admissions for 2020-2021 for all maintained schools
23.

The proposed scheme which is attached as Annex 4 is based on the
principles of maintaining key benefits of the existing scheme and meeting the
requirements of the School Admissions Code.

24.

It is recognised by Kingston schools and the LA that the scheme may need to
be amended as a result of ongoing review and work between Las and schools
to agree procedures that promote fair access and improve outcomes for pupil
admissions to schools.

9

F13

Annex 2
ROYAL BOROUGH OF KINGSTON UPON THAMES
SCHEME FOR COORDINATED SECONDARY SCHOOL ADMISSIONS
FOR SEPTEMBER 2020 ENTRY
The Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames Local Authority (LA) will be administering
admissions to secondary schools in accordance with the Pan London Co-ordinated
Admissions scheme. This scheme has been adopted by all London boroughs and adjacent
LAs including Surrey County Council, that have agreed to use a common scheme that
incorporates a common timetable and application forms which have common elements. All
London LAs allow parents to nominate up to six schools in preference order. It is hoped
that the commonality of the schemes adopted by all participating authorities will help
simplify the application procedure and processing, and help to achieve some equity of
treatment for applicants to secondary schools across the London Region.
Glossary of terms in the scheme
“the Application Year”

the academic year in which the parent makes an application
i.e. in relation to the academic year of entry, the year
preceding it
“the Board”
the Pan London Admissions Executive Board, which is
responsible for the Scheme
“the Business User
the document issued annually to participating LAs setting out
Guide (BUG)”
the operational procedures of the Scheme
“the Common Application this is the form that each LA must have under the Regulations
Form”
for parents to use to make their applications, set out in rank
order
“the London E-Admissions the common online application system used by the 33 London
Portal”
LAs and Surrey County Council
“the Equal Preference
the model whereby all preferences listed by parents on the
System”
Common Application Form are considered under the
over-subscription criteria for each school without reference to
parental rankings. Where a pupil is offered a place at more
than one school within an LA, the rankings are used to
determine the single offer by selecting the one ranked highest
of those which can offer a place
“the Home LA”
the LA in which the applicant/parent/carer is resident
“the Local Admission
the IT module for administering admissions in each LA and for
System (LAS)”
determining the highest offer both within and between
participating LAs
“the Maintaining LA”
the LA which maintains a school to which an
applicant/parent/carer has applied
“the Notification Letter”
the agreed form of letter sent to applicants on the Prescribed
Day which communicates decisions
granting or refusing admission to a secondary school, which is
attached as Schedule 2
“the Prescribed Day”
1st March in the year following the relevant determination year
except that, in any year which that day is not a working day,
the prescribed day shall be the next working day
10

F14

Annex 2
the day on which
outcome letters are
posted to parents/carers.
“the Pan-London Register
(PLR)”
“the Pan-London
Timetable”
“the Qualifying Scheme”

the database which will transmit application and offer data
between each LA’s local admission system
the framework for processing of application data
the scheme which each LA is required to formulate in
accordance with the School Admissions (Coordination of
Admission Arrangements) Regulations 2008 for coordinating
arrangements for the admission of pupils to maintained
secondary schools and academies

Applications
1.

Applications from Kingston’s residents will be made on Kingston’s Common
Application Form, which will be available in paper form and online. This will include all
the fields and information specified in Schedule 2 (attached) to this LA Scheme.
These will be supplemented by any additional fields and information deemed
necessary by this LA.

2.

This LA will advise home LAs of their resident pupils on the roll of this LA’s primary
schools and whose parents are eligible to make application in the forthcoming
application year.

3.

This LA will take reasonable steps to ensure that every parent who has a child in the
last year of primary education within a state funded school, and is a resident in the
Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames (RBK), has access to the online brochure
“Admission to Kingston’s Secondary Schools” and supplementary information forms
for RBK schools. The online brochure and supplementary information forms will also
be available to parents who are non-residents of this LA and will include information
on how they can access their Home LA’s online application process or paper
application if they are unable to apply online.

4.

Applicants will be able to express a preference for up to six maintained secondary
schools and academies within and/or outside the Home LA (including any City
Technical Colleges that have agreed to participate in their LA’s Qualifying Scheme).

5.

The admission authorities within this LA will not use supplementary information forms
except where the information is required to apply the published over-subscription
criteria and the information available through the Common Application Form is not
sufficient for consideration of the application against a school’s published admissions
criteria. The LA will seek to ensure admission authorities within its area only collect
information that is required by the published admissions criteria, in accordance with
the School Admissions Code.

6.

Where supplementary information forms are used, information on how to access the
forms will be made available on the RBK website. Parents will be advised in the
Secondary Schools brochure which schools require these forms to be completed,
11

F15

Annex 2
where to obtain the forms and to return the supplementary information forms direct to
the school by the closing date. The supplementary information forms must also
advise parents that they must also complete their Home LA’s Common Application
Form, in accordance with the School Admissions Code.
7.

In accordance with paragraph 1.9 of the School Admissions Code, the order of
preference given on the Common Application Form will not be revealed except where
a parent resident in this LA expresses a preference for schools in the area of another
LA, the order of preference for that LA’s schools will be given to that LA so that it can
determine the highest ranked preference in cases where a child is eligible for a place
at more than one school in that LA’s area.

8.

Where a school receives a supplementary information form it will not be regarded as
a valid application unless the parent has completed their home LA’s Common
Application Form and the school is nominated on it. This is in accordance with
paragraph 2.3 of the School Admissions Code.

9.

Where a Common Application Form has been completed, but not a supplementary
information form, the preference is still valid and will be considered. However,
parents will be advised in the “Admission to Kingston’s Secondary Schools” brochure
that not submitting a completed supplementary information form to schools which
require supplementary information to apply their admissions criteria, may reduce their
child’s chance of being offered a place because the school’s criteria cannot be fully
applied.

10. Kingston LA undertakes to carry out the address verification process set out in its
secondary school Admission brochure and in the Business User Guide and in
LIAAG’s Address Verification Register. This will, in all cases, include validation of
resident applicants in accordance with described processes, including this LA’s
primary school data and the further investigation of any discrepancy. Where this LA
is not satisfied with the validity of an applicant whose preference has been sent to a
maintaining LA, it will advise the maintaining LA no later than 12 December 2019.
11. Kingston LA will confirm the status of any resident child for whom it receives a
Common Application Form stating that he/she is a “Looked After Child” or previously
looked after child and will provide any requested evidence to the maintaining LA in
respect of a preference for a school in its area by 13 November 2019.
12. Kingston LA will advise a maintaining LA of the reason for any preference for a
school in its area, in respect of a resident child born outside of the correct age range
for the cohort, and forward any supporting documentation to the maintaining LA by
13 November 2019.
13. This LA will share the details of each application with own admission authority
schools within RBK to enable schools to apply their admissions criteria.
14. Schools which receive Common Application Forms in error must inform the LA and
send the forms to the LA as soon as possible. If the LA receives supplementary
information forms in error, it must send them to the schools as soon as possible.
12

F16

Annex 2
Processing
15. Applicants resident within Kingston LA must return the Common Application Form,
which will be available and able to be submitted online, to this LA by 31 October
2019. However this LA will publish information which encourages applicants to
submit their applications by 18 October 2019 (i.e. Friday before half term), to allow
sufficient time to process and check all applications before the mandatory date when
data must be sent to the PLR.
16. Supplementary information forms, where they apply, must be returned to the school
by the closing date, which must be specified on the supplementary information form.
17. Application data relating to all preferences to schools in participating LAs, which have
been expressed within the terms of this LA’s scheme, will be up-loaded to the PLR by
13 November 2019. Supplementary information forms provided with the Common
Application Form will be sent to the maintaining LA by the same date.
18. In consultation with the admission authorities within this LA’s area and within the
framework of the Pan-London timetable, the timetable attached has been drawn up
for the processing of application data and the application of admissions criteria. This
may be subject to alteration prior to the implementation of this scheme to reflect any
required change under Pan London arrangements.
19. Between 15 November and 22 November 2019, this LA will check the application
data received via the PLR and prepare details of applicants to be sent to own
admission authority schools by 25 November 2019.
20. This LA will participate in the data checking exercise to be scheduled between 16
December 2019 and 2 January 2020 in the Pan London timetable.
21. All preferences for schools within this LA will be considered and ranked by the
relevant admission authorities between 25 November 2019 and 9 January 2020 for
entry in September 2020.
22. By 13 January 2020, all admission authorities within RBK will have provided a list of
applicants in criteria order to this LA, and this LA will, for each applicant who has
qualified for more than one potential offer, use the highest ranked preference to
decide which single potential offer to make. (This is the “Equal Preference System”).
Late Applications
23.

This LA will only accept late applications and treat them as equivalent to
applications received by the closing date if the parent(s) move into The Royal
Borough of Kingston upon Thames after the closing date and can provide
documentary evidence confirming this or if there are exceptional reasons why the
application is late. Each late application will be considered separately and on its
own merits. Any such applications will need to be received by 12 December 2019,
to enable them to be considered alongside applications received earlier.

13

F17

Annex 2
24.

Where such applications contain preferences for schools in other LAs, this LA will
forward the details to maintaining LAs via the PLR as they are received. This LA will
accept late applications which are considered to be on time within the terms of the
home LA’s scheme.

25.

Where a parent moves from one participating Home LA to another after submitting
an on-time application under the terms of the former Home LA’s scheme, the new
Home LA will accept the applications as on time up to 12 December 2019, on the
basis that an on-time application already exists within the Pan London System.

26.

Where a parent moves within the borough and wishes to change their preferences
to include schools closer to their new home address, any such applications will
need to be received by 12 December 2019, to enable them to be considered
alongside applications received earlier.

27.

The latest date for the upload of late applications which are considered to be
on-time within the terms of the home LA’s scheme to the PLR is 13 December
2019.

28.

Any late applications received after 12 December 2019 but before 2 March 2020
will not be considered in the initial allocation round and will be considered after all
the on-time applications are processed.

Exchange of Offers Data via PLR
29.

This LA will carry out all reasonable checks to ensure that pupil rankings are
correctly held in its LAS for all maintained schools and academies in this LA’s area
before uploading data to the PLR.

30.

This LA will upload the highest potential offer (ALT File) available to an applicant for
a maintained school in this LA to the PLR by 3 February 2020. The PLR will
transmit the highest potential offer made by the maintaining LA to the Home LA.

31.

The local admissions system (LAS) of this LA, as the home LA for Kingston parents,
will eliminate all but the highest ranked offer where an applicant has more than one
potential offer across the maintaining LAs for whose school(s) he/she has applied
(provided that those LAs each submit this information within the deadline to the
PLR). This will involve exchanges of preference outcomes between the LAS and the
PLR (in accordance with the iterative timetable published in the BUG) which will
continue until a steady state is achieved (which the PLR will indicate), or until 14
February 2020 if this is sooner.

32.

Notwithstanding paragraph 31, if an error is identified within the allocation of places
at one of this LA’s schools/academies, this LA will attempt to manually resolve the
allocation to correct the error. Where this impacts on another LA (either as a home
or maintaining LA), this LA will liaise with that LA to attempt to resolve the correct
offer and any multiple offers which might occur. However, if another LA is unable to
resolve a multiple offer, or if the impact is too far reaching, this LA will accept that
the applicant(s) affected might receive a multiple offer.
14

F18

Annex 2
33.

This LA will participate in the offer data checking exercise scheduled between 17
and 24 February 2020 in the Pan London timetable.

34.

This LA will send a file to the E-Admissions portal with outcomes for all residents
who have applied online no later than 25 February 2020.

National Offer Day – 2 March 2020
35.

On 2 March 2020, this LA will send out by first class post, notification of the
outcome to resident applicants. This LA will inform all resident applicants of their
highest offer of a school place and where relevant, the reasons why higher
preferences were not offered, whether these were for schools in the home LA or in
other participating LAs.

36.

Kingston parents whose children do not qualify for a place at any of the schools
they apply for (in any LA) will be offered an alternative school on the national offer
day (2 March) if at all possible. This school will be the nearest non-selective school
to the home address with places remaining for boys and/or girls (as applicable).
Allocation will be made in accordance with the school’s admission criteria, or the
home to school distance criterion. These parents will also be offered the opportunity
to make late applications to schools to which they did not originally apply.

37.

Details of the pupils to be offered will be made available to each Kingston primary
and secondary school on 2 March 2020.

38.

All initial and subsequent offers will be made by the Home LA throughout the
coordinated admissions process and not by schools.

39.

This LA’s outcome letter will include the information set out in Schedule 2.

40.

This LA will provide primary schools with a final destination data of its resident
applicants before the end of the summer term 2020.

Post-offer Date Arrangements
41.

Parents must accept or decline the offer of a place by 16 March 2020, or within two
weeks of any subsequent offer. If they do not respond by this date, the LA will
make every reasonable effort to contact the parent to find out whether or not they
wish to accept or decline the place. Only where the parent fails to respond and the
LA can demonstrate that every reasonable effort has been made to contact the
parent, will the place be withdrawn.

42.

Where an applicant resident accepts or declines a place in a school maintained by
another LA by 16 March 2020, this LA will forward the information to the
maintaining LA by 23 March 2020. Where such information is received after 16
March 2020, this LA will pass it to the maintaining LA as and when it is received.

43.

Where a place becomes available in an oversubscribed maintained school or
academy in this LA’s area, it will be offered from the waiting list ordered in
accordance with paragraph 2.14 of the School Admissions Code by the Home
LA.
15

F19

Annex 2
44.

When acting as a maintaining LA, this LA will place an applicant resident in the area
of another LA, on a waiting list of any higher preference school. Where this is not
done automatically, it will be done immediately following a request from the home
LA.

45.

When acting as a maintaining LA, this LA will inform the home LA, where different,
of an offer for a maintained school or Academy in this LA’s area which can be made
to an applicant resident in the home LA’s area, in order that the home LA can offer
the place.

46.

Where a waiting list is maintained by an admission authority of a maintained school
or academy in this LA’s area, the admission authority will inform this LA of a
potential offer, in order that the offer may be made by the applicant’s home LA.

47.

When acting as a maintaining LA, this LA and the admission authorities within it will
not inform an applicant resident in another LA that a place can be offered.

48.

When acting as a home LA, this LA will offer a place at a maintained school or
Academy in the area of another LA to an applicant resident in its area, provided that
the school is ranked higher on the Common Application Form than any school
already offered.

49.

When acting as a home LA, when this LA is informed by a maintaining LA of an
offer which can be made to an applicant resident in this LA’s area which is ranked
lower on the Common Application Form than any school already offered, it will
inform the maintaining LA that the offer will not be made.

50.

When acting as a home LA, when this LA will accept a change of preference or
preference order, it will inform any maintaining LA affected by the change. In such
cases, paragraphs 43 and 44 shall apply to the revised order of preferences.

51.

When acting as a maintaining LA, this LA will inform the home LA, where different,
of any change to an applicant's offer status as soon as it occurs.

52.

When acting as a maintaining LA, this LA will accept a change of preferences or
preference order (including reinstated or additional preferences) from home LAs for
maintained schools and academies in its area.

53.

From 23 March 2020, this LA, when acting as a home LA, will re-offer any school
places that may have become vacant since original offers were made, in
accordance with the individual school’s admission criteria.

54.

This LA, when acting as a home LA, after preferences expressed in accordance
with paragraph 4 above have been determined, will allow applicants to express
additional preferences before the start of the school term.

Waiting List Arrangements
55.

The letter notifying parents of the outcome of their application will also inform them
that their child’s name will be automatically placed on the waiting list for higher
preference schools in Kingston than the one offered.

56.

Parents with a higher preference offer can request that their child’s name is added
to waiting lists for lower preference schools and his/her name will be added in
criteria order.
16

F20

Annex 2
57.

Waiting lists for community schools will be held in criteria order (regardless of when
an application is received) until the end of the academic year in July 2021. After this
date, community school waiting lists will be disbanded and parents will have to
request in writing to have their child’s name added to a waiting list for any
community school.

58.

For own admission authority schools and academies, waiting lists will be
maintained and places allocated, as they become available, in accordance with
each admission authority’s published admission arrangements. All offers will be
made to the applicant by the Home LA. Admissions authority schools must
not make direct offers to parents.

59.

Parents will be advised that if they want to go on the waiting list for an out borough
school they should contact their Home LA.

60.

Where a vacancy occurs and a place can be offered from the waiting list, this LA will
liaise with the admission authority for the school before advising the parent/carer or
Home LA of the offer.

61.

For residents of this borough, this LA will check for alternative offers and, if the child
has a multiple offer, will give parents two weeks to decide which offer they wish to
accept. (For non-residents, this LA will advise the home LA of any multiple offers).
The outcome will be shared with each affected school and/or LA as appropriate.

62.

Applications received after 2 March 2020, will be added to community school
waiting lists or passed on to the relevant admissions authority as appropriate.

63.

All further offers from the waiting list will be made by the Home LA after Kingston
School Admissions has communicated with the Kingston school to confirm the next
child on the waiting list to be offered a place.

In Year Admissions
64.

In-Year admissions i.e. the admission of children after the normal age of admission
to a school, will be administered in accordance with the agreed In-Year Admissions
scheme and the Pan London Protocols. For over-subscribed year groups waiting
lists will be maintained according to the published admissions criteria for the
academy/school.

17

F21

Annex 2
SCHEDULE 1
KINGSTON COORDINATED SECONDARY ADMISSION ARRANGEMENTS FOR
SEPTEMBER 2020 ENTRY
Date

Action

2019
June

Publicity for Year 5 parents

June – 31 August
September

Exchange data on out-borough resident Year 5 pupils in LA
maintained schools
Start of Open Evenings for RBK secondary schools

31 October

Closing date for applications

13 November

Deadline for ADT files to PLR

15 – 21
November
22 November

LA to check ADT data before passing onto academies/admission
authority schools
Application data passed to academies/admission authority schools

22 Nov 2019 –
10 Jan 2020
12 December

Admission authorities process applications against admissions
criteria for Community Schools
Final date for receipt of “on-time” applications

13 December

Deadline for upload of files to PLR

13 Dec 2019 – 2
January 2020
2020

Checking of applicant data

10 January

16 March

Ranked lists containing all applicants received by LA from
academies
Sending/receiving of potential offers via PLR to out of borough LAs
to identify single offer
Final ALT file to PLR
Checking of offer data
Deadline for online ALT file to portal
Send outcomes of applications to resident parents/guardians and
inform RBK schools of final offers
Return of reply slips

23 March

Deadline for transfer of acceptances/declines to maintaining LAs

31 Jan – 14 Feb
14 February
17 – 24 February
25 February
2 March

18

F22

Annex 2
SCHEDULE 2
This LA’s Common Application Form will contain the following data fields as a minimum:
Child’s details:
Surname
First name
Middle name
Date of Birth
Gender
Home address
Name of current primary school
Address of primary school (if outside Home LA)
Parent/Carer details:
Title
Surname
First name/initials
Address (if different to child’s address)
Telephone Number (Home, Daytime, Mobile)
Email address
Relationship to child
Details of each school given as a preference (up to a maximum of six):
Name of secondary school
Address of secondary school
Preference ranking
Local Authority in which school is based
DE Number of secondary school
Additional information:
● Reasons for preferences (including any particular family, social or medical needs)
● Does the applicant have a Statement of Special Educational Needs?
● Is the applicant a child in public care?
If yes, name of local authority responsible for the child
● If the applicant has sibling(s), name of school sibling(s) attend
● Surname of Sibling
● Forename of Sibling
● DOB of Sibling
● Name of school sibling attends
Other
● Signature of parent or guardian
● Date of signature
● Where a school for which the applicant has applied requires further information to apply its
admission criteria, parents are advised to complete such supplementary information forms.

19

F23

Annex 2
PAN-LONDON CO ORDINATED ADMISSIONS SCHEME
SCHEDULE 2
Template Outcome Letter for Admissions to Year 7 and Reception in 2020/2021

From: Home LA
Date: 2 March 2020 (sec)
16 April 2020 (prim)
Dear Parent,
Application for a Secondary / Primary School
I am writing to let you know the outcome of your application for a secondary/primary
school. Your child has been offered a place at X School. The school will write to you with
further details.
I am sorry that it was not possible for your child to be offered a place at any of the schools
which you listed as a higher preference on your application form. For each of these
schools there were more applications than places, and other applicants has a higher
priority than your child under the school’s published admission criteria.
Offers which could have been made for any schools which you placed lower in your
preference list, were automatically withdrawn under the co-ordinated admission
arrangements, as a higher preference has been offered.
If you would like more information about the reason that your child was not offered a place
at any higher preference school, you should contact the admission authority that is
responsible for admissions to the school within the next few days. Details of the different
admission authorities for schools in the borough of X are attached to this letter. If the
school is outside the borough of X, the admission authority will either be the borough in
which the school is situated, or the school itself.
You have the right of appeal under the School Standards & Framework Act 1998 against
the refusal of a place at any of the schools for which you have applied. If you wish to
appeal, you must contact the admission authority for the school within the next few days to
obtain the procedure and the date by which an appeal must be received by them.
Please confirm that you wish to accept the place at X School by completing the reply slip
below. If you do not wish to accept the place, you will need to let me know what alternative
arrangements you are making for your child’s education.
You must contact this office if you wish to apply for any other school, either in this borough
or elsewhere.
[You can also request that your child’s name is placed on the waiting list for a school which
was a higher preference on your application form than the school you have been offered. If
20

F24

Annex 2
the school is in this borough, you can use the enclosed reply slip and return it to this office.
If the school is in another borough, you will need to contact the school or the borough
concerned.]
(The above paragraph can be omitted if the LA automatically places children on a waiting
list for higher preference schools, but the letter should confirm that this has been done.)
Please return the reply slip to me by 16 March 2020 (sec)/30 April 2020 (prim). If you
have any questions about this letter, please contact me on __________________.
Yours sincerely
(First preference offer letters should include the paragraphs in italics only)

21

F25

Annex 3

THE ROYAL BOROUGH OF KINGSTON UPON THAMES
SCHEME FOR COORDINATED PRIMARY SCHOOL ADMISSIONS
FOR SEPTEMBER 2020 ENTRY
The Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames Local Authority (LA) will be administering
admissions to primary schools in accordance with the Pan London Coordinated
Admissions scheme. This scheme has been adopted by all participating London boroughs
that have agreed to use a common scheme that incorporates a common timetable and
application forms which have common elements. Parents will be allowed to nominate up to
six schools in preference order. It is hoped that the commonality of the schemes adopted
by all participating authorities will help simplify the application procedure and processing,
and help to achieve some equity of treatment for applicants to primary/academies across
the London Region.
Glossary of terms in the scheme
“the Application Year”

the academic year in which the parent makes an application i.e.
in relation to the academic year of entry, the year preceding it
“the Board”
the Pan London Admissions Executive Board, which is
responsible for the Scheme
“the BUG – Business
the document issued to participating LAs setting out the
User Guide”
operational procedures of the Scheme
“the Common
this is the form that each LA must have under the Regulations
Application Form”
for parents to use to make their applications, set out in rank
order
“the London
the common online application system used by the 33 London
E-Admissions Portal”
LAs and Surrey County Council
“the Equal Preference the model whereby all preferences listed by parents on the
System”
Common Application Form are considered under the
over-subscription criteria for each school without reference to
parental rankings. Where a pupil is offered a place at more than
one school within an LA, the rankings are used to determine the
single offer by selecting the one ranked highest of those which
can offer a place
“the Home LA”
the LA in which the applicant/parent/carer is resident
“the LIAAG Address
the document containing the address verification policy of each
Verification Register”
participating LA
“the Local Admission
the IT module for administering admissions in each LA and for
System (LAS)”
determining the highest offer both within and between
participating LAs
“the London
the common online application system used by the 33 London
E-Admissions Portal”
LAs and Surrey County Council
“the Maintaining LA”
the LA which maintains a school to which an
applicant/parent/carer has applied
“the Notification Letter” the agreed form of letter sent to applicants which communicates
decisions granting or refusing admission to a primary school,
which is attached as Schedule 2
“the Prescribed Day”
16 April in the year following the relevant determination year
the day on which
except that, in any year in which that day is not a working day,
outcome letters are
the prescribed day shall be the next working day

F26

posted to
parents/carers.
“the Pan-London
Register (PLR)”
“the Pan-London
Timetable”
“the Qualifying
Scheme”

the database which will transmit application and offer data
between each LA’s local admission system
the framework for processing of application data
the scheme which each LA is required to formulate in
accordance with the School Admissions (Coordination of
Admission Arrangements) Regulations 2008 for
coordinating arrangements for the admission of pupils to
maintained primary schools and academies

Applications
1.

Applications from Kingston’s residents will be made on Kingston’s Common
Application Form, which will be available online and in paper form. This will include all
the fields and information specified in Schedule 2 (attached) to this LA Scheme.
These will be supplemented by any additional fields and information deemed
necessary by this LA.

2.

This LA will take reasonable steps to ensure that information about applying for a
primary school and the primary admissions brochure will be available through primary
schools, libraries, pre-school groups; and will include information on how
parents/carers can access their home LA’s Common Application Form.

3.

The admission authorities within this LA will not use supplementary information forms
except where the information is required to apply the published over-subscription
criteria and the information available through the Common Application Form is not
sufficient for consideration of the application against a school’s published admissions
criteria. The LA will seek to ensure admission authorities within its area only collect
information that is required by the published over-subscription criteria, in accordance
with paragraph 2.4 of the School Admissions Code 2014.

4.

Where supplementary information forms are used, these will be made available from
the relevant primary school. Parents will be advised in the brochure which
schools/academies require these forms to be completed, where to obtain the forms
and to return the supplementary information forms direct to the school by the closing
date. The supplementary information forms must also advise parents that they must
also complete their home LA’s Common Application Form, in accordance with the
School Admissions Code.

5.

Where a school receives a supplementary information form it will not be regarded as
a valid application unless the parent has completed their home LA’s Common
Application Form and the school is nominated on it. This is in accordance with the
School Admissions Code.

6.

Schools which receive Common Application Forms in error must inform the LA and
send the forms to the LA as soon as possible. If the LA receives supplementary
information forms in error, it must send them to the schools as soon as possible.
23

F27

7.

Applicants will be able to express a preference for up to six maintained primary
schools or academies within and/or outside the home LA. Applicants will be advised
that they will receive no more than one offer of a school place on 16 April 2020.

8.

The order of preference given on the Common Application Form will not be revealed
except where a parent resident in this LA expresses a preference for schools in the
area of another LA, the order of preference for that LA’s schools/academies will be
given to that LA so that it can determine the highest ranked preference in cases
where a child is eligible for a place at more than one school in that LA’s area.

9.

Where a Common Application Form has been completed, but not a supplementary
information form, the preference is still valid and will be considered. However,
parents will be advised in the Primary Admissions brochure that not submitting a
completed supplementary information form to schools/academies which require
supplementary information to apply their admissions criteria, may reduce their child’s
chance of being offered a place because the school’s criteria cannot be fully applied.

10. Kingston LA undertakes to carry out the address verification process set out in its
primary school admissions brochure and its entry in the Pan London and LIAAG
Business User Guide. This will, in all cases, include validation of addresses in
accordance with described processes and investigation of any discrepancy. Where
this LA is not satisfied with the validity of an applicant whose preference has been
sent to a maintaining LA, it will advise the maintaining LA no later than 11 February
2020.
11. Kingston LA will confirm the status of any resident child for whom it receives a
Common Application Form stating that he/she is a “Looked After Child” and will
provide evidence to the maintaining LA in respect of a preference for a school in its
area by 5 February 2020.
12. Kingston LA will advise a maintaining LA of the reason for any preference for a
school in its area, in respect of a resident child born outside of the correct age range
for the cohort, and forward any supporting documentation to the maintaining LA by 5
February 2020.
13. This LA will share the details of each application with own admission authority
schools within RBK to enable schools to apply their admissions criteria.
Processing (including Late Applications)
14. Applicants resident within Kingston LA must return the Common Application Form,
which will be available and able to be submitted online, to this LA by the closing date
of 15 January 2020. Supplementary information forms, where they apply, must be
returned to the school by the closing date of 15 January 2020, which must be
specified on the supplementary information form.
15. Application data relating to preferences for schools/academies in other participating
LAs, which have been expressed within the terms of this LA’s scheme, will be
up-loaded to the PLR by 5 February 2020. Supplementary information forms
provided with the Common Application Form will be sent to the maintaining LA by the
same date.
24

F28

16. This LA will participate in the checking of applicant data between 12 February and
26 February 2020 in the Pan London timetable.
17. This LA will only accept late applications and treat them as equivalent to applications
received by the closing date if the parent(s) move into The Royal Borough of
Kingston upon Thames after the closing date and can provide documentary evidence
confirming this or if there are exceptional reasons why the application is late. Each
late application will be considered separately and on its own merits. Any such
applications will need to be received by 7 February 2020, to enable them to be
considered alongside applications received earlier.
18. Where such applications contain preferences for schools/academies in other LAs,
this LA will forward the details to maintaining LAs via the PLR as they are received.
This LA will accept late applications which are considered to be on time within the
terms of the home LA’s scheme and pass them on to RBK schools/academies for
ranking as on time applications.
19. Where a parent moves from one participating home LA to another after submitting an
on-time application under the terms of the former home LA’s scheme, the new home
LA will accept the applications as on time up to 10 February 2020 on the basis that
an on-time application already exists within the Pan London System.
20. Where a parent moves within the borough and wishes to change their preferences to
include schools/academies closer to their new home address, any such applications
will need to be received by 10 February 2020, to enable them to be considered
alongside applications received earlier.
21. The latest date for the upload to the PLR of late applications which are considered
to be on-time within the terms of the home LA’s scheme, is 10 February 2020.
22. Any late applications received after 10 February 2020 but before 16 April 2020 will
not be considered in the initial allocation round and will be considered after all the
on-time applications are processed.
23. In consultation with the school admission authorities within Kingston LA’s area and
within the framework of the Pan-London timetable, the draft timetable attached has
been drawn up for the processing of application data and the application of
admissions criteria. This may be subject to alteration prior to the implementation of
this scheme to reflect any required change under Pan London arrangements.
24. Between 12 and 26 February 2020, this LA will check applicant data received via the
PLR and prepare details of applicants to be sent to own admission authority
schools/academies by 27 February 2020.
25. All preferences for schools/academies within this LA will be considered by the
relevant admission authorities between 27 February and 6 March 2020 for entry in
September 2020.
26. By 9 March 2020, all admission authorities within the Royal Borough of Kingston
upon Thames will have provided a list of applicants in criteria order to this LA and this
25

F29

LA shall, for each applicant who has qualified for more than one potential offer, use
the highest ranked preference to decide which single potential offer to make (this is
the “Equal Preference System”).
27. Between 10 March 2020 and 16 March 2020, this LA will carry out all reasonable
checks to ensure that pupil rankings are correctly held in its LAS (local admissions
system) before uploading data to the PLR.
28. This LA will upload the highest potential offer (ALT File) available to an applicant for a
maintained school in this LA to the PLR by 20 March 2020. The PLR will transmit the
highest potential offer made by the maintaining LA to the Home LA.
29. The local admissions system (LAS) of this LA, as the home LA for Kingston parents,
will eliminate all but the highest ranked offer where an applicant has more than one
potential offer across the maintaining LAs for whose school(s) he/she has applied
(provided that those LAs each submit this information within the deadline to the PLR).
This will involve exchanges of preference outcomes between the LAS and the PLR
(in accordance with the iterative timetable published in the BUG) which will continue
until a steady state is achieved (which the PLR will indicate), or until 27 March 2020
if this is sooner.
30. Kingston LA will not make an additional offer between the end of the iterative process
and 16 April 2020, which may impact on an offer being made by another
participating LA.
31. Notwithstanding paragraph 31, if an error is identified within the allocation of places
at one of this LA’s schools/academies, this LA will attempt to manually resolve the
allocation to correct the error. Where this impacts on another LA (either as a home or
maintaining LA), this LA will liaise with that LA to attempt to resolve the correct offer
and any multiple offers which might occur. However, if another LA is unable to
resolve a multiple offer, or if the impact is too far reaching, this LA will accept that the
applicant(s) affected might receive a multiple offer.
32. This LA will participate in the offer data checking exercise scheduled between 30
March 2020 and 9 April 2020 in the Pan London timetable.
33. This LA will send a file to the E-Admissions portal with outcomes for all residents who
have applied online no later than 14 April 2020.
Offers
34. On 16 April 2020, this LA will send out by first class post notification of the outcome
to resident applicants. This LA will inform all resident applicants of their highest offer
of a school place and where relevant, the reasons why higher preferences were not
offered, whether these were for schools/academies in the home LA or in other
participating LAs.
35. Kingston LA’s outcome letter will include the information set out in Schedule 2

26

F30

36. Kingston parents whose children do not qualify for a place at any of the
schools/academies they apply for (in any LA) will be offered an alternative school on
16 April 2020, if at all possible. This school will be the nearest school to the home
address with places remaining. Allocation will be made in accordance with the
school’s admission criteria or based on home to school distance. These parents will
also be offered the opportunity to make late applications to schools/academies to
which they did not originally apply.
37. Details of the pupils to be offered will be made available to each Kingston primary
school by 16 April 2020. All initial and subsequent offers will be made by the
Home LA throughout the coordinated admissions process and not by schools.
Post-offer Arrangements
38. Parents must accept or decline the offer of a place by 30 April 2020, or within two
weeks of any subsequent offer. If they do not respond by this date, the LA will make
every reasonable effort to contact the parent to find out whether or not they wish to
accept or decline the place. Only where the parent fails to respond and the LA can
demonstrate that every reasonable effort has been made to contact the parent, will
the place be withdrawn.
39. Where an applicant resident accepts or declines a place in a school maintained by
another LA by 30 April 2020, this LA will forward the information to the maintaining
LA by 7 May 2020. Where such information is received after 30 April 2020, this LA
will pass it to the maintaining LA as and when it is received.
40. When acting as a maintaining LA, this LA will place an applicant resident in the area
of another LA, on a waiting list of any higher preference school. Where this is not
done automatically, it will be done immediately following a request from the home LA.
41. Where a place becomes available in an oversubscribed maintained school or
academy in this LA’s area, it will be offered from a waiting list ordered in accordance
with paragraph 2.14 of the School Admissions Code 2014 by the Home LA.
42. When acting as a maintaining LA, this LA will inform the home LA, where different, of
an offer for a maintained school or Academy in this LA’s area which can be made to
an applicant resident in the home LA’s area, in order that the home LA can offer the
place.
43. Where a waiting list is maintained by an admission authority of a maintained school
or academy in this LA’s area, the admission authority will inform this LA of a potential
offer, in order that the offer may be made by the applicant’s home LA.
44. When acting as a maintaining LA, this LA and the admission authorities within it will
not inform an applicant resident in another LA that a place can be offered.
45. When acting as a home LA, this LA will offer a place at a maintained school or an
academy in the area of another LA to an applicant resident in its area, provided that
the school is ranked higher on the Common Application Form than any school
already offered.
27

F31

46. When acting as a home LA, when this LA is informed by a maintaining LA of an offer
which can be made to an applicant resident in this LA’s area which is ranked lower
on the Common Application Form than any school already offered, it will inform the
maintaining LA that the offer will not be made.
47. When acting as a home LA, when this LA has agreed to a change of preferences or
preference order, it will inform any maintaining LA affected by the change. In such
cases, paragraphs 44 and 45 shall apply to the revised order of preferences.
48. When acting as a maintaining LA, this LA will inform the home LA, where different, of
any change to an applicant's offer status as soon as it occurs.
49. When acting as a maintaining LA, this LA will accept new applications (including
additional preferences) from home LAs for maintained schools/academies in its area.
50. From 11 May 2020, this LA, when acting as a home LA, will re-offer any Kingston
school places that may have become vacant since original offers were made, in
accordance with the individual school’s admission criteria.
51. This LA, when acting as a home LA, after preferences expressed in accordance with
paragraph 7 above have been determined, will allow applicants to express additional
preferences before the start of the school term.
Waiting List Arrangements
52. The letter, notifying parents of the outcome of their application, will also inform them
that their child’s name will be automatically placed on the waiting list for higher
preference schools/academies in Kingston than the one offered.
53. Parents with a higher preference offer can request that their child’s name is added to
waiting lists for lower preference schools/academies and his/her name will be added
in criteria order.
54. Waiting lists for community schools will be held in criteria order (regardless of when
an application is received) until the end of the academic year in July 2021. After this
date, all waiting lists will be disbanded and parents will have to request in writing to
have their child’s name added to a waiting list for any community school.
55. For own admission authority schools and academies, waiting lists will be maintained
and places allocated, as they become available, in accordance with each admission
authority’s published admission arrangements. All offers will be made to the
applicant by the Home LA. Admissions authority schools must not make direct
offers to parents.
56. Parents will be advised that if they want to go on the waiting list for an out-borough
school they should contact their Home LA.
57. Where a vacancy occurs and a place can be offered from the waiting list, this LA will
liaise with the admission authority for the offering school before advising the
parent/carer or Home LA of the offer.
28

F32

58. For residents of this borough, this LA will check for alternative offers and, if the child
has a multiple offer, will give parents two weeks to decide which offer they wish to
accept. (For non-residents, this LA will advise the home LA of any multiple offers).
The outcome will be shared with each affected school and/or LA as appropriate.
59. Applications received after 16 April 2020, will be added to community school waiting
lists or passed on to the relevant admissions authority as appropriate.
60. All further offers from the waiting list will be made by the Home LA after Kingston
School Admissions has communicated with the Kingston school to confirm the next
child on the waiting list to be offered a place.
In-Year Admissions
61. In-Year admissions (overage admissions), i.e. the admission of children after the
normal age of admission to a school, will be administered in accordance with the
agreed In Year Scheme and the Pan London Protocols. For over-subscribed year
groups waiting lists will be maintained according to the published admissions criteria
for the school.

29

F33

SCHEDULE 1
KINGSTON COORDINATED PRIMARY ADMISSIONS 2020 TIMETABLE
DATE

ACTION

2020
15 January

Statutory deadline for receipt of applications

5 February
7 February

Deadline for transfer of application data by Home LA to
PLR
Final date for receipt of “on-time” applications

10 February

Deadline for upload of files to PLR

12 – 26 February

Check final on time data

27 February

11 - 17 March

Pass application data to VA/Foundation schools/academies
for ranking
VA/Foundation schools/academies process applications
against admissions criteria
Ranked lists containing all applicants received by LA from
VA/Foundation schools/academies
LA – input and check ranked lists into admission system

20 March

Deadline for the transfer of the ALT file to PLR

21 – 26 March
26 March

Sending/receiving of potential offers and declines via PLR
to out of borough LAs to identify single offer
Final ALT file to PLR

27 March – 9 April

LA checking of offers and declines data

14 April

Deadline for the transfer of outcomes of online applications
to the E-Admissions portal (ALT file)
Send outcomes of applications to resident
parents/guardians and inform RBK schools/academies of
final offers
Deadline for receipt of acceptances and refusals

27 Feb – 6 March
9 March

16 April

30 April
7 May

Deadline for transfer of acceptances/declines to RBK
schools/academies and maintaining LAs

30

F34

SCHEDULE 2
PAN-LONDON CO ORDINATED ADMISSIONS SCHEME
This LA’s Common Application Form will contain the following data fields as a minimum:
Child’s details:
Surname
First name
Middle name
Date of Birth
Gender
Home address
Name of current school
Address of current school
Parent/carer details:
Title
Surname
First name/initials
Address (if different to child’s address)
Telephone Number (Home, Daytime, Mobile)
Email address
Relationship to child
Preference details (x 6):
Name of school
Address of school
Preference ranking
Local authority in which the school is based
Additional information:
Reasons for Preferences (including any medical or social reasons)
Does the child have a statement of SEN? Y/N*
Is the child a ‘Child Looked After’? Y/N
If yes, name of responsible local authority
Surname of sibling
Forename of sibling
DOB of sibling
Name of school sibling attends
Other:
Signature of parent or guardian
Date of signature
Where a school for which the applicant has applied requires further information to apply its
admission criteria, parents are advised to complete such supplementary information forms.

31

F35

PAN-LONDON CO ORDINATED ADMISSIONS SCHEME
SCHEDULE 2
Template Outcome Letter for Admissions to Year 7 and Reception in 2020/2021

From: Home LA
Date: 2 March 2020 (sec)
16 April 2020 (prim)
Dear Parent,
Application for a Secondary / Primary School
I am writing to let you know the outcome of your application for a secondary/primary
school. Your child has been offered a place at X School. The school will write to you with
further details.
I am sorry that it was not possible for your child to be offered a place at any of the schools
which you listed as a higher preference on your application form. For each of these
schools there were more applications than places, and other applicants has a higher
priority than your child under the school’s published admission criteria.
Offers which could have been made for any schools which you placed lower in your
preference list, were automatically withdrawn under the coordinated admission
arrangements, as a higher preference has been offered.
If you would like more information about the reason that your child was not offered a place
at any higher preference school, you should contact the admission authority that is
responsible for admissions to the school within the next few days. Details of the different
admission authorities for schools in the borough of X are attached to this letter. If the
school is outside the borough of X, the admission authority will either be the borough in
which the school is situated, or the school itself.
You have the right of appeal under the School Standards & Framework Act 1998 against
the refusal of a place at any of the schools for which you have applied. If you wish to
appeal, you must contact the admission authority for the school within the next few days to
obtain the procedure and the date by which an appeal must be received by them.
Please confirm that you wish to accept the place at X School by completing the reply slip
below. If you do not wish to accept the place, you will need to let me know what alternative
arrangements you are making for your child’s education.
You must contact this office if you wish to apply for any other school, either in this borough
or elsewhere.
[You can also request that your child’s name is placed on the waiting list for a school which
was a higher preference on your application form than the school you have been offered. If
the school is in this borough, you can use the enclosed reply slip and return it to this office.
32

F36

If the school is in another borough, you will need to contact the school or the borough
concerned.]
(The above paragraph can be omitted if the LA automatically places children on a waiting
list for higher preference schools, but the letter should confirm that this has been done).
Please return the reply slip to me by 16 March 2020 (sec)/30 April 2020 (prim). If you
have any questions about this letter, please contact me on __________________.
Yours sincerely
(First preference offer letters should include the paragraphs in italics only)

33

F37

Annex 4
THE ROYAL BOROUGH OF KINGSTON UPON THAMES
SCHEME FOR IN-YEAR ADMISSIONS
FOR THE 2020/2021 SCHOOL YEAR
1. All in-year applications for a maintained school or academy within the Royal Borough
of Kingston upon Thames must be made to Kingston LA on the LA’s in-year
application form on which applicants can list up to four schools in order of preference.
Any form received by a maintained school or academy must be forwarded to the LA for
processing.
2. Following recording and verification, Kingston LA will immediately share the application
with the relevant admission authorities via SAM. This will include a completed Pupil
Information Form (PIF) where relevant.
3. Applicants will be advised to complete a supplementary information form if required, to
enable an admission authority to apply its published oversubscription criteria.
4. If a Kingston school receives a supplementary information form, it will first confirm with
Kingston LA that the school has been named on a completed in-year application form.
5. Where parents/carers have provided reasons for a preference school, the information
will be forwarded to the admission authority, via SAM.
6. Where parents/carers have provided additional documents in support of their
application i.e. exceptional reasons, this will be forwarded to the admission authority
via a secure document exchange.
7. Each admission authority will consider and rank an application as necessary and will
inform Kingston LA of the outcome of the application, and the applicant of the offer or
refusal.
8. Via SAM, each admission authority can view all the applications received for its school,
including discarded preferences where a higher preference offer has been made at
another school. This will keep each school informed of the total number of applications
it has received.
9. Kingston LA will advise parents/carers that their child’s name will be placed on the
waiting list for higher preference Kingston schools than the one offered.
10. If a place cannot be offered at a school, the admission authority must advise the
applicant of their right of appeal, how to obtain appeal documentation and waiting list
arrangements and testing arrangements at selective schools as appropriate.
11. Schools must keep the LA advised of all application outcomes and vacancies as they
occur so that the LA is able to keep abreast of availability of places. This is in
accordance with paragraph 2.22 of the School Admissions Code.
12. Where an applicant lives outside the borough, Kingston LA will advise the home LA of
the application and outcome only where the offer of a place is made and accepted by
the parent; a parent of a child not in education declines an offer of a place; a parent of
a child not in education is unsuccessful with their application. This information
exchange will enable local authorities and schools to work together to safeguard
children and identify children missing education (CME).

